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INTRODUCTION

Tue contents of Columbus’s Journal of his first voyage were
first made known to the public in the epitome incorporated in
Ferdinand Columbus’s life of the Admiral, which has come
down to us only in the Italian translation of Alfonso Ulloa,
the Historie del S. D. Fernando Colombo nelle quali s’ha par-
ticolare e vera relazione della vita e de’ fatte dell Ammaraglio
D. Christoforo Colombo suo padre, etc. (Venice, 1571). This
account is accessible in English in Churchill’s Veyages, Vol. 11,
and in Pinkerton’s Voyages, Vol. XII.

Another epitome was prepared by Bartolomé de Las Casas
and inserted in his Hustoria de las Indias. This account was
embodied in the main by Antonio de Herrera in his Hustoria
General de las Indias Occidentales (Madrid, 1601). It is ac-
cessible in English in John Stevens’s translation of Herrera
(London, 1725-1726).

These independent epitomes of the original were supple-
mented in 1825 by the publication by the Spanish archivist
Martin Fernandez de Navarrete in his Coleccion de los Viages
y Descubrimientos que hicieron por mar los Espanioles desde fines
del siglo XV. of a considerably more detailed narrative (like-
wise independently abridged from the original) which existed
in two copies in the archives of the Duke del Infantado. Na-
varrete says that the handwriting of the older copy is that of
Las Casas and that Las Casas had written some explanatory
notes in the margin. This longer narrative, here reprinted,
was first translated by Samuel Kettell of Boston and pub-

lished in 1827 under the title Personal Narrative of the First
87



88 - VOYAGES OF COLUMBUS

Voyage of Columbus. The next translation was that of Clem-
ents R. Markham for the Hakluyt Society in 1893. A third
and very exact rendering appeared in 1903 in John Boyd
Thacher’s Christopher Columbus, Vol. 1.

The translation given here is that of Sir Clements R.
Markham with some slight revisions. When we recall the very
scanty and fragmentary knowledge which we have of the
Cabot voyages, and how few in fact of the great discoverers
of this era left personal narratives of their achievements, we
realize our singular good fortune in possessing so full a daily
record from the hand of Columbus himself which admits us
as it were “ into the very presence of the Admiral to share his
thoughts and impressions as the strange panorama of his ex-
periences unfolded before him.” * Sir Clements R. Markham
declares the Journal ‘‘the most important document in the
whole range of the history of geographical discovery, because
it is a record of the enterprise which changed the whole face,
not only of that history, but of the history of mankind.” ?

Epwarp G. BourNE.

! Bourne, Spain in America, p. 22.
2 Journal of Christopher Columbus, p. viil.






JOURNAL OF THE FIRST VOYAGE OF
COLUMBUS

This 1is the first voyage and the routes and direction taken by the
Admiral Don Cristébal Colon when he discovered the Indies,
summarized; except the prologue made for the Sovereigns,
which 1s given word for word and commences in this manner

In the name of our Lord Jesus Christ

Brcausge, O most Christian, and very high, very excellent,
and puissant Princes, King and Queen of the Spains and of
the islands of the Sea, our Lords, in this present year of 1492,
after your Highnesses had given an end to the war with the
Moors who reigned in Europe, and had finished it in the very
great city of Granada, where in this present year, on the second
day of the month of January, by force of arms, I saw the
royal banners of your Highnesses placed on the towers of
Alfambra,® which is the fortress of that city, and I saw the
Moorish King come forth from the gates of the city and kiss
the royal hands of your Highnesses, and of the Prince my
Lord, and presently in that same month, acting on the infor-
mation that I had given to your Highnesses touching the lands
of India, and respecting a Prince who is called Gran Can,
which means in our language King of Kings, how he and his
ancestors had sent to Rome many times to ask for learned
men ? of our holy faith to teach him, and how the Holy Father

! The Alhambra.

2 This information Columbus is ordinarily supposed to have derived from
Toscanelli’s letter which may be found in Fiske, Discovery of America, 1. 356 ff.
and II. App. The original source of the information, however, is Marco

" Polo, and Columbus summarized the passage on the margin in his eopy of

Marco Polo, Lib. 1., ch. 1v., as follows: “ Magnus Kam misit legatos ad

pontificem :” Raccolta Colombiana, Part 1, Tomo 2, p.446. That he read
89



90 VOYAGES OF COLUMBUS [1492

had never complied, insomuch that many people believing in
idolatries were lost by receiving doctrine of perdition: YOUR
Hicanesses, as Catholic Christians and Princes who love the
holy Christian faith, and the propagation of it, and who are
enemies to the sect of Mahoma and to all idolatries and here-
sies, resolved to send me, Cristébal Colon, to the said parts
of India to see the said princes, and the cities and lands, and
their disposition, with a view that they might be converted to
our holy faith;* and ordered that I should not go by land to
the eastward, as had been customary, but that I should go by
way of the west, whither up to this day, we do not know for
certain that any one has gone.

Thus, after having turned out all the Jews from all your
kingdoms and lordships, in the same month of January,® your
Highnesses gave orders to me that with a sufficient fleet I
should go to the said parts of India, and for this they made
great concessions to me, and ennobled me, so that hencefor-
ward I should be called Don, and should be Chief Admiral of
the Ocean Sea, perpetual Viceroy and Governor of all the
islands and continents that I should discover and gain, and
that I might hereafter discover and gain in the Ocean Sea,
and that my eldest son should succeed, and so on from genera-
tion to generation for ever. '

I left the city of Granada on the 12th day of May,in the same
year of 1492, being Saturday, and came to the town of Palos,
which is a seaport; where I equipped three vessels well suited
for such service; and departed from that port, well supplied
with provisions and with many sailors, on the 3d day of August
of the same year, being Friday, half an hour before sunrise,

and annotated these passages before 1492 seems most probable. See
Bourne, Spain in America, pp. 10-15, and Vignaud, Toscanell and Colum-
bus, p. 284.

1 Tt is interesting to notice the emphasis of the missionary motive in this
preamble. Nothing is said in regard to the search for a new route to the
Indies for commercial reasons. Nor is reference made to the expectation
of new discoveries which is prominent in the royal patent granted to Colum-
bus, see above p. 78.

? The edict of expulsion bears the date of March 30.
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taking the route to the islands of Canaria, belonging to your
Highnesses, which are in the said Ocean Sea, that I might
thence take my departure for navigating until I should arrive
at the Indies, and give the letters of your Highnesses to those
princes, so as to comply with my orders. As part of my duty
I thought it well to write an account of all the voyage very
punctually, noting from day to day all that I should do and
see, and that should happen, as will be seen further on. Also,
Lords Princes, I resolved to describe each night what passed
in the day, and to note each day how I navigated at night.
I propose to construct a new chart for navigating, on which
I shall delineate all the sea and lands of the Ocean in their
proper positions under their bearings; and further, I propose
to prepare a book, and to put down all as it were in a picture,
by latitude from the equator, and western longitude. Above
all, T shall have accomplished much, for I shall forget sleep,
and shall work at the business of navigation, that so the ser-
vice may be performed; all which will entail great labor,

Friday, 3d of August

We departed on Friday, the 3d of August, in the year 1492,
from the bar of Saltes, at 8 o’clock, and proceeded with a
strong sea breeze until sunset, towards the south, for 60 miles,
equal to 15 leagues;' afterwards S.W. and W.S.W., which
was the course for the Canaries.

Saturday, 4th of August
They steered S.W. £ S.

Sunday, 5th of August

They continued their course day and night more than 40
leagues.

! Columbus reckoned in Italian miles, four of which make a league.
(Navarrete.)
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Monday, 6th of August

The rudder of the caravel Pinta became unshipped, and
Martin Alonso Pinzon, who was in command, believed or sus-
pected that it was by contrivance of Gomes Rascon and
Cristébal Quintero, to whom the caravel belonged, for they
dreaded to go on that voyage. The Admiral says that, before
they sailed, these men had been displaying a certain back-
wardness, so to speak. The Admiral was much disturbed at
not being able to help the said caravel without danger, and
he says that he was eased of some anxiety when he reflected
that Martin Alonso Pinzon was a man of energy and ingenuity.
They made, during the day and night, 29 leagues.

Tuesday, 7th of August

The rudder of the Pinla was shipped and secured, and they
proceeded on a course for the island of Lanzarote, one of the
Canaries. They made, during the day and night, 25 leagues.

Wednesday, 8th of August

Opinions respecting their position varied among the pilots
of the three caravels; but that of the Admiral proved to be
nearer the truth. He wished to go to Gran Canaria, to leave
the caravel Pinta, because she was disabled by the faulty hang-
ing of her rudder, and was making water. He intended to
obtain another there if one could be found. They could not
reach the place that day.

Thursday, 9th of August

The Admiral was not able to reach Gomera until the night
of Sunday, while Martin Alonso remained on that coast of
Gran Canaria by order of the Admiral, because his vessel could
not be navigated. Afterwards the Admiral took her to
Canaria, and they repaired the Pinte very thoroughly through
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the pains and labor of the Admiral, of Martin Alonso, and of
the rest. Finally they came to Gomera. They saw a great
fire issue from the mountain of the island of Tenerife, which
is of great height. They rigged the Pinfa with square sails,
for she was lateen rigged; and the Admiral reached Gomera
on Sunday, the 2nd of September, with the Pinia repaired.

The Admiral says that many honorable Spanish gentlemen
who were at Gomera with Dofia Ines Peraza, mother of Guillen
Peraza (who was afterwards the first Count of Gomera), and
who were natives of the island of Hierro, declared that every
year they saw land to the west of the Canaries; and others,
natives of Gomera, affirmed the same on oath. The Admiral
here says that he remembers, when in Portugal in the year
1484, a man came to the King from the island of Madeira, to
beg for a caravel to go to this land that was seen, who swore
that it could be seen every year, and always in the same way.!
He also says that he recollects the same thing being affirmed
in the islands of the Azores; and all these lands were deseribed
as in the same direction, and as being like each other, and of
the same size. Having taken in water, wood, and meat, and
all else that the men had who were left at Gomera by the Ad-
miral when he went to the island of Canaria to repair the cara-
vel Pinta, he finally made sail from the said island of Gomera,
with his three caravels, on Thursday, the 6th day of Sep-
tember.

Thursday, 6th of September

He departed on that day from the port of Gomera in the
morning, and shaped a course to go on his voyage; having
received tidings from a caravel that came from the island of
Hierro that three Portuguese caravels were off that island with
the object of taking him. (This must have been the result

* On June 30, 1484, King John IT. of Portugal granted to Fernam Domim-
guez do Arco, “resident in the island of Madeyra, if he finds it, an island which
he is now going in search of.” Alguns Documentos do Archivo Nacional da
Torre do Tombo, p. 56.



94 VOYAGES OF COLUMBUS [1492

of the King’s annoyance that Colon should have gone to Cas-
tile.) There was a calm all that day and night, and in the
morning he found himself between Gomera and Tenerife.

Friday, Tth of September

The calm continued all Friday and Saturday, until the
third hour of the night.

Saturday, 8th of September

At the third hour of Saturday night ! it began to blow
from the N.E., and the Admiral shaped a course to the west.
He took in much sea over the bows, which retarded progress,
and 9 leagues were made in that day and night.

Sunday, 9th of September

This day the Admiral made 19 leagues, and he arranged
to reckon less than the number run, because if the voyage was
of long duration, the people would not be so terrified and dis-
heartened. In the night he made 120 miles, at the rate of 12
miles an hour, which are 30 leagues. The sailors steered badly,
letting the ship fall off to N.E., and even more, respecting
which the Admiral complained many times.?

Monday, 10th of September

In this day and night he made 60 leagues, at the rate of
10 miles an hour, which are 24 leagues; but he only counted

! T'res horas de noche means three hours after sunset.

?“On this day [Sunday, Sept. 9] they lost sight of land; and many,
fearful of not being able to return for a long time to see it, sighed and shed
tears. But the admiral, after he had comforted all with big offers of much
land and wealth to keep them in hope and to lessen their fear which they
had of the long way, when that day the sailors reckoned the distance 18
leagues, said he had counted only 15, having decided to lessen the record so
that the crew would not think they were as far from Spain as in fact they
were.”  Historie del Signor Don Fernando Colombo (London ed., 1867),
pp. 61-62.
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48 leagues, that the people might not be alarmed if the voyage
should be long.

Tuesday, 11th of September

That day they sailed on their course, which was west, and
made 20 leagues and more. They saw a large piece of the mast
of a ship of 120 tons, but were unable to get it. In the night
they made nearly 20 leagues, but only counted 16, for the
reason already given.

Wednesday, 12th of September

That day, steering their course, they made 33 leagues
during the day and night, counting less.

Thursdey, 13th of September

That day and night, steering their course, which was west,
they made 33 leagues, counting 3 or 4 less. The currents
were against them. On this day, at the commencement of the
night, the needles turned a half point to north-west, and in
the morning they turned somewhat more north-west.!

! Las Casas in his Historia, I. 267, says “on that day at nightfall the
needles northwested that is to say the fleur de lis which marks the north
was not pointing directly at it but verged somewhat to the left of north and
in the morning northeasted that is to say the fleur de lis pointed to right
of the north until sunset.”

The Historie agrees with the text of the Journal that the needle declined
more to the west, instead of shifting to an eastern declination.

The author of the Historie remarks: ‘This variation no one had ever
observed up to this time,” p. 62. “Columbus had crossed the point of no
variation, which was then near the meridian of Flores, in the Azores, and
found the wvariation no longer easterly, but more than a point westerly.
His explanation that the pole-star, by means of which the change was de-
tected, was not itself stationary, is very plausible. For the pole-star really
does describe a circle round the pole of the earth, equal in diameter to about
six times that of the sun; but this is not equal to the change observed in
the direction of the needle.” (Markham.)
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Friday, 14th of September

That day they navigated, on their westerly course, day
and night, 20 leagues, counting a little less. Here those of
the caravel Nviia reported that they had seen a tern® and a
boatswain bird,? and these birds never go more than 25 leagues
from the land.?

Saturday, 15th of September

That day and night they made 27 leagues and rather more
on their west course; and in the early part of the night there
fell from heaven into the sea a marvellous flame of fire, at a
distance of about 4 or 5 leagues from them.

Sunday, 16th of September

That day and night they steered their course west, making
39 leagues, but the Admiral only counted 36. There were
some clouds and small rain. The Admiral says that on that
day, and ever afterwards, they met with very temperate
breezes, so that there was great pleasure in enjoying the
mornings, nothing being wanted but the song of nightingales.
He says that the weather was like April in Andalusia. Here
they began to see many tufts of grass which were very green,
and appeared to have been quite recently torn from the land.
From this they judged that they were near some island, but

! Garjao. 'This word is not in the Spanish dictionaries that I have con-
sulted. The translator has followed the French translators MM. Chalu-
meau de Verneuil and de la Roquette who accepted the opinion of the
naturalist Cuvier that the Garjao was the hirondelle de mer, the Sterna
maxzima or royal tern.

? Rabo de junco, literally, reedtail, is the tropic bird or Phaethon. The
name ‘“‘boatswain-bird”’ is applied to some other kinds of birds, besides
the tropic bird. Cj. Alfred Newton, Dictionary of Birds (London, 1896).
Ferdinand Columbus says: rabo di giunco, “a bird so called because it has
a long feather in its tail,” p. 63.

 This remark is, of course, not true of the tropic bird or rabo de
junco, as was abundantly proved on this voyage.
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not the main land, according to the Admiral, ‘“because,” as
he says, ‘‘I make the main land to be more distant.”

Monday, 17th of September

They proceeded on their west course, and made over 50
leagues in the day and night, but the Admiral only counted
47. They were aided by the current. They saw much very
fine grass and herbs from rocks, which came from the west.
They, therefore, considered that they were near land. The
pilots observed the north point, and found that the needles
turned a full point to the west of north. So the mariners were
alarmed and dejected, and did not give their reason. But the
Admiral knew, and ordered that the north should be again
observed at dawn. They then found that the needles were true.
The cause was that the star makes the movement, and not the
needles. At dawn, on that Monday, they saw much more
weed appearing, like herbs from rivers, in which they found a
live crab, which the Admiral kept. He says that these crabs
are certain signs of land. The sea-water was found to be less
salt than it had been since leaving the Canaries. The breezes
were always soft. Every one was pleased, and the best sailers
went ahead to sight the first land. They saw many tunny-
fish, and the crew of the Nifig killed one. The Admiral here
says that these signs of land came from the west, ‘‘in which
direction I trust in that high God in whose hands are all vic-
tories that very soon we shall sight land.” In that morning
he says that a white bird was seen which has not the habit
of sleeping on the sea, called rabo de junco (boatswain-bird).!

Tuesday, 18th of Seplember

This day and night they made over 55 leagues, the Admiral
only counting 48. In all these days the sea was very smooth,
like the river at Seville. This day Martin Alonso, with the
Pinta, which was a fast sailer, did not wait, for he said to the

t See p. 96, note 2.
H
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Admiral, from his caravel, that he had seen a great multitude
of birds flying westward, that he hoped to see land that night,
and that he therefore pressed onward. A great cloud appeared
in the north, which is a sign of the proximity of land.

Wednesday, 19th of September

The Admiral continued on his course, and during the day
and night he made but 25 leagues because it was calm. e
counted 22. This day, at 10 o’clock, a booby ! came to the
ship, and in the afternoon another arrived, these birds not
generally going more than 20 leagues from the land. There
was also some drizzling rain without wind, which is a sure
sign of land. The Admiral did not wish to cause delay by
beating to windward to ascertain whether land was near, but
he considered it certain that there were islands both to the
north and south of his position, (as indeed there were, and he
was passing through the middle of them). For his desire was
to press onwards to the Indies, the weather being fine. For
on his return, God willing, he could see all. These are his
own words. Here the pilots found their positions. He of the
Nina made the Canaries 440 leagues distant, the Pinta 420.
The pilot of the Admiral’s ship made the distance exactly 400
leagues, '

Thursday, 20th of September

This day the course was W.b.N., and as her head was all
round the compass owing to the calm that prevailed,® the
ship made only 7 or 8 leagues. Two boobies came to the ship,

t Alcatraz.  The rendering “booby” follows Cuvier’s note to the
French translation. The “booby” is the ‘“booby gannet.” The Spanish
dictionaries give pelican as the meaning of Alcatraz. The gannets and the
pelicans were formerly classed together. The word Alcatraz was taken over
into English and corrupted to Albatros. Alfred Newton, Dictionary of Birds
(London, 1896), art. ‘“ Albatros.”

? More exactly, “ He sailed this day toward the West a quarter northwest
and half the division [i.e., west by north and west by one eighth northwest]
because of the veering winds and calm that prevailed.”
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and afterwards another, a sign of the proximity of land. They
saw much weed, although none was seen on the previous day.
They caught a bird with the hand, which was like a tern. But
it was a river-bird, not a sea-bird, the feet being like those of
a gull. At dawn two or three land-birds came singing to the
ship, ‘and they disappeared before sunset. Afterwards a
booby came from W.N.W., and flew to the 8.W., which was a
sign that it left land in the W.N.W.; for these birds sleep on
shore, and go to sea in the mornings in search of food, not
extending their flight more than 20 leagues from the land.

Friday, 21st of September

Most of the day it was calm, and later there was a little
wind. During the day and night they did not make good
more than 13 leagues. At dawn they saw so much weed that
the sea appeared to be covered with it, and it came from the
west. A booby was seen. The sea was very smooth, like a
river, and the air the best in the world. They saw a whale,
which is a sign that they were near land, because they always
keep near the shore.

Saturdey, 22nd of September

They shaped a course W.N.W. more or less, her head turn-
ing from one to the other point, and made 30 leagues. Scarcely
any weed was seen. They saw some sandpipers and another
bird. Here the Admiral says: ‘“This contrary wind was very
necessary for me, because my people were much excited at
the thought that in these seas no wind ever blew in the direc-
tion of Spain.” Part of the day there was no weed, and later
it was very thick.

Sunday, 23rd of September

They shaped a course N.W., and at times more northerly;
occasionally they were on their course, which was west,
and they made about 22 leagues. They saw a dove and a
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booby, another river-bird, and some white birds. There was
a great deal of weed, and they found crabs in it. The sea
being smooth and calm, the crew began to murmur, saying
that here there was no great sea, and that the wind would
never blow so that they could return to Spain. Afterwards
the sea rose very much, without wind, which astonished them.,
The Admiral here says: “ Thus the high sea was very necessary
to me, such as had not appeared but in the time of the Jews
when they went out of Egypt and murmured against Moses,
who delivered them out of captivity.”*

Monday, 24th of September

The Admiral went on his west course all day and night,
making 14 leagues. He counted 12. A booby came to the
ship, and many sandpipers.”

Tuesday, 25th of September

This day began with a calm, and afterwards there was
wind. They were on their west course until night. The Ad-
miral conversed with Martin Alonso Pinzon, captain of the
other caravel Pinta, respecting a chart which he had sent to
the caravel three days before, on which, as it would appear,

! The abridger of the original journal missed the point here and his epit-
ome is unintelligible. Las Casas says in his Historia, 1. 275: “The Admiral
says in this place that the adverseness of the winds and the high sea were
very necessary to him since they freed the crew of their erroneous idea that
there would be no favorable sea and winds for their return and thereby they
received some relief of mind or were not in so great despair, yet even then
some objected, saying that that wind would not last, up to the Sunday
following, when they had nothing to answer when they saw the sea so high.
By which means, Cristébal Colon says here, God dealt with him and with
them as he dealt with Moses and the Jews when he drew them from Egypt
showing signs to favor and aid him and to their confusion.”

? Las Casas, Historia, 1. 275-276, here describes with detail the discon-
tent of the sailors and their plots to put Columbus out of the way. The
passage is translated in Thacher, Christopher Columbus, 1. 524. The word
rendered ‘“sandpipers” is pardelas, petrels. The French translation has
petrels tachetes, i.e., ‘pintado petrels,” or cape pigeons.
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the Admiral had certainis lands depicted in that sea.! Martin
Alonso said that the ships were in the position on which the
islands were placed, and the Admiral replied that so it appeared
to him: but it might be that they had not fallen in with them,
owing to the currents which had always set the ships to the
N.E., and that they had not made so much as the pilots re-
ported. The Admiral then asked for the chart to be returned,
and it was sent back on a line.” The Admiral then began to

1 More exactly, “On which it seems the Admiral had painted cer-
tain islands.” The Spanish reads: “donde segun parece tenia pintadas el
Almirante ciertas islas,” etc. The question is whether Columbus made the
map or had it made. The rendering of the note is supported by the
French translators and by Harrisse.

2 Las Casas, I. 279, says: “This map is the one which Paul, the physi-
cian, the Florentine, sent, which I have in my possession with other articles
which belonged to the Admiral himself who discovered these Indies, and writ-
ings in his own hand which came into my possession. In it he depicted many
islands and the main land which were the beginning of India and in that
region the realms of the Grand Khan,” ete. Las Casas does not tell us how
he knew that the Toscanelli map which he found in Columbus’s papers was
the map that the Admiral used on the first voyage. That is the general
assumption of scholars, but there is no positive evidence of the fact. The
Toscanelli map is no longer extant, and all reconstructions of it are based on
the globe of Martin Behaim constructed in 1492. The reconstruction by
H. Wagner which may be seen in 8. Ruge, Columbus, 2t aufl. (Berlin, 1902)
is now accepted as the most successful.

According to the reckoning of the distances in the Journal, Columbus.
was now about 550 leagues or 2200 Italian miles west of the Canaries. The
Toscanelli map was divided off into spaces each containing 250 miles. Colum-
bus was therefore nine spaces west of the Canaries. No reconstruction of
Toscanelli’s map puts any islands at nine spaces from the Canaries except
so far as the reconstructors insert the island of Antilia on the basis of Behaim’s
globe. The Antilia of Behaim according to Wagner was eight spaces west
of the Canaries. Again Ferdinand Columbus, in his Historie under date of
October 7 (p. 72), says the sailors “had been frequently told by him that he
did not look for land until they had gone 750 leagues west from the Canaries,
at which distance he had told them he would have found Espafiola then
called Cipango.” 750 leagues or 3000 Italian miles would be 12 spaces
on the Toscanelli map. But according to the Toscanelli letter Cipango
was 10 spaces west of Antilia, and therefore 18 spaces or 4500 miles west
of the Canaries. Columbus then seems to have expected to find Cipango
some 1500 miles to the east of where it was placed on the Toscanelli map.
These considerations justify a very strong doubt whether Columbus was
shaping his course and basing his expectations on the data of the Tosca-
nelli letter and map, or whether the fact that Las Casas found what he
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plot the position on it, with the pilot and mariners. At sun-
set Martin Alonso went up on the poop of his ship, and with
much joy called to the Admiral, claiming the reward as he had
sighted land. When the Admiral heard this positively de-
clared, he says that he gave thanks to the Lord on his knees,
while Martin Alonso said the Gloria in excelsis with his people.
The Admiral’s crew did the same. Those of the Nifia all went
up on the mast and into the rigging, and declared that it was
land. It so seemed to the Admiral, and that it was distant
25 leagues. They all continued to declare it was land until
night. The Admiral ordered the course to be altered from
W. to S.W., in which direction the land had appeared. That
day they made 4 leagues on a west course, and 17 S.W. during
the night, in all 21; but the people were told that 13 was the
distance made good: for it was always feigned to them that
the distances were less, so that the voyage might not appear
so long. Thus two reckonings were kept on this voyage, the
shorter being feigned, and the longer being the true one. The
sea was very smooth, so that many sailors bathed alongside.
They saw many dorados' and other fish.

Wednesday, 26th of September

The Admiral continued on the west course until afternoon.
Then he altered course to S.W., until he made out that what
had been said to be land was only clouds. Day and night
they made 31 leagues, counting 24 for the people. The sea
was like a river, the air pleasant and very mild.

Thursday, 27th of September

The course west, and distance made good during day and
night 24 leagues, 20 being counted for the people. Many
dorados came. One was killed. A boatswain-bird came.

took to be the Toscanelli map in the Admiral’s papers proves that it was
that map which he had on his first voyage.
* Dorado is defined by Stevens as the dory or gilt head.
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Friday, 28th of September

The course was west, and the distance, owing to calms,
only 14 leagues in day and night, 13 leagues being counted.
They met with little weed ; but caught two dorados, and more
in the other ships.

Saturday, 29th of September

The course was west, and they made 24 leagues, counting
21 for the people. Owing to calms, the distance made good
during day and night was not much. They saw a bird called
rabiforcado * (man-o’-war bird), which makes the boobies
vomit what they have swallowed, and eats it, maintaining
itself on nothing else. It is a sea-bird, but does not sleep on
the sea, and does not go more than 20 leagues from the land.
There are many of them at the Cape Verde Islands. After-
wards they saw two boobies. The air was very mild and agree-
able, and the Admiral says that nothing was wanting but to
hear the nightingale. The sea smooth as a river. Later,
three boobies and a man-o’-war bird were seen three times.
There was much weed.

Sunday, 30th of September

The western course was steered, and during the day and
night, owing to calms, only 14 leagues were made, 11 being
counted. Four boatswain-birds came to the ship, which is a
great sign of land, for so many birds of this kind together is a
sign that they are not straying or lost. They also twice saw
four boobies. There was much weed. Note that the stars
which are called Las Guardias (the Pointers?®), when night

! Rabiforcado, Portuguese. The Spanish form is rabihorcado. It means
“forked tail.” The modern English equivalent is “frigate bird.” It is
‘““the Fregata aquila of most ornithologists, the Frégate of French and the
Rabihorcado of Spanish mariners.” Newton, Dictionary of Birds, art.
“Frigate-Bird.” Newton says that the name “ man-of-war bird ”” has gen-
erally passed out of use in books.

? Rather, the Guards, the name given to the two brightest stars in
the constellation of the Little Bear, The literal translation is: “the Guards,
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comes on, are near the western point, and when dawn breaks
they are near the N.E. point; so that, during the whole night,
they do not appear to move more than three lines or 9 hours,
and this on each night. The Admiral says this, and also
that at nightfall the needles vary a point westerly, while at
dawn they agree exactly with the star. From this it would
appear that the north star has a movement like the other
stars, while the needles always point correctly.

Monday, 1st of October

Course west, and 25 leagues made good, counted for the
crew as 20 leagues. There was a heavy shower of rain. At
dawn the Admiral’s pilot made the distance from Hierro 578
leagues to the west. The reduced reckoning which the Admi-
ral showed to the crew made it 584 leagues; but the truth
which the Admiral observed and kept secret was 707.

Tuesday, 2nd of October

Course west, and during the day and night 39 leagues were
made good, counted for the crew as 30. The sea always
smooth. Many thanks be given to God, says the Admiral,
that the weed is coming from east to west, contrary to its usual
course. Many fish were seen, and one was killed. A white
bird was also seen that appeared to be a gull.

Wednesday, 3rd of October

They navigated on the usual course, and made good 47
leagues, counted as 40. Sandpipers appeared, and much
weed, some of it very old and some quite fresh and having
fruit. They saw no birds. The Admiral, therefore, thought
that they had left the islands behind them which were depicted

when night comes on, are near the arm on the side to the west, and when
dawn breaks they are on the line under the arm to the northeast,” ete.
What Columbus meant I cannot explain. Neither Navarrete nor the
French translators offer any suggestions.
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on the charts. The Admiral here says that he did not wish to
keep the ships beating about during the last week, and in the
last few days when there were so many signs of land, although
he had information of certain islands in this region. Ior he
wished to avoid delay, his object being to reach the Indies.
He says that to delay would not be wise.!

Thursday, 4th of October

Course west, and 63 leagues made good during the day
and night, counted as 46. More than forty sandpipers came
to the ship in a flock, and two boobies, and a ship’s boy hit one
with a stone. There also came a man-o’-war bird and a white
bird like a gull.

Friday, 5th of October

The Admiral steered his course, going 11 miles an hour, and
during the day and night they made good 57 leagues, as the
wind increased somewhat during the night: 45 were counted.
The sea was smooth and quiet. ‘“To God,” he says, ‘‘be
many thanks given, the air being pleasant and temperate, with
no weed, many sandpipers, and flying-fish coming on the deck
in numbers.”

1Las Casas, L. 282, adds to the foregoing under date of October 3: “He
says here that it would not have been good sense to beat about and in that
way to be delayed in search of them [i.e., the islands] since he had favor-
able weather and his chief intention was to go in search of the Indies by
way of the west, and this was what he proposed to the King and Queen, and
they had sent him for that purpose. Because he would not turn back to beat
up and down to find the islands which the pilots believed to be there, par-
ticularly Martin Alonzo by the chart which, as was said, Cristébal Colon had
sent to his caravel for him to see, and it was their opinion that he ought
to turn, they began to stir up a mutiny, and the disagreement would have
gone farther if God had not stretched out his arm as he was wont, showing
immediately new signs of their being near land since now neither soft words
nor entreaties nor prudent reasoning of Cristébal Colon availed to quiet
them and to persuade them to persevere.” Ferdinand Columbus says
simply, “ For this reason the crew began to be mutinous, persevering in
their complaints and plots,” p. 71. See page 108, note 1.
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Saturday, 6th of October

The Admiral continued his west course, and during day and
night they made good 40 leagues, 33 being counted. This
night Martin Alonso said that it would be well to steer south of
west,' and it appeared to the Admiral that Martin Alonso did
not say this with respect to the island of Cipango.* He saw
that if an error was made the land would not be reached so
quickly, and that consequently it would be better to go at
once to the continent and afterwards to the islands.

Sunday, Tth of October

The west course was continued; for two hours they went
at the rate of 12 miles an hour, and afterwards 8 miles an hour.
They made good 23 leagues, counting 18 for the people. This
day, at sunrise, the caravel Nifia, which went ahead, being the
best sailer, and pushed forward as much as possible to sight
the land first, so as to enjoy the reward which the Sovereigns
‘had promised to whoever should see it first, hoisted a flag at
the mast-head and fired a gun, as a signal that she had sighted
land, for such was the Admiral’s order. He had also ordered
that, at sunrise and sunset, all the ships should join him; be-
cause those two times are most proper for seeing the greatest
distance, the haze clearing away. No land was seen during the
afternoon, as reported by the caravel Nifia, and they passed
a great number of birds flying from N. to S.W. This gave rise
to the belief that the birds were either going to sleep on land,
or were flying from the winter which might be supposed to be
near in the land whence they were coming. The Admiral
was aware that most of the islands held by the Portuguese
were discovered by the flight of birds. For this reason he

1 A la cuarta del Oueste, & la parte del Sudueste, at the quarter from the
west toward the southwest, 7.e., west by south.

? Las Casas, in the Historia de las Indias, 1. 283, writes, “That night
Martin Alonso said that it would be well to sail west by south for the island
of Cipango which the map that Cristébal Colon showed him represented.”
(/. page 101, note 2,
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resolved to give up the west course, and to shape a course
W.S.W.for the two following days.! He began the new course
one hour before sunset. They made good, during the night,
about 5 leagues, and 23 in the day, altogether 28 leagues.

Monday, 8th of October

The course was W.S.W., and 113 or 12 leagues were made
good in the day and night; and at times it appears that they
went at the rate of 15 miles an hour during the night (if the
handwriting is not deceptive).” The sea was like the river at
Seville. “Thanks be to God,” says the Admiral, “the air
is very soft like the April at Seville; and it is a pleasure to be
here, so balmy are the breezes.” The weed seemed to be very
fresh. There were many land-birds, and they took one that
was flying to the S.W. Terns,® ducks, and a booby were also
seen.

Tuesday, 9th of October

The course was S.W., and they made 5 leagues. The
wind then changed, and the Admiral steered W. by N. 4 leagues.
Altogether, in day and night, they made 11 leagues by day
and 20% leagues by night; counted as 17 leagues altogether.
Throughout the night birds were heard passing.

Wednesday, 10th of October

The course was W.S.W., and they went at the rate of 10
miles an hour, occasionally 12 miles, and sometimes 7. During

! Las Casas remarks, 1. 285, “If he had kept up the direct westerly course
and the impatience of the Castilians had not hindered him, there is no doubt
that he would have struck the main land of Florida and from there to New
Spain, although the difficulties would have been unparalleled and the losses
unbearable that they would have met with, and it would have been & divine
miracle if he had ever returned to Castile.”

z A remark by the abridger who noted the inconsistency between a total
of 48 miles for a day and night and even an occasional 15 miles per hour.

8 Grajaos. The translator assumed this to be the same as garjao; the
French translators, on the other hand, took it to be the same as grajos,
crows. In Portuguese dictionaries the word grajio is found as the name of
“an Indian bird,”
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the day and night they made 59 leagues, counted as no more
than 44. Here the people could endure no longer. They
complained of the length of the voyage. But the Admiral
cheered them up in the best way he could, giving them good
hopes of the advantages they might gain from it. He added
that, however much they might complain, he had to go to the
Indies, and that he would go on until he found them, with the
help of our Lord.!

Thursday, 11th of October

The course was W.S.W., and there was more sea than there
had been during the whole of the voyage. They saw sand-
pipers, and a green reed near the ship. Those of the caravel
Pinta saw a cane and a pole, and they took up another small
pole which appeared to have been worked with iron; also
another bit of cane, a land-plant, and a small board. The
crew of the caravel Nifig also saw signs of land, and a small
branch covered with berries.? Every one breathed afresh and
rejoiced at these signs. The run until sunset was 27 leagues.

After sunset the Admiral returned to his original west
course, and they went along at the rate of 12 miles an hour.
Up to two hours after midnight they had gone 90 miles, equal
to 22% leagues. As the caravel Pintoe was a better sailer, and
went ahead of the Admiral, she found the land, and made the

* The trouble with the captains and the sailors is told in greatest detail
by Oviedo, Historia de las Indias, lib. 11., cap. v. He is the source of the
story that the captains finally declared they would go on three days longer
and not another hour. Oviedo does not say that Columbus acquiesced in
this arrangement. Modern critics have been disposed to reject Oviedo’s
account, but strictly interpreted, it is not inconsistent with our other sources.
Columbus recalls in his Journal, February 14, 1493, the terror of the situation
which was evidently more serious than the entry of October 10 would
imply. Peter Martyr too says that the sailors plotted to throw Columbus
overboard and adds: “After the thirtieth day roused by madness they
declared they were going back,” but that Columbus pacified them. De Rebus
Oceanicis, Dec. lib. 1., fol. 2, ed. of 1574. Oviedo says that he derived in-
formation from Vicente Yafiez Pinzon, “since with him I had a friendship
up to the year 1514 when he died.” Htstoria de las Indias, 11., cap. XIil.

* Escaramojos. Wild roses.
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signals ordered by the Admiral. The land was first seen by a
sailor named Rodrigo de Triana.! But the Admiral, at ten
o’clock, being on the castle of the poop,” saw a light, though
it was so uncertain that he could not affirm it was land. He
called Pero Gutierrez, a gentleman of the King’s bed-chamber,
and said that there seemed to be a light, and that he should
look atit. He did so, and saw it.> The Admiral said the same
to Rodrigo Sanchez of Segovia, whom the King and Queen
had sent with the fleet as inspector, but he could see nothing,
because he was not in a place whence anything could be seen.
After the Admiral had spoken he saw the light once or twice,
and it was like a wax candle rising and falling. It seemed to
few to be an indication of land; but the Admiral made certain
that land was close. When they said the Salve, which all the
sailors were accustomed to sing in their way, the Admiral
asked and admonished the men to keep a good look-out on the
forecastle, and to watch well for land; and to him who should
first cry out that he saw land, he would give a silk doublet,
besides the other rewards promised by the Sovereigns, which
were 10,000 maravedis to him who should first see it.* At
two hours after midnight the land was sighted at a distance of

1 Tt was full moon on October 5. On the night of the 11th the moon rose
at 11 p.M. and at 2 A.M. on the morning of the 12th it was 39° above the
horizon. It would be shining brightly on the sandy shores of an island some
miles ahead, being in its third quarter, and a little behind Rodrigo de Triana,
when he sighted land at 2 a.m. (Markham.)

2 The high decks fore and aft were called castles. The name survives in
the English forecastle. Stevens gives poop alone as the English for Castilla
de popa.

8 Qviedo, lib. 11., cap. v., says that, as they were sailing along, a sailor, a
native of Lepe, cried out, ““Light,” “Land,” but was immediately told that
the admiral had already seen it and remarked upon it.

4 Columbus received this award. His claiming or accepting it under the
circumstances has been considered discreditable and a breach of fajth by
many modern writers. Oviedo says the native of Lepe was so indignant at
not getting the reward that * he went over into Africa and denied the faith,”
1.e., became a Mohammedan. Las Casas seems to have seen no impropriety
in -Columbus’ accepting the award. He tells us, I. 289, that this annuity
was paid to Columbus throughout his life and was levied from the butcher
shops of Seville. A maravedi was equal to two-thirds of a cent.
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two leagues. They shortened sail, and lay by under the main-
sail without the bonnets.

[Friday, 12th of October]

The vessels were hove to, waiting for daylight; and on
Friday they arrived at a small island of the Lucayos, called,
in the language of the Indians, Guanahani.'! Presently they
saw naked people. The Admiral went on shore in the armed
boat, and Martin Alonso Pinzon, and Vicente Yafiez, his
brother, who was captain of the Nifia. The Admiral took the
royal standard, and the captains went with two banners of the
green cross, which the Admiral took in all the ships as a sign,
with an F and a Y ? and a crown over each letter, one on one
side of the cross and the other on the other. Having landed,
they saw trees very green, and much water, and fruits of diverse
kinds. The Admiral called to the two captains, and to the
others who leaped on shore, and to Rodrigo Escovedo, secre-
tary of the whole fleet, and to Rodrigo Sanchez of Segovia,® and
said that they should bear faithful testimony that he, in
presence of all, had taken, as he now took, possession of the
said island * for the King and for the Queen his Lords, making
the declarations that are required, as is now largely set forth
in the testimonies which were then made in writing.

Presently many inhabitants of the island assembled.
What follows is in the actual words of the Admiral in his book
of the first navigation and discovery of the Indies.® “I,” he
says, ‘‘that we might form great friendship, for I knew that
they were a people who could be more easily freed and con-
verted to our holy faith by love than by force, gave to some

! Pronounced originally, accordmg to Las Casas, I. 291, with the accent
on the last syllable. Guanahani is now generally accepted to have been
Watling Island. See Markham, Christopher Columbus, pp. 89-107, for a
lucid discussion of the landfall.

? Fernando and Ysabel.

& The royal inspector.

* Lag Casas adds, I. 293, “To which he gave the name Sant Salvador.”

® We have here perhaps the original title of what in its abridged form
we now call the Journal.
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of them red caps, and glass beads to put round their necks,
and many other things of little value, which gave them great
pleasure, and made them so much our friends that it was a
marvel to see. They afterwards came to the ship’s boats
where we were, swimming and bringing us parrots, cotton
threads in skeins, darts, and many other things; and we ex-
changed them for other things that we gave them, such as
glass beads and small bells. In fine, they took all, and gave
what they had with good will. It appeared to me to be a
race of people very poor in everything. They go as naked as
when their mothers bore them, and so do the women, although
I did not see more than one young girl. All I saw were youths,
none more than thirty years of age. They are very well made,
with very handsome bodies, and very good countenances.
Their hair is short and coarse, almost like the hairs of a horse’s
tail. They wear the hairs brought down to the eyebrows,
except a few locks behind, which they wear long and never
cut. They paint themselves black, and they are the color of
the Canarians, neither black nor white. Some paint them-
selves white, others red, and others of what color they find.
Some paint their faces, others the whole body, some only
round the eyes, others only on the nose. They neither carry
nor know anything of arms, for I showed them swords, and
they took them by the blade and cut themselves through
ignorance. They have no iron, their darts being wands with-
out iron, some of them having a fish’s tooth at the end, and
others being pointed in various ways. They are all of fair
stature and size, with good faces, and well made. I saw some
with marks of wounds on their bodies, and I made signs to
ask what it was, and they gave me to understand that people
from other adjacent islands came with the intention of seiz-
ing them, and that they defended themselves. I believed,
and still believe, that they come here from the mainland to
take them prisoners. They should be good servants and
intelligent, for I observed that they quickly took in what was
said to them, and I believe that they would easily be made
Christians, as it appeared to me that they had no religion.
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I, our Lord being pleased, will take hence, at the time of my de-
parture, six natives for your Highnesses, that they may learn
to speak. I saw no beast of any kind except parrots, on this
island.” The above is in the words of the Admiral.

Saturday, 13th of October

¢ As soon as dawn broke many of these people came to the
beach, all youths, as I have said, and all of good stature, a
very handsome people. Their hair is not curly, but loose and
coarse, like horse hair. In all the forehead is broad, more so
than in any other people I have hitherto seen. Their eyes
are very beautiful and not small, and themselves far from
black, but the color of the Canarians. Nor should anything
else be expected, as this island is in a line east and west from
the island of Hierro in the Canaries. Their legs are very
straight, all in one line, and no belly, but very well formed.
They came to the ship in small canoes, made out of the trunk
of a tree like a long boat, and all of one piece, and wonder-
fully worked, considering the country. They are large, some
of them holding 40 to 45 men, others smaller, and some only
large enough to hold one man. They are propelled with a
paddle like a baker’s shovel, and go at a marvellous rate. If
the canoe capsizes, they all promptly begin to swim, and to
bale it out with calabashes that they take with them. They
brought skeins of cotton thread, parrots, darts, and other small
things which it would be tedious to recount, and they give all
in exchange for anything that may be given to them. Iwas
attentive, and took trouble to ascertain if there was gold. I
saw that some of them had a small piece fastened in a hole they
have in the nose, and by signs I was able to make out that to
the south, or going from the island to the south, there was a
king who had great cups full, and who possessed a great
quantity. I tried to get them to go there, but afterwards I
saw that they had no inclination. I resolved to wait until
to-morrow in the afternoon and then to depart, shaping a course
to the S.W., for, according to what many of them told me,
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there was land to the S., to the S.W., and N.W., and that the
natives from the N.W. often came to attack them, and went
on to the S.W. in search of gold and precious stones.

““This island is rather large and very flat, with bright green
trees, much water, and a very large lake in the centre, without
any mountain, and the whole land so green that it is a pleasure
tolook onit. The people are very docile, and for the longing to
possess our things, and not having anything to give in return,
they take what they can get, and presently swim away. Still,
they give away all they have got, for whatever may be given
to them, down to broken bits of crockery and glass. I saw
one give 16 skeins of cotton for three ceotis * of Portugal, equal
to one blanca of Spain, the skeins being as much as an arroba
of cotton thread. I shall keep it, and shall allow no one to
take it, preserving it all for your Highnesses, for it may be
obtained in abundance. It is grown in this island, though
the short time did not admit of my ascertaining this for a
certainty. Here also is found the gold they wear fastened in
their noses. But, in order not to lose time, I intend to go and
see if I can find the island of Cipango.” Now, as it is night,
all the natives have gone on shore with their canoes.”

Sunday, 14th of October

“At dawn I ordered the ship’s boat and the boats of the
caravels to be got ready, and I went along the coast of the isl-
and to the N.N.E., to see the other side, which was on the
other side to the east, and also to see the villages. Presently
I saw two or three, and the people all came to the shore, call-
ing out and giving thanks to God. Some of them brought us
water, others came with food, and when they saw that I did
not want to land, they got into the sea, and came swimming to
us. We understood that they asked us if we had come from
heaven. One old man came into the boat, and others cried

! The Portuguese ceitil (pl. ceitis) was a small coin deriving its name from
Ceuta, opposite Gibraltar, in Africa, a Portuguese possession. The blanca
was one-half a maravedi, or about one-third of a cent.

? Cipango. Marco Polo’s name for Japan.

I
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out, in loud voices, to all the men and women, to come and
see the men who had come from heaven, and to bring them to
eat and drink. Many came, including women, each bringing
something, giving thanks to God, throwing themselves on the
ground and shouting to us to come on shore. But I was
afraid to land, seeing an extensive reef of rocks which sur-
rounded the island, with deep water between it and the shore
forming a port large enough for as many ships as there are in
Christendom, but with a very narrow entrance. It is true
that within this reef there are some sunken rocks, but the sea
has no more motion than the water in a well. In order to see
all this T went this morning, that I might be able to give a full
account to your Highnesses, and also where a fortress might be
established. I saw a piece of land which appeared like an
island, although it is not one, and on it there were six houses.
It might be converted into an island in two days, though I do
not see that it would be necessary, for these people are very
simple as regards the use of arms, as your Highnesses will see
from the seven that I caused to be taken, to bring home and
learn our language and return; unless your Highnesses should
order them all to be brought to Castile, or to be kept as cap-
tives on the same island; for with fifty men they can all be
subjugated and made to do what is required of them. Close
to the above peninsula there are gardens of the most beauti-
ful trees I ever saw, and with leaves as green as those of Cas-
tile in the month of April and May, and much water. I
examined all that port, and afterwards I returned to the ship
and made sail. I saw so many islands that I hardly knew
how to determine to which I should go first. Those natives
I had with me said, by signs, that there were so many that
they could not be numbered, and they gave the names of more
than a hundred. At last I looked out for the largest, and
resolved to shape a course for it, and so I did. It will be dis-
tant five leagues from this of San Salvador, and the others
some more, some less. All are very flat, and all are inhabited.
The natives make war on each other, although these are very
simple-minded and handsomely-formed people.”



1492] JOURNAL OF THE FIRST VOYAGE 115

Monday, 15th of October

“I had laid by during the night, with the fear of reaching
the land to anchor before daylight,' not knowing whether the
coast was clear of rocks, and at dawn I made sail. As the
island was more than 5 leagues distant and nearer 7, and the
tide checked my way, it was noon when we arrived at the said
island. I found that side facing towards the island of San
Salvador trended north and south with a length of 5 leagues,
and the other which I followed ran east and west for more than
10 leagues.”? As from this island I saw another larger one to
the west, I clued up ® the sails, after having run all that day
until night, otherwise I could not have reached the western
cape. I gave the name of Santa Maria de la Concepcion *
to the island, and almost as the sun set I anchored near the
said cape to ascertain if it contained gold. For the people I
had taken from the island of San Salvador told me that here
they wore very large rings of gold on their arms and legs. I
really believed that all they said was nonsense, invented that
they might escape. My desire was not to pass any island with-
out taking possession, so that, one having been taken, the same
may be said of all. T anchored, and remained until to-day,
Tuesday, when I went to the shore with the boats armed, and
landed. The people, who were numerous, went naked, and
were like those of the other island of San Salvador. They let
us go over the island, and gave us what we required. As the
wind changed to the S.E., I did not like to stay, and returned
to the ship. A large canoe was alongside the N+vna, and one
of the men of the island of San Salvador, who was on board,
jumped into the sea and got into the canoe. In the middle
of the night before, another swam away behind the canoe,

! Rather, “I had lain to during the night for fear of reaching the land,”
ete.

? These lengths. are exaggerated.

® The word is cargué and means “raised” or “hoisted.” The same
word seven lines above was translated “made sail.” Las Casas in the
corresponding passage in his Historia uses alzar.

¢ Identified as Rum Cay.
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which fled, for there never was boat that could have overtaken
her, seeing that in speed they have a great advantage.!  So
they reached the land and left the canoe. Some of my people
went on shore in chase of them, but they all fled like fowls,
and the canoe they had left was brought alongside the caravel
Nifia, whither, from another direction, another small canoe
came, with a man who wished to barter with skeins of cotton.
Some sailors jumped into the sea, because he would not come
on board the caravel, and seized him. I was on the poop of
my ship, and saw everything. So I sent for the man, gave
him a red cap, some small beads of green glass, which I put on
his arms, and small bells, which I put in his ears, and ordered
his canoe, which was also on board, to be returned to him.
I sent him on shore, and presently made sail to go to the other
large island which was in sight to the westward. I also
ordered the other large canoe, which the caravel Nifia was
towing astern, to be cast adrift; and I soon saw that it reached
the land at the same time as the man to whom I had given
the above things. I had not wished to take the skein of cotton
that he offered me. All the others came round him and seemed
astonished, for it appeared clear to them that we were good
people. The other man who had fled might do us some harm,
because we had carried him off, and for that reason I ordered
this man to be set free and gave him the above things, that he
might think well of us, otherwise, when your Highnesses again
send an expedition, they might not be friendly. All the
presents I gave were not worth four maravedis. At 10 we
departed with the wind 8.W., and made for the south, to reach
that other island, which is very large, and respecting which
all the men that I bring from San Salvador make signs that
there is much gold, and that they wear it as bracelets on the
arms, on the legs, in the ears and nose, and round the neck.

1 A Tine is missing in the original. The text may be restored as follows,
beginning with the end of the preceding sentence, “ jumped into the sea
and got into the canoe; in the middle of the night before the other threw
[himself into the sea and swam off. The boat was lowered] and put after

the canoe which escaped since there never was a boat which could have
overtaken him, since we were far behind him.”
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The distance of this island from that of Santa Maria is 9 leagues
on a course east to west. All this part of the island trends
N.W. and S.E., and it appeared that this coast must have
a length of 28 leagues. It is very flat, without any mountain,
like San Salvador and Santa Maria, all being beach without
rocks, except that there are some sunken rocks near the land,
whence it is necessary to keep a good lookout when it is de-
sired to anchor, and not to come to very near the land; but
the water is always very clear, and the bottom is visible. At
a distance of two shots of a lombard, there is, off all these
islands, such a depth that the bottom cannot be reached.
These islands are very green and fertile, the climate very mild.
They may contain many things of which I have no knowledge,
for I do not wish to stop, in discovering and visiting many
islands, to find gold. These people make signs that it is worn
on the arms and legs; and it must be gold, for they point to
some pieces that I have. I cannot err, with the help of our
Lord, in finding out where this gold has its origin. Being in
the middle of the channel between these two islands, that is to
say, that of Santa Maria and this large one, to which I give the
name of Fernandina,’ I came upon a man alone in a canoe
going from Santa Maria to Fernandina. Ile had a little of
their bread, about the size of a fist, a calabash of water, a
piece of brown earth powdered and then kneaded, and some
dried leaves, which must be a thing highly valued by them,”
for they bartered with it at San Salvador. Ie also had with
him a native basket with a string of glass beads, and two
blancas, by which I knew that he had come from the island of
San Salvador, and had been to Santa Maria, and thence to
Fernandina. He came alongside the ship, and I made him
come on board as he desired, also getting the canoe inboard,
and taking care of all his property. I ordered him to be given
to eat bread and treacle, and also to drink: and so I shall take
him on to Fernandina, where I shall return everything to him,
in order that he may give a good account of: us, that, our

! Long Island. (Markham.)
2 Possibly a reference to tobacco.
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Lord pleasing, when your Highnesses shall send here, those
who come may receive honor, and that the natives may give
them all they require.”

Tuesday, 16th of October

“I sailed from the island of Santa Maria de la Concepcion
at about noon, to go to Fernandina Island, which appeared
very large to the westward, and I navigated all that day with
light winds. I could not arrive in time to be able to see the
bottom, so as to drop the anchor on a clear place, for it is
necessary to be very careful not to lose the anchors. So I
stood off and on all that night until day, when I came to an
inhabited place where I anchored, and whence that man had
come that I found yesterday in the canoe in mid channel. He
had given such a good report of us that there was no want of
canoes alongside the ship all that night, which brought us
water and what they had to offer. I ordered each one to be
given something, such as a few beads, ten or twelve of those
made of glass on a thread, some timbrels made of brass such
as are worth a maravedi in Spain, and some straps, all which
they looked upon as most excellent. I also ordered them to
be given treacle to eat when they came on board. At three
o’clock ' T sent the ship’s boat on shore for water, and the
natives with good will showed my people where the water was,
and they themselves brought the full casks down to the boat,
and did all they could to please us.

““This island is very large, and I have determined to sail
round it, because, so far as I can understand, there is a mine in
ornearit. Theisland is eight leagues from Santa Maria, nearly
east and west; and this point I had reached, as well as all the
coast, trends N.N.W. and S.S.E. I saw at least 20 leagues
of it, and then it had not ended. Now, as I am writing this, I
made sail with the wind at the south, to sail round the island,

! It should be ‘“about nine o’clock.” The original is & horas de tercia,

which means “at the hour of tierce,” i.e., the period between nine and
twelve,
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and to navigate until I find Samaot, which is the island or
city where there is gold, as all the natives say who are on board,
and as those of San Salvador and Santa Maria told us. These
people resemble those of the said islands, with the same lan-
guage and customs, except that these appear to me a rather
more domestic and tractable people, yet also more subtle.
For I observed that those who brought cotton and other trifles
to the ship, knew better than the others how to make a bar-
gain. In this island I saw cotton cloths made like mantles.
The people were better disposed, and the women wore in front
of their bodies a small piece of cotton which scarcely covered
them.

““It is a very green island, level and very fertile, and I have
no doubt that they sow and gather corn ' all the year round,
as well as other things. I saw many trees very unlike those
of our country. Many of them have their branches growing
in different ways and all from one trunk, and one twig is one
form, and another in a different shape, and so unlike that it is
the greatest wonder in the world to see the great diversity;
thus one branch has leaves like those of a cane, and others
like those of a mastick tree: and on a single tree there are five
or six different kinds. Nor are these grafted, for it may be
said that grafting is unknown, the trees being wild, and un-
tended by these people. They do not know any religion, and
I believe they could easily be converted to Christianity, for
they are very intelligent. Here the fish are so unlike ours that
it is wonderful. Some are the shape of dories, and of the
finest colors in the world, blue, yellow, red, and other tints,
all painted in various ways, and the colors are so bright that
there is not a man who would not be astonished, and would not
take great delight in seeing them. There are also whales. I
saw no beasts on the land of any kind, except parrots and
lizards. A boy told me that he saw a large serpent. I saw

! Panizo, literally “panic grass.” Here Columbus seems to use the word
as descriptive of maize or Indian corn, and later the word came to have this
meaning. On the different species of panic grass, see Candolle, Origin of
Cultivated Plants (index under panicum).
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neither sheep, nor goats, nor any other quadruped. It is
true I have been here a short time, since noon,* yet I could not
have failed to see some if there had been any. I will write
respecting the circuit of this island after I have been round it.”

Wednesday, 17th of October

““At noon I departed from the village off which I was
anchored, and where I took in water, to sail round this island
of Fernandina. The wind was S.W. and South. My wish
was to follow the coast of this island to the S.E., from where
I was, the whole coast trending N.N.W. and S.S.E.; because
all the Indians I bring with me, and others, made signs to this
southern quarter, as the direction of the island they ecall
Samoet, where the gold is. Martin Alonso Pinzon, eaptain
of the caravel Pinta, on board of which I had three of the Ind-
lans, came to me and said that one of them had given him to
understand very positively that the island might be sailed
round much quicker by shaping a N.N.W. course. I saw that
the wind would not help me to take the course I desired, and
that it was fair for the other, so I made sail to the N.N.W.
When I was two leagues from the cape of the island, I discov-
ered a very wonderful harbor.? It has one mouth, or, rather,
it may be said to have two, for there is an islet in the middle.
Both are very narrow, and within it is wide enough for a hun-
dred ships, if there was depth and a clean bottom, and the en-
trance was deep enough. It seemed desirable to explore it and
take soundings, so I anchored outside, and went in with all
the ship’s boats, when we saw there was insufficient depth. As
I thought, when I first saw it, that it was the mouth of some
river, I ordered the water-casks to be brought. On shore I
found eight or ten men, who presently came to us and showed
us the village, whither I sent the people for water, some with
arms, and others with the casks; and, as it was some little
distance, I waited two hours for them.

! Rather, “since it is noon.”
? Port Clarence in Long Island. (Markham.)
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- “During that time I walked among the trees, which was
the most beautiful thing I had ever seen, beholding as much
verdure as in the month of May in Andalusia. The trees are
as unlike ours as night from day, as are the fruits, the herbs,
the stones, and everything. It is true that some of the trees
bore some resemblance to those in Castile, but most of them
are very different, and some were so unlike that no one could
compare them to anything in Castile. The people were all
like those already mentioned: like them naked, and the same
size. They give what they possess in exchange for anything
that may be given to them. I here saw some of the ship’s
boys bartering broken bits of glass and crockery for darts.
The men who went for water told me that they had been in the
houses of the natives, and that they were very plain and clean
inside. Their beds and bags for holding things! were like
nets of cotton.> The houses are like booths, and very high,
with good chimneys.? But, among many villages that I saw,
there was none that consisted of more than from twelve to
fifteen houses. Here they found that the married women
wore clouts of cotton, but not the young girls, except a few
who were over eighteen years of age. They had dogs, mas-
tiffs, and hounds; * and here they found a man who had a piece
of gold in his nose, the size of half a castellono,® on which they
saw letters. I quarrelled with these people because they would
not exchange or give what was required; as I wished to see

* Rather, “beds and hangings.” The original is paramentos de cosas,
but in the corresponding passage in his Historia, 1. 310, Las Casas has para-
mentos de casa, which is almost certainly the correct reading.

* “These are called Hamacas in Espafiola.” Las Casas, I. 310, where
will be found an elaborate description of them.

® For ornament. Las Casas calls them caps or erowns, I. 311.

¢ Rather: “ mastiffs and beagles.”” Las Casas, I. 311, says the Admiral
called these dogs mastiffs from the report of the sailors. “If he had seen
them, he would not have called them so but that they resembled hounds.
These and the small ones never bark but merely a grunt in the throat.”

® The castellano was one-sixth of an ounce. Las Casas, 1. 311, remarks:
“They were deceived in believing the marks to be letters since those people
are wont to work it in their fashion, since never anywhere in all the Indies
was there found any trace of money of gold or silver or other metal.”
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what and whose this money was; and they replied that they
were not accustomed to barter.

‘““After the water was taken I returned to the ship, made
sail, and shaped a course N.W., until I had discovered all the
part of the coast of the island which trends east to west.
Then all the Indians turned round and said that this island
was smaller than Samoet, and that it would be well to return
back so as to reach it sooner. The wind presently went down,
and then sprang up from W.N.W., which was contrary for us
to continue on the previous course. So I turned back, and
navigated all that night to E.S.E., sometimes to east and to
S.E. This course was steered to keep me clear of the land,
for there were very heavy clouds and thick weather, which
did not admit of my approaching the land to anchor. On
that night it rained very heavily from midnight until nearly
dawn, and even afterwards the clouds threatened rain. We
found ourselves at the S.W. end of the island, where I hoped
to anchor until it cleared up, so as to see the other island
whither I have to go. On all these days, since I arrived in these
Indies, it has rained more or less. Your Highnesses may be-
lieve that this land is the best and most fertile, and with a good
climate, level, and as good as there is in the world.”

Thursday, 18th of October

‘“ After it had cleared up I went before the wind, approach-
ing the island as near as I could, and anchored when it was no
longer light enough to keep under sail. But I did not go on
shore, and made sail at dawn. . . .”

Friday, 19th of October

“I weighed the anchors at daylight, sending the caravel
Pinta on an E.S.E. course, the caravel Nisia S.S.E., while I
shaped a S.E. course, giving orders that these courses were to
be steered until noon, and that then the two caravels should
alter course so as to join company with me. Before we had
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sailed for three hours we saw an island to the east, for which
we steered, and all three vessels arrived at the north point
before noon. Here there is an islet, and a reef of rocks to sea-
ward of it, besides one between the islet and the large island.
The men of San Salvador, whom I bring with me, called it
Saomete, and I gave it the name of Isabella.! The wind was
north, and the said islet bore from the island of Fernandina,
whence I had taken my departure, east and west. Afterwards
we ran along the coast of the island, westward from the islet,
and found its length to be 12 leagues as far as a cape, which I
named Cabo Hermoso, at the western end. The island is
beautiful, and the coast very deep, without sunken rocks off
it. Outside the shore is rocky, but further in there is a sandy
beach, and here I anchored on that Friday night until morn-
ing. This coast and the part of the island I saw is almost
flat, and the island is very beautiful; for if the other islands
are lovely, this is more so. It has many very green trees,
which are very large. The land is higher than in the other
islands, and in it there are some hills, which cannot be called
mountains; and it appears that there is much water inland.
From this point to the N.E. the coast makes a great angle,
and there are many thick and extensive groves. I wanted
to go and anchor there, so as to go on shore and see so much
beauty; but the water was shallow, and we could only anchor
at a distance from the land. The wind also was fair for going
to this cape, where I am now anchored, to which I gave the
name of Cabo Hermoso,? because it is so. Thus it was that
I do not anchor in that angle, but as I saw this cape so green
and so beautiful, like all the other lands of these islands, I
scarcely knew which to visit first; for I can never tire my
eyes in looking at such lovely vegetation, so different from
ours. I believe that there are many herbs and many ftrees
that are worth much in Europe for dyes and for medicines;
but I do not know them, and this causes me great sorrow.
Arriving at this cape, I found the smell of the trees and flowers
so delicious that it seemed the pleasantest thing in the world.

! Crooked Island, (Markham.) ? Cape Beautiful.
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To-morrow, before I leave this place, I shall go on shore to
see what there is at this cape. There are no people, but there
are villages in the interior, where, the Indians I bring with
me say, there is a king who has much gold. To-morrow I
intend to go so far inland as to find the village, and see and
have some speech with this king, who, according to the signs
they make, rules over all the neighboring islands, goes about
clothed, and wears much gold on his person. I do not give
much faith to what they say, as well because I do not under-
stand them well as because they are so poor in gold that even
a little that this king may have would appear much to them.
This cape, to which I have given the name of Cabo Fermoso,
is, I believe, on an island separated from Saometo, and there
is another small islet between them. I did not try to examine
them in detail, because it could not be done in 50 years. TFor
my desire is to see and discover as much as I can before return-
ing to your Highnesses, our Lord willing, in April. It is true
that in the event of finding places where there is gold or spices
in quantity I should stop until I had collected as much as I
could. I, therefore, proceed in the hope of coming across
such places.”

Saturday, 20th of October

“To-day, at sunrise, I weighed the anchors from where I
was with the ship, and anchored off the S.W. point of the
island of Saometo, to which I gave the name of Cabo de la
Laguna, and to the island Isabella. My intention was to
navigate to the north-east and east from the south-east and
south, where, I understood from the Indians I brought with
me, was the village of the king. I found the sea so shallow
that I could not enter nor navigate in it, and I saw that to
follow a route by the south-east would be a great round. So
I determined to return by the route that I had taken from the
N.N.E. to the western part, and to sail round this island to
[reconnoitre it]. ‘

“I had so little wind that I never could sail along the coast,
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except during the night. As it was dangerous to anchor off
these islands except in the day, when one can see where to let
go the anchor, for the bottom is all in patches, some clear and
some rocky, I lay to all this Sunday night. The caravels
anchored because they found themselves near the shore, and
they thought that, owing to the signals that they were in the
habit of making, I would come to anchor, but I did not wish
to do so.”

Sunday, 21st of October

At ten o’clock I arrived here, off this islet, and anchored,
as well as the caravels. After breakfast I went on shore,
and found only one house, in which there was no one, and I
supposed they had fled from fear, because all their property
was left in the house. I would not allow anything to be
touched, but set out with the captains and people to explore
the island. If the others already seen are very beautiful,
green, and fertile, this is much more so, with large trees and
very green. Here there are large lagoons with wonderful
vegetation on their banks. Throughout the island all is green,
and the herbage like April in Andalusia. The songs of the
birds were so pleasant that it seemed as if a man could never
wish to leave the place. The flocks of parrots concealed the
sun; and the birds were so numerous, and of so many different
kinds, that it was wonderful. There are trees of a thousand
sorts, and all have their several fruits; and I feel the most
unhappy man in the world not to know them, for I am well
assured that they are all valuable. I bring home specimens of
them, and also of the land. Thus walking along round one
of the lakes I saw a serpent, which we killed, and I bring home
the skin for your Highnesses. As soon as it saw us it went
into the lagoon, and we followed, as the water was not very
deep, until we killed it with lances. It is 7 spans long, and I
believe that there are many like it in these lagoons.! Here

1 “The Indians of this island of Espafiola call it ¢guana.” Las Casas,
I. 314. He gives a minute description of it.
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I came upon some aloes, and I have determined to take ten
quintals on board to-morrow, for they tell me that they are
worth a good deal. Also, while in search of good water, we
came to a village about half a league from our anchorage.
The people, as soon as they heard us, all fled and left their
houses, hiding their property in the wood. I would not allow
a thing to be touched, even the value of a pin. Presently
some men among them came to us, and one came quite close.
I gave him some bells and glass beads, which made him very
content and happy. That our friendship might be further
increased, I resolved to ask him for something; I requested
him to get some water. After I had gone on board,the
natives came to the beach with calabashes full of water, and
they delighted much in giving it to us. I ordered another
string of glass beads to be presented to them, and they said
they would come again to-morrow. I wished to fill up all the
ships with water at this place, and, if there should be time, I
intended to search the island until T had had speech with the
king, and seen whether he had the gold of which I had heard.
I shall then shape a course for another much larger island, which
I believe to be Cipango, judging from the signs made by the
Indians I bring with me. They call it Cuba, and they say
that there are ships and many skilful sailors there. Beyond
this island there is another called Bosio,' which they also say
is very large, and others we shall see as we pass, lying between.
According as I obtain tidings of gold or spices I shall settle
what should be done. I am still resolved to go to the main-
land and the city of Guisay,” and to deliver the letters of your
Highnesses to the Gran Can, requesting a reply and returning
with it.”

! The names in the Spanish text are Colba and Bosio, errors in transerip-
tion for Cuba and Bohio. Las Casas, I. 315, says in regard to the latter:
“To call it Bohio was to misunderstand the interpreters, since throughout
all these islands, where the language is practically the same, they call the
huts in which they live bohio and this great island Espafiola they called Hayti,
and they must have said that in Hayti there were great bohios.”

? The name is spelled Quinsay in the Latin text of Marco Polo which
Columbus annotated.
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Monday, 22nd of October

¢ All last night and to-day I was here, waiting to see if the
king or other person would bring gold or anything of value.
Many of these people came, like those of the other islands,
equally naked, and equally painted, some white, some red,
some black, and others in many ways. They brought darts
and skeins of cotton to barter, which they exchanged with the
sailors for bits of glass, broken crockery, and pieces of earthen-
ware. Some of them had pieces of gold fastened in their
noses, which they willingly gave for a hawk’s bell and glass
beads. But there was so little that it counts for nothing. Itis
true that they looked upon any little thing that I gave them
as a wonder, and they held our arrival to be a great marvel,
believing that we came from heaven. We got water for the
ships from a lagoon which is near the Cabo del Isleo (Cape of
the Islet), as we named it. In the said lagoon Martin Alonso
Pinzon, captain of the Pinta, killed another serpent 7 spans
long, like the one we got yesterday. I made them gather here
as much of the aloe as they could find.”

Tuesday, 23rd of October

““T desired to set out to-day for the island of Cuba, which
I think must be Cipango, according to the signs these people
make, indicative of its size and riches, and I did not delay
any more here nor [attempt to sail] . . .' round this island
to the residence of this king or lord, and have speech with
him, as I had intended. This would cause me much delay,
and I see that there is no gold mine here. To sail round
would need several winds, for it does not blow here as men
may wish. It is better to go where there is great entertain-
ment, so I say that it is not reasonable to wait, but rather to
continue the voyage and inspect much land, until some very
profitable country is reached, my belief being that it will be
rich in spices. That I have no personal knowledge of these

! One or two words are missing in the original.
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products causes me the greatest sorrow in the world, for I see
a thousand kinds of trees, each one with its own special fruit,
all green now as in Spain during the months of May and June,
as well as a thousand kinds of herbs with their flowers; yet
I know none of them except this aloe, of which I ordered a
quantity to be brought on board to bring to your Highnesses.
I have not made sail for Cuba because there is no wind, but a
dead calm with much rain. It rained a great deal yesterday
without causing any cold. On the contrary, the days are hot
and the nights cool, like May in Andalusia.”

Wednesday, 24th of October

‘ At midnight I weighed the anchors and left the anchorage
at Cabo del Isleo, in the island of Isabella.! From the northern
side, where I was, I intended to go to the island of Cuba,
where I heard of the people who were very great, and had gold,
spices, merchandise, and large ships. They showed me that
the course thither would be W.S.W., and so I hold. For I
believe that it is so, as all the Indians of these islands, as well
as those I brought with me in the ships, told me by signs. 1
cannot understand their language, but I believe that it is of
the island of Cipango that they recount these wonders.? On
the spheres I saw, and on the delineations of the map of the
world,* Cipango is in this region. SoIshaped a course W.S.W.
until daylight, but at dawn it fell calm and began to rain, and
went on nearly all night. I remained thus, with little wind,

! The translation here should be, “raised the anchors at the island of
Isabella at Cabo del Isleo, which is on the northern side where I tarried to
go to the island of Cuba, which I heard from this people is very great and
has gold,” ete.

? These two lines should read, “I believe that it is the island of Cipango
of which marvellous things are related.”

? The exact translation is, “On the spheres that I saw and on the paint-
ings of world-maps it is this region.” The plural number is used in both
cases. Of the globes of this date, 7.e., 1492 or earlier, that of Behaim is
the only one that has come down to us. Of the world maps Toscanelli’s,
no longer extant, may have been one, but it is to be noted that Columbus
uses the plural,
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until the afternoon, when it began to blow fresh. I set all the
sails in the ship, the mainsail with two bonnets, the foresail,
spritsail, mizzen, main topsail, and the boat’s sail on the poop.
So I proceeded until nightfall, when the Cabo Verde of the
island of Fernandina, which is at the S.W. end, bore N.W.
distant 7 leagues. As it was now blowing hard, and I did not
know how far it was to this island of Cuba, I resolved not to
go in search of it during the night; all these islands being very
steep-to, with no bottom round them for a distance of two
shots of a lombard. The bottom is all in patches, one bit of
sand and another of rock, and for this reason it is not safe to
anchor without inspection with the eye. So I determined to
take in all the sails except the foresail, and to go on under that
reduced canvas. Soon the wind increased, while the route
was doubtful, and there was very thick weather, with rain. I
ordered the foresail to be furled, and we did not make two
leagues during that night.”

Thursday, 25th of October

“T steered W.S.W. from after sunset until 9 o’clock,
making 5 leagues. Afterwards I altered course to west, and
went 8 miles an hour until one in the afternoon ; and from that
time until three made good 44 miles. Then land was sighted,
consisting of 7 or 8 islands, the group running north and south,
distant from us 5 leagues.”

Friday, 26th of October

“The ship was on the south side of the islands, which were
all low, distant 5 or 6 leagues. I anchored there. The Ind-
ians ' on board said that thence to Cuba was a voyage in their
canoes of a day and a half; these being small dug-outs without
a sail. Such are their canoes. I departed thence for Cuba,

! Columbus’s conviction that he has reached the Indies is registered by
his use from now on of the word “ Indians ”’ for the people.
K
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for by the signs the Indians made of its greatness, and of its
gold and pearls, I thought that it must be Cipango.”

Saturday, 27th of October

“T weighed from these islands at sunrise, and gave them the
name of Las Islas de Arena, owing to the little depth the sea
had for a distance of 6 leagues to the southward of them.
We went 8 miles an hour on a S.S.W. course until one o’clock,
having made 40 miles. Until night we had run 28 miles on
the same course, and before dark the land was sighted. At
night there was much rain. The vessels, on Saturday until
sunset, made 17 leagues on a S.S.W. course.”

Sunday, 28th of October

“T went thence in search of the island of Cuba on a S.S.W.
course, making for the nearest point of it, and entered a very
beautiful river without danger of sunken rocks or other im-
pediments. All the coast was clear of dangers up to the shore.
The mouth of the river was 12 brazas across, and it is wide
enough for a vessel to beat in.' I anchored about a lombard-
shot inside.” The Admiral says that ‘he never beheld such
a beautiful place, with trees bordering the river, handsome,
green, and different from ours, having fruits and flowers each
one according to its nature. There are many birds, which sing
very sweetly. There are a great number of palm trees of a
different kind from those in Guinea and from ours, of a mid-
dling height, the trunks without that covering, and the leaves
very large, with which they thatch their houses. The country
is very level.” The Admiral jumped into his boat and went
on shore. He came to two houses, which he believed to belong
to fishermen who had fled from fear. In one of them he found
a kind of dog that never barks, and in both there were nets of

! This should be, “The mouth of the river is 12 fathoms deep and it is
wide enough,” etc. '
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palm-fibre and cordage, as well as horn fish-hooks, bone har-
poons, and other apparatus ““for fishing, and several hearths.
He believed that many people lived together in one house. He
gave orders that nothing in the houses should be touched, and
so it was done.” The herbage was as thick as in Andalusia
during April and May. He found much purslane and wild
amaranth.  He returned to the boat and went up the river
for some distance, and he says it was great pleasure to see the
bright verdure, and the birds, which he could not leave to go
back. He says that this island is the most beautiful that eyes
have seen, full of good harbors and deep rivers, and the sea
appeared as if it never rose ; for the herbage on the beach nearly
reached the waves, which does not happen where the sea is
rough. (Up to that time they had not experienced a rough
sea among all those islands.) He says that the island is full
of very beautiful mountains, although they are not very ex-
tensive as regards length, but high; and all the country is
high like Sicily. It is abundantly supplied with water, as
they gathered from the Indians they had taken with them from
the island of Guanahani. These said by signs that there are
ten great rivers, and that they cannot go round the island in
twenty days. When they came near land with the ships,
two canoes came out; and, when they saw the sailors get into
a boat and row about to find the depth of the river where
they could anchor, the canoes fled. The Indians say that in
this island there are gold mines and pearls, and the Admiral
saw a likely place for them and mussel-shells, which are signs
of them. Ie understood that large ships of the Gran Can
came here, and that from here to the mainland was a voyage
of ten days.” The Admiral called this river and harbor San
Salvador.® '

! Bledos. The French translators give cresson sauvage, wild cress, as
the equivalent.

? Las Casas, 1. 320, says Columbus understood ““that from these to the
mainland would be a sail of ten days by reason of the notion he had derived
from the chart or picture which the Florentine sent him.”

? Baracoa (Las Casas) ; Puerto Naranjo (Markham) ; Nipe (Navarrete) ;
Nuevitas (Thacher).
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Monday, 29th of October

The Admiral weighed anchor from this port and sailed to
the westward, to go to the city, where, as it seemed, the Indians
said that there was a king. They doubled a point six leagues
to the N.W.,! and then another point,” then east ten leagues.
After another league he saw a river with no very large entrance,
to which he gave the name of Rio de la Luna.’ He went on
until the hour of vespers. He saw another river much larger
than the others, as the Indians told him by signs, and near he
saw goodly villages of houses. He called the river Rio de
Mares.* He sent two boats on shore to a village to communi-
cate, and one of the Indians he had brought with him, for now
they understood a little, and show themselves content with
Christians. All the men, women, and children fled, abandon-
ing their houses with all they contained. The Admiral gave
orders that nothing should be touched. The houses were
better than those he had seen before, and he believed that the
houses would improve as he approached the mainland. They
were made like booths, very large, and looking like tents in a
camp without regular streets, but one here and another there.
Within they were clean and well swept, with the furniture well
made. All are of palm branches beautifully constructed.
They found many images in the shape of women, and many
heads like masks?® very well carved. It was not known
whether these were used as ornaments, or to be worshipped.
They had dogs which never bark, and wild birds tamed in their
houses. There was a wonderful supply of nets and other
fishing implements, but nothing was touched. He believed
that all the people on the coast were fishermen, who took the
fish inland, for this island is very large, and so beautiful, that
he is never tired of praising it. He says that he found trees

t Punta de Mulas. (Navarrete.)

2 Punta de Cabafias. (Navarrete.)

3 Puerto de Banes. (Navarrete.)

4+ Puerto de las Nuevitas del Principe. (Navarrete.)

5 Las Casas, I. 321, has “many heads well carved from wood.” Possibly
these were totems.
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and fruits of very marvellous taste; and adds that they must
have cows or other cattle, for he saw skulls which were like
those of cows.! The songs of the birds and the chirping of
crickets throughout the night lulled everyone to rest, while
the air was soft and healthy, and the nights neither hot nor
cold. On the voyage through the other islands there was great
heat, but here it is tempered like the month of May. IHe
attributed the heat of the other islands to their flatness, and
to the wind coming from the east, which is hot. The water
of the rivers was salt at the mouth, and they did not know
whence the natives got their drinking-water, though they have
sweet water in their houses. Ships are able to turn in this
river, both entering and coming out, and there are very good
leading-marks. He says that all this sea appears to be con=
stantly smooth, like the river at Seville, and the water suitable
for the growth of pearls. He found large shells unlike those
of Spain. Remarking on the position of the river and port,
to which he gave the name of San Salvador,” he describes its
mountains as lofty and beautiful, like the Peiia de las Enamo-
radas,® and one of them has another little hill on its summit,
like a graceful mosque. The other river and port, in which he
now was,' has two round mountains to the S.W., and a fine
low cape running out to the W.S.W.

Tuesday, 30th of October

He left the Rio de Mares and steered N.W., seeing a cape
covered with palm trees, to which he gave the name of Cabo
de Palmas,® after having made good 15 leagues. The Indians
on board the caravel Pinta said that beyond that cape therewas

! Las Casas, I. 321, comments, “These must have been skulls of the
manati, a very large fish, like large calves, which has a skin with no scales
like a whale and its head is like that of a cow.”

2“7 believe that this port was Baracoa, which name Diego Velasquez,
the first of the Spaniards to settle Cuba, gave to the harbor of Asump-
cion.” Las Casas, I. 322.

 Near Granada in Spain.

¢ Nuevitas del Principe. (Navarrete.)

5 “Alto de Juan Dafiue,” (Navarrete.)
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a river,’ and that from the river to Cuba it was four days’
journey. The captain of the Pinta reported that he under-
stood from that, that this Cuba was a city, and that the land
was a great continent trending far to the north. The king
of that country, he gathered, was at war with the Gran Can,
whom they called Cami, and his land or city Fava, with many
other names. The Admiral resolved to proceed to that river,
and to send a present, with the letter of the Sovereigns,? to
the king of that land. For this service there was a sailor who
had been to Guinea, and some of the Indians of Guanahani
wished to go with him, and afterwards to return to their homes.
The Admiral calculated that he was forty-two degrees to the
north of the equinoctial line (but the handwriting is here
illegible).? He says that he must attempt to reach the Gran
Can, who he thought was here or at the city of Cathay,* which
belongs to him, and is very grand, as he was informed before
leaving Spain. All this land, he adds, is low and beautiful,
and the sea deep.

Wednesday, 31st of October

All Tuesday night he was beating to windward, and he saw
a river, but could not enter it because the entrance was nar-
row. The Indians fancied that the ships could enter wherever
their canoes could go. Navigating onwards, he came to a
cape running out very far, and surrounded by sunken rocks,’

! Rio Maximo. (Navatrete.)

* Bee above, p. 91.

¥ Rather, “The text here is corrupt.” Las Casas, I. 324, gives the same
figures and adds, “yet I think the text is erroneous.” Navarrete says the
quadrants of that period measured the altitude double and so we should
take half of forty-two as the real altitude. If so, one wonders why there
was no explanation to this effect in the original journal which Las Casas
saw or why Las Casas was not familiar with this fact and did not make this
explanation. Ruge, Columbus, pp. 144, 145, says there were no such quad-
rants, and regards these estimates as proofs of Columbus’s ignorance as a
scientific navigator.

* In Toscanelli’s letter Cathay is a province in one place and a city in
another.

f Boca de Carabelas grandes. (Navarrete.)
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and he saw a bay where small vessels might take shelter. He
could not proceed because the wind had come round to the
north, and all the coast runs N.W. and S.E.  Another cape
further on ran out still more.! For these reasons, and because
the sky showed signs of a gale, he had to return to the Rio de
Mares. :

Thursday, November the 1st

At sunrise the Admiral sent the boats on shore to the houses
that were there, and they found that all the people had fled.
After some time a man made his appearance. The Admiral
ordered that he should be left to himself, and the sailors re-
turned to the boats. After dinner, one of the Indians on board
was sent on shore. He called out from a distance that there
was nothing to fear, because the strangers were good people
and would do no harm to anyone, nor were they people of the
Gran Can, but they had given away their things in many islands
where they had been. The Indian then swam on shore, and
two of the natives took him by the arms and brought him to a
house, where they heard what he had to say. When they
were certain that no harm would be done to them they were
reassured, and presently more than sixteen canoes came to
the ships with cotton-thread and other trifles. The Admiral
ordered that nothing should be taken from them, that they
might understand that he sought for nothing but gold, which
they call nucay.> Thus they went to and fro between the ships
and the shore all day, and they came to the Christians on shore
with confidence. The Admiral saw no gold whatever among
them, but he says that he saw one of them with a piece of
worked silver fastened to his nose. They said, by signs, that
within three days many merchants from inland would come to
buy the things brought by the Christians, and would give
information respecting the king of that land. So far as could

! Punta del Maternillo. (Navarrete.)

? Las Casas says, I. 326, “I think the Christians did not understand,
for the language of all these islands is the same, and in this island of Espafiola
gold is called caona.”
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be understood from their signs, he resided at a distance of
four days’ journey. They had sent many messengers in all
directions, with news of the arrival of the Admiral. ‘“These
people,” says the Admiral, “are of the same appearance and
have the same customs as those of the other islands, without
any religion so far as I know, for up to this day I have never
seen the Indians on board say any prayer; though they repeat
the Salve and Ave Maria with their hands raised to heaven,
and they make the sign of the cross. The language is also the
same, and they are all friends; but I believe that all these
islands are at war with the Gran Can, whom they called Cavila,
and his province Bafan. They all go naked like the others.”
This is what the Admiral says. ‘‘The river,” he adds, “is
very deep, and the ships can enter the mouth, going close to
the shore. The sweet water does not come within a league
of the mouth. It is certain,” says the Admiral, ‘“‘that this
is the mainland, and that I am in front of Zayto and
Guinsay, a hundred leagues, a little more or less, distant
the one from the other." It is very clear that no one before
has been so far as this by sea. Yesterday, with wind from
the N.W., I found it cold.”

Friday, 2nd of November

The Admiral decided upon sending two Spaniards, one
named Rodrigo de Jerez, who lived in Ayamonte, and the other
Luis de Torres, who had served in the household of the Ade-

* The last words should be, “distant from the one and from the other.”
Las Casas, I. 327, says: “Zayton and Quisay are certain cities or provincias
of the mainland which were depicted on the map of Paul the physician
as mentioned above.” These Chinese cities were known from Marco Polo’s
description of them. This passage in the Journal is very perplexing if it
assumes that Columbus was guided by the Toscanelli letter. Again a few
days earlier Columbus was sure that Cuba was Cipango, and now he is equally
certain that it is the mainland of Asia asserted by Toscanelli to be 26 spaces
or 6500 Italian miles west of Lisbon, but the next day his estimate of his
distance from Lisbon is 4568 miles. It would seem as if Columbus attached
no importance to the estimate of distances on the Toscanelli map which was
the only original information in it.
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lantado of Murcia, and had been a Jew, knowing Hebrew,
Chaldee, and even some Arabic. With these men he sent two
Indians, one from among those he had brought from Guana-
hani, and another a native of the houses by the river-side.
He gave them strings of beads with which to buy food if they
should be in need, and ordered them to return in six days.
He gave them specimens of spices, to see if any were to be
found. Their instructions were to ask for the king of that land,
and they were told what to say on the part of the Sovereigns
of Castile, how they had sent the Admiral with letters and a
present, to inquire after his health and establish friendship,
favoring him in what he might desire from them. They were
to collect information respecting certain provinces, ports, and
rivers of which the Admiral had notice, and to ascertain their
distances from where he was.

This night the Admiral took an altitude with a quadrant,
and found that the distance from the equinoctial line was 42
degrees.! He says that, by his reckoning, he finds that he has
gone over 1142 leagues from the island of Hierro.? He still
believes that he has reached the mainland.

Saturday, 3rd of November

In the morning the Admiral got into the boat, and, as the
river is like a great lake at the mouth, forming a very excellent
port, very deep, and clear of rocks, with a good beach for
careening ships, and plenty of fuel, he explored it until he came
to fresh water at a distance of two leagues from the mouth.
He ascended a small mountain to obtain a view of the sur-
rounding country, but could see nothing, owing to the dense
foliage of the trees, which were very fresh and odoriferous,
so that he felt no doubt that there were aromatic herbs among
them. He said that all he saw was so beautiful that his eyes
could never tire of gazing upon such loveliness, nor his ears
of listening to the songs of birds. That day many canoes came

t Cf. p. 134, note 3.
? The true distance was 1105 leagues. (Navarrete.)
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to the ships, to barter with cotton threads and with the nets
in which they sleep, called hamacas.

Sunday, 4th of November

At sunrise the Admiral again went away in the boat, and
landed to hunt the birds he had seen the day before. After
a time, Martin Alonso Pinzon came to him with two pieces of
cinnamon, and said that a Portuguese, who was one of his crew,
had seen an Indian carrying two very large bundles of it; but
he had not bartered for it, because of the penalty imposed
by the Admiral on any one who bartered. He further said
that this Indian carried some brown things like nutmegs.
The master * of the Pinta said that he had found the cinnamon
trees. The Admiral went to the place, and found that they
were not cinnamon trees. The Admiral showed the Indians
some specimens of cinnamon and pepper he had brought from
Castile, and they knew it, and said, by signs, that there was
plenty in the vicinity, pointing to the S.E. He also showed
them gold and pearls, on which certain old men said that there
was an infinite quantity in a place called Bohio,? and that the
people wore it on their necks, ears, arms, and legs, as well as
pearls. He further understood them to say that there were
great ships and much merchandise, all to the S.E. He also
understood that, far away, there were men with one eye,
and others with dogs’ noses® who were cannibals, and that
when they captured an enemy, they beheaded him and drank
his blood, and cut off his private parts.

* Contramaesire is boatswain.

? ““ Bohio means in their language ‘house,” and therefore it is to be sup-
posed that they did not understand the Indians, but that it was Hayti, which

is this island of Espafiola where they made signs there was gold.” Las Casas,
1. 329.

* Columbus understood the natives to say these things because of his
strong preconceptions as to what he would find in the islands off the coast
of Asia based on his reading of the Book of Sir John Maundeville. Cf.
ch. xviL of that work, e.g., “a great and fair isle called Nacumera. . . .
And all the men and women have dogs’ heads,” and ch. x1x., e.g., “In one
of these isles are people of great stature, like giants, hideous to look upon;
and they have but one eye in the middle of the forehead.”
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The Admiral then determined to return to the ship and wait
for the return of the two men he had sent, intending to depart
and seek for those lands, if his envoys brought some good news
touching what he desired. The Admiral further says: ‘“These
people are very gentle and timid; they go naked, as I have
said, without arms and without law. The country is very
fertile. The people have plenty of mames which are like carrots
and have the flavor of chestnuts; and they have faxones and
beans of kinds very different from ours.! They also have much
cotton, which they do not sow, as it is wild in the mountains,
and I believe they collect it throughout the year, because I
saw pods empty, others full, and flowers all on one tree. There
are a thousand other kinds of fruits, which it is impossible for
me to write about, and all must be profitable.”  All this the
Admiral says.

Monday, 5th of November

This morning the Admiral ordered the ship to be careened,
alterwards the other vessels, but not all at the same time.
Two were always to be at the anchorage, as a precaution ;
although he says that these people were very safe, and that
without fear all the vessels might have been careened at the
same time. Things being in this state, the master ? of the
Nifia came to claim a reward from the Admiral because he
had found mastic, but he did not bring the specimen, as

! Las Casas, 1. 329, identifies the mames as ajes and batatas. The batatas,
whence our word “potato,” is the sweet potato. Mames is more commonly
written flames or ignames. This is the Guinea N egro name of the Dioscoren
sativa, in English “ Yam.” Ajes is the native West Indies name. See Peschel,
Zeitalter der Entdeckungen, p. 139, and Columbus’s Journal, Dec. 13 and
Deec. 16. Fazones are the common haricot kidney beans ‘or string beans,
Phaseolus vulgaris. This form of the name seems a confusion of the Spanish
fdsoles and the Portuguese feijoes. That Columbus, an Italian by birth who
had lived and married in Portugal and removed to Spain in middle life, should
occasionally make slips in word-forms is not strange. More varieties of
this bean are indigenous in America than were known in Europe at the time
of the discoveries. Cf. De Candolle, Origin of Cultivated Plants, pp. 338 ff,

? The word is contramaestre, boatswain.
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he had dropped it. The Admiral promised him a reward, and
sent Rodrigo Sanchez and master Diego to the trees. They
collected some, which was kept to present to the Sovereigns,
as well as the tree. The Admiral says that he knew it was
mastic, though it ought to be gathered at the proper season.
There is enough in that district for a yield of 1000 quintals
every year. The Admiral also found here a great deal of the
plant called aloe. He further says that the Puerto de Mares
is the best in the world, with the finest climate and the most
gentle people. As it has a high, rocky cape, a fortress might
be built, so that, in the event of the place becoming rich and
important, the merchants would be safe from any other na-
tions. He adds: “The Lord, in whose hands are all victories,
will ordain all things for his service. An Indian said by signs
that the mastic was good for pains in the stomach.”

Tuesday, 6th of November

Yesterday, at night, says the Admiral, the two men came
back who had been sent to explore the interior. They said
that after walking 12 leagues they came to a village of 50
houses, where there were a thousand inhabitants, for many live
in one house. These houses are like very large booths. They
said that they were received with great solemnity, according
to custom, and all, both men and women, came out to see them.
They were lodged in the best houses, and the people touched
them, kissing their hands and feet, marvelling and believing
that they came from heaven, and so they gave them to under-
stand. They gave them to eat of what they had. When they
arrived, the chief people conducted them by the arms to the
principal house, gave them two chairs on which to sit, and
all the natives sat round them on the ground. The Indian
who came with them described the manner of living of the
Christians, and said that they were good people. Presently
the men went out, and the women came sitting round them
in the same way, kissing their hands and feet, and looking
to see if they were of flesh and bones like themselves. They
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begged the Spaniards to remain with them at least five days.
The Spaniards showed the natives specimens of cinnamon,
pepper, and other spices which the Admiral had given them,
and they said, by signs, that there was plenty at a short dis-
tance from thence to S.E., but that there they did not know
whether there was any.! Finding that they had no informa-
tion respecting cities, the Spaniards returned; and if they
had desired to take those who wished to accompany them,
more than 500 men and women would have come, because they
thought the Spaniards were returning to heaven. There came,
however, a principal man of the village and his son, with a
servant. The Admiral conversed with them, and showed
them much honor. They made signs respecting many lands
and islands in those parts. The Admiral thought of bringing
them to the Sovereigns. He says that he knew not what
fancy took them ; either from fear, or owing to the dark night,
they wanted to land. The ship was at the time high and dry,
but, not wishing to make them angry, he let them go on their
saying that they would return at dawn, but they never came
back. The two Christians met with many people on the road
going home, men and women with a half-burnt weed in their
hands, being the herbs they are accustomed to smoke.” They

1 The last line should read, “but that they did not know whether there
was any in the place where they were.”

> The last line should read, “with a brand in their hand, [and] herbs to
smoke as they are accustomed to do.”” Thisis the earliest reference to smok-
ing tobacco. was Casas, I. 332, describes the process as the natives practised
it: “These two Christians found on their way many people, men and women,
going to and from their villages and always the men with a brand in their
hands and certain herbs to take their smoke, which are dry herbs placed in a
certain leaf, also dry like the paper muskets which boys make at Easter
time. Having lighted one end of it, they suck at the other end or draw in with
the breath that smoke with which they make themselves drowsy and as if
drunk, and in that way, they say, cease to feel fatigue. These muskets, or
whatever we call them, they call tabacos. I knew Spaniards in this island
of Espafiola who were accustomed to take them, who, when they were re-
buked for it as a vice, replied they could not give it up. I do not know
what pleasant taste or profit they found in them.” TLas Casas’ last remarks
show that smoking was not yet common in his later life in Spain. The

paper muskets of Las Casas are blow-pipes. Oviedo, lib. v., cap. 11., gives
a detailed description of the use of tobacco. He says that the Indians
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did not find villages on the road of more than five houses,
all receiving them with the same reverence. They saw many
kinds of trees, herbs, and sweet-smelling flowers; and birds
of many different kinds, unlike those of Spain, except the par-
tridges, geese, of which there are many, and singing nightin-
gales. They saw no quadrupeds except the dogs that do not
bark.' The land is very fertile, and is cultivated with yams
and several kinds of beans different from ours, as well as corn.?
There were great quantities of cotton gathered, spun, and
worked up. In a single house they saw more than 500 arrobas,?
and as much as 4000 quintals could be yielded every year.
The Admiral said that ‘it did not appear to be cultivated,
and that it bore all the year round. It is very fine, and has
a large boll. All that was possessed by these people they gave
at a very low price, and a great bundle of cotton was exchanged
for the point of a needle or other trifle. They are a people,”
says the Admiral, “guileless and unwarlike. Men and women
go as naked as when their mothers bore them. It is true that
the women wear a very small piece of cotton-cloth which covers
their private parts and no more, and they are of very good
appearance, not very dark, less so than the Canarians. I hold,
most serene Princes, that if devout religious persons were here,
knowing the language, they would all turn Christians. I
trust in our Lord that your Highnesses will resolve upon this
with much diligence, to bring so many great nations within
the Church, and to convert them; as you have destroyed those
who would not confess the Father, the Son, and the Holy

smoked by inserting these tubes in the nostrils and that after two or three
inhalations they lost consciousness. He knew some Christians who used it
as an anesthetic when in great pain.

! On this indigenous species of dumb dogs, ¢f. Oviedo, lib. xI1I. cap.
v. They have long been extinct in the Antilles. Oviedo says there were
none in Espafiola when he wrote. He left the island in 1546.

>This last part of this sentence should read, “and is cultivated with
mames, kidney beans, other beans, this same panic [i.e., Indian corn], ete.”
The corresponding passage in the Historie of Ferdinand Columbus reads,
“and another grain like panic called by them mahiz of very excellent flavor
cooked or roasted or pounded in porridge (polenta),” p. 87.

% The arroba was 25 pounds and the quintal one hundred weight,.
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Ghost. And after your days, all of us being mortal, may your
kingdoms remain in peace, and free from heresy and evil,
and may you be well received before the eternal Creator, to
whom I pray that you may have long life and great increase
of kingdoms and lordships, with the will and disposition to
increase the holy Christian religion as you have done hitherto.
Amen!” ‘

“To-day I got the ship afloat, and prepared to depart on
Thursday, in the name of God, and to steer S.E. in search
of gold and spices, and to discover land.”

These are the words of the Admiral, who intended to depart
on Thursday, but, the wind being contrary, he could not go
until the 12th of November.

Monday, 12th of November

The Admiral left the port and river of Mares before dawn
to visit the island called Babeque, so much talked of by the
Indians on board, where, according to their signs, the people
gather the gold on the beach at night with candles, and after-
wards beat it into bars with hammers." To go thither it was
necessary to shape a course E. b. S. After having made 8
leagues along the coast, a river was sighted, and another 4
leagues brought them to another river, which appeared to be
of great volume, and larger than any they had yet seen. The
Admiral did not wish to stop nor to enter any of these rivers,
for two reasons: the first and principal one being that wind
and weather were favorable for going in search of the said
island of Babeque; the other, that, if there was a populous
and famous city near the sea, it would be visible, while, to go
up the rivers, small vessels are necessary, which those of the
expedition were not. Much time would thus be lost; more-
over, the exploration of such rivers is a separate enterprise.
All that coast was peopled near the river, to which the name of
Rio del Sol was given.

! In Las Casas, I. 339, Bohio is mentioned with Babeque, and it is in
Bohio that the people were reported to gather gold on the beach.
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The Admiral says that, on the previous Sunday, the 11th of
November, it seemed good to take some persons from amongst
those at Rio de Mares, to bring to the Sovereigns, that they
might learn our language, so as to be able to tell us what there
is in their lands. Returning, they would be the mouthpieces
of the Christians, and would adopt our customs and the things
of the faith. “I saw and knew” (says the Admiral) ‘“‘that
these people are without any religion, not idolaters, but very
gentle, not knowing what is evil, nor the sins of murder
and theft, being without arms, and so timid that a hundred
would fly before one Spaniard, although they joke with them.!
They, however, believe and know that there is a God in heaven,
and say that we have come from Heaven. At any prayer that
we say, they repeat, and make the sign of the cross. Thus
your Highnesses should resolve to make them Christians, for
I believe that, if the work was begun, in a little time a multi-
tude of nations would be converted to our faith, with the ac-
quisition of great lordships, peoples, and riches for Spain.
Without doubt, there is in these lands a vast quantity of gold,
and the Indians I have on board do not speak without reason
when they say that in these islands there are places where they
dig out gold, and wear it on their necks, ears, arms, and legs,
the rings being very large. There are also precious stones,
pearls, and an infinity of spices. In this river of Mares, whence
we departed to-night, there is undoubtedly a great quantity
of mastie, and much more could be raised, because the trees
may be planted, and will yield abundantly. The leaf and fruit
are like the mastic, but the tree and leaf are larger. As
Pliny desecribes it, I have seen it on the island of Chios in the
Archipelago. . I ordered many of these trees to be tapped,
to see if any of them would yield resin; but, as it rained all
the time I was in that river, I could not get any, except a very
little, which I am bringing to your Highnesses. It may not be
the right season for tapping, which is, I believe, when the trees
come forth after winter and begin to flower. But when I was
there the fruit was nearly ripe. Here also there is a great

! e., although the Spaniards may be only fooling with them.
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quantity of cotton, and I believe it would have a good sale
here without sending it to Spain, but to the great cities of the
Gran Can,' which will be discovered without doubt, and many
others ruled over by other lords, who will be pleased to serve
your Highnesses, and whither will be brought other commodi-
ties of Spain and of the Eastern lands; but these are to the
west as regards us. There is also here a great yield of aloes,?
though this is not a commodity that will yield great profit.
The mastic, however, is important, for it is only obtained
from the said island of Chios, and I believe the harvest is worth
50,000 ducats, if I remember right.®* There is here, in the
mouth of the river, the best port I have seen up to this time,
wide, deep, and clear of rocks. It is an excellent site for a
town and fort, for any ship could come close up to the walls;
the land is high, with a temperate climate, and very good
water.

“Yesterday a canoe came alongside the ship, with six
youths in it. Five came on board, and I ordered them to
be detained. They are now here. I afterwards sent to a
house on the western side of the river, and seized seven women,
old and young, and three children. T did this because the men
would behave better in Spain if they had women of their own
land, than without them. For on many occasions the men of
Guinea have been brought to learn the language in Portugal,
and afterwards, when they returned, and it was expected that

t An interesting forecast of the future which may be compared with
John Cabot’s; see one of the last pages of this volume.

% Linaloe. Lignaloes or agallochum, to be distinguished from the medic-
inal aloes. Both were highly prized articles of mediaeval Oriental trade.
Lignaloes is mentioned by Marco Polo as one of the principal commodities
exchanged in the market of Zaitun. It is also frequently mentioned in the
Bible. Cf. Numbers xxiv. 6, or Psalm xlv. 8, The aloes of Columbus were
probably the Barbadoes aloes of commerce, and the mastic the produce
of the Bursera gummifera. The last did not prove to be a commercial resin
like the mastic of Scio. See Encyclopedia Britannica under Aloes and Mastic,
and Heyd, Hustoire du Commerce du Levant auw Moyen Age, 11. 581, 633.

® The ducat being 9s. 2d. In the seventeenth century the value of
the mastic exported from Chios (Scio) was 30,000 ducats. Chios be-
longed to Genoa from 1346 to 1566. (Markham.)

L
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they would be useful in their land, owing to the good company
they had enjoyed and the gifts they had received, they never
appeared after arriving. Others may not act thus. But,
having women, they have the wish to perform what they are
required to do; besides, the women would teach our people
their language, which is the same in all these islands, so that
those who make voyages in their canoes are understood every-
where. On the other hand, there are a thousand different lan-
guages in Guinea, and one native does not understand another.

“The same night the husband of one of the women came
alongside in a canoe, who was father of the three children —
one boy and two girls. He asked me to let him come with
them, and besought me much. They are now all consoled at
being with one who is a relation of them all. He is a man of
about 45 years of age.”  All these are the words of the Admiral.
He also says that he had felt some cold, and that it would not
be wise to continue discoveries in a northerly direction in the
winter. On this Monday, until sunset, he steered a course
E. b. S., making 18 leagues, and reaching a cape, to which he
gave the name of Cabo de Cuba.

Tuesday, 13th of November

This night the ships were on a bowline, as the sailors say,
beating to windward without making any progress. At sun-
set they began to see an opening in the mountains, where two
very high peaks® were visible. It appeared that here was the
division between the land of Cuba and that of Bohio, and this
was affirmed by signs, by the Indians who were on board.
As soon as the day had dawned, the Admiral made sail toward
the land, passing a point which appeared at night to be distant
two leagues. IHe then entered a large gulf, 5 leagues to the
S.8.E., and there remained 5 more, to arrive at the point where,
between two great mountains, there appeared to be an open-
ing; but it could not be made out whether it was an inlet of
the sea. As he desired to go to the island called Babeque,

1 Las Sierras del Cristal and Las Sierras de Moa. (Navarrete.)
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where, according to the information he had received, there was
much gold; and as it bore east, and as no large town was in
sight, the wind freshening more than ever, he resolved to put
out to sea, and work to the east with a northerly wind. The
ship made 8 miles an hour, and from ten in the forenoon, when
that course was taken, until sunset, 56 miles, which is 14
leagues to the eastward from the Cabo de Cuba. The other
land of Bohio was left to leeward. Commencing from the cape
of the said gulf, he discovered, according to his reckoning, 80
miles, equal to 20 leagues, all that coast running E.S.E. and
W.N.W. ,
Wednesday, 14th of November

All last night the Admiral was beating to windward (he
sald that it would be unreasonable to navigate among those
islands during the night, until they had been explored), for
the Indians said yesterday that it would take three days to
go from Rio de Mares to the island of Babeque, by which
should be understood days’ journeys in their canoes equal to
about 7 leagues. The wind fell, and, the course being east,
she could not lay her course nearer than S.E., and, owing to
other mischances, he was detained until the morning. At
sunrise he determined to go in search of a port, because the
wind had shifted from north to N.E., and, if a port could not
be found, it would be necessary to go back to the ports in the
island of Cuba, whence they came. The Admiral approached
the shore, having gone over 28 miles E.S.E. that night. He
steered south . . . miles to the land, where he saw many
islets and openings. As the wind was high and the sea rough,
he did not dare to risk an attempt to enter, but ran along the
coast W.N.W., looking out for a port, and saw many, but none
very clear of rocks. After having proceeded for 64 miles,
he found a very deep opening, a quarter of a mile wide, with
a good port and river. He ran in with her head S.S.W.,
afterwards south to S.E. The port® was spacious and very
deep, and he saw so many islands that he could not count them

! Puerto de Taxamo, in Cuba. (N avarrete.)
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all, with very high land covered with trees of many kinds, and
an infinite number of palms. He was much astonished to see
so many lofty islands; and assured the Sovereigns that the
mountains and isles he had seen since yesterday seemed to him
to be second to none in the world ; so high and clear of clouds
and snow, with the sea at their bases so deep. He believes
that these islands are those innumerable ones that are depicted
on the maps of the world in the Far East.,' He believed that
they yielded very great riches in precious stones and spices,
and that they extend much further to the south, widening out
in all directions. He gave the name of La Mar de Nuestra
Sefiora, and to the haven, which is near the mouth of the en-
trance to these islands, Puerto del Principe. e did not enter
it, but examined it from outside, until another time, on Satur-
day of the next week, as will there appear. He speaks highly
of the fertility, beauty, and height of the islands which he found
in this gulf, and he tells the Sovereigns not to wonder at his
praise of them, for that he has not told them the hundredth
part. Some of them seemed to reach to heaven, running
up into peaks like diamonds., Others rising to a great height
have a flat top like a table. At their bases the sea is of a
great depth, with enough water for a very large carrack. All
are covered with foliage and without rocks.

Thursday, 15th of November

The Admiral went to examine these islands in the ships’
boats, and speaks marvels of them, how he found mastic,
and aloes without end. Some of them were cultivated with the
roots of which the Indians make bread; and he found that
" fires had been lighted in several places. He saw no fresh water.
There were some natives, but they fled. In all parts of the sea
where the vessels were navigated he found a depth of 15 or
16 fathoms, and all basa, by which he means that the ground

t Cf. Fra Mauro’s Map (1457-1459), Bourne, Spain in America, 14, and
Behaim’s Globe, Winsor’s Columbus, p. 186, or Fiske’s Discovery of Amer-
ica, 1. 422.
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is sand, and not rocks; a thing much desired by sailors, for
the rocks cut their anchor cables, '

Friday, 16th of November

Asin all parts, whether islands or mainlands, that he visited,
the Admiral always left a cross; so, on this occasion, he went
in a boat to the entrance of these havens, and found two very
large trees on a point of land, one longer than the other. One
being placed over the other, made a cross, and he said that a
carpenter could not have made it better. He ordered a very
large and high cross to be made out of these timbers. Hefound
canes on the beach, and did not know where they had grown,
but thought they must have been brought down by some river,
and washed up on the beach (in which opinion he had reason).
He went to a creek on the south-east side of the entrance to
the port. Here, under a height of rock and stone like a cape,
there was depth enough for the largest carrack in the world
close in shore, and there was a corner where six ships might
lie without anchors as in a room. It seemed to the Admiral
that a fortress might be built here at small cost, if at any time
any famous trade should arise in that sea of islands.

Returning to the ship, he found that the Indians who were
on board had fished up very large shells found in those seas.
He made the people examine them, to see if there was mother-
o’-pearl, which is in the shells where pearls grow. They found
a great deal, but no pearls, and their absence was attributed
to its not being the season, which is May and June. The sailors
found an animal which seemed to be a taso, or taxo.! They
also fished with nets, and, among many others, caught a fish
which was exactly like a pig, not like a tunny, but all covered
with a very hard shell, without a soft place except the tail
and the eyes, and a hole underneath to discharge its superflu-
ities. It was ordered to be salted, to bring home for the Sov-
ereigns to see.’?

! Las Casas did not know the meaning of this word. In all probability
it is the Italian tasso, badger. Cf.p. 139, notel. The animal, Cuvier sug-
gested, was probably the coati.

? Cuvier conjectured this to be the trunk fish.
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Saturday, 17th of November

The Admiral got into the boat, and went to visit the islands
he had not yet seen to the S.W. Ile saw many more very
fertile and pleasant islands, with a great depth between them.
Some of them had springs of fresh water, and he believed that
the water of those streams came from some sources at the sum-
mits of the mountains. He went on, and found a beach bor-
dering on very sweet water, which was very cold. There was
a beautiful meadow, and many very tall palms. They found
a large nut of the kind belonging to India, great rats,' and
enormous crabs. He saw many birds, and there was a
strong smell of musk, which made him think it must be there.
This day the two eldest of the six youths brought from the
Rio de Mares, who were on board the caravel Nina, made their
escape.

Sunday, 18th of November

The Admiral again went away with the boats, accompanied
by many of the sailors, to set up the cross which he had or-
dered to be made out of the two large trees at the entrance to
the Puerto del Principe, on a fair site cleared of trees, whence
there was an extensive and very beautiful view. He says that
there is a greater rise and fall of the sea there than in any
other port he has seen, and that this is no marvel, considering
the numerous islands. The tide is the reverse of ours, be-
cause here, when the moon is S.8.W., it is low water in the
port. He did not get under way, because it was Sunday.

Monday, 19th of November

The Admiral got under way before sunrise, in a calm.
In the afternoon there was some wind from the east, and he
shaped a N.N.E. course. At sunset the Puerto del Principe
bore 8.S.W. 7 leagues. He saw the island of Babeque bear-
ing due east about 60 miles. He steered N.E. all that night,

* The agouti.
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making 60 miles, and up to ten o’clock of Tuesday another
dozen; altogether 18 leagues N.E. b. W.

Tuesday, 20th of November

They left Babeque, or the islands of Babeque, to the
E.S.E., the wind being contrary; and, seeing that no progress
was being made, and the sea was getting rough, the Admiral
determined to return to the Puerto del Principe, whence he had
started, which was 25 leagues distant. He did not wish
to go to the island he had called Isabella, which was twelve
leagues off, and where he might have anchored that night, for
two reasons: one was that he had seen two islands to the south
which he wished to explore; the other, because the Indians he
brought with him, whom he had taken at the island of Guana-~
hani, which he named San Salvador, eight leagues from
Isabella, might get away, and he said that he wanted them to
take to Spain. They thought that, when the Admiral had
found gold, he would let them return to their homes. He came
near the Puerto del Principe, but could not reach it, be-
cause it was night, and because the current drifted them to the
N.W. He turned her head to N.E. with a light wind. At
three o’clock in the morning the wind changed, and a course
was shaped E.N.E., the wind being S.S.W., and changing
at dawn to south and S.E. At sunset Puerto del Principe
bore nearly S.W. by W. 48 miles, which are 12 leagues.

Wednesday, 21st of November

At sunrise the Admiral steered east, with a southerly wind,
but made little progress, owing to a contrary sea. At vespers
he had gone 24 miles. Afterwards the wind changed to east,
and he steered S. b. E., at sunset having gone 12 miles. Here
he found himself forty-two degrees north of the equinoctial
line, as in the port of Mares, but he says that he kept the
result from the quadrant in suspense until he reached the shore,
that it might be adjusted (as it would seem that he thought
this distance was too great, and he had reason, it not being
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possible, as these islands are only in . .. degrees).! To
believe the quadrant was right he was led by seeing the north
star as high as in Castile. . . . Reinforcing this was the great
heat which he says he found there. . .. From this heat
which the Admiral says he endured there he argued that in
these Indies and where he was going there must be much
gold.”

This day Martin Alonso Pinzon parted company with the
caravel Pinta, in disobedience to and against the wish of the
Admiral, and out of avarice, thinking that an Indian who had
been put on board his caravel could show him where there was
much gold. So he parted company, not owing to bad weather,
but because he chose. Here the Admiral says: “He had done
and said many other things to me.”

Thursday, 22nd of November

On Wednesday night the Admiral steered S.8.E., with the
wind east, but it was nearly calm. At 3 it began to blow
from N.N.E.; and he continued to steer south to see the land
he had seen in that quarter. When the sun rose he was as far
off as the day before, owing to adverse currents, the land being
40 miles off. This night Martin Alonso shaped a course to the
east, to go to the island of Babeque, where the Indians say
there is much gold. He did this in sight of the Admiral, from
whom he was distant 16 miles. The Admiral stood towards
the land all night. He shortened sail, and showed a lantern,
because Pinzon would thus have an opportunity of joining him,
the night being very clear, and the wind fair to come, if he had
wished to do so.

! See p. 134, note 3. The words following *“ Port of Mares *’ should be
translated ““ but here he says that he has the quadrant hung up (or not in use)
until he reaches land to repair it. Since it seemed to him that this distance,”
etc. Las Casas omitted to insert the number of degrees in his comment.

? The sentences omitted are comments of Las Casas on these reflections
of Columbus.
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Friday, 23rd of November

The Admiral stood towards the land all day, always steering
south with little wind, but the current would never let them
reach it, being as far off at sunset as in the morning. The wind
was E.N.E., and they could shape a southerly course, but
there was little of it. Beyond this cape there stretched out
another land or cape, also trending east, which the Indians
on board called Bohio. They said that it was very large, and
that there were people in it who had one eye in their fore-
heads, and others who were cannibals, and of whom they were
much afraid.! When they saw that this course was taken,
they said that they could not talk to these people because they
would be eaten, and that they were very well armed. The
Admiral says that he well believes that there were such people,
and that if they are armed they must have some ability. Ie
thought that they may have captured some of the Indians,
and because they did not return to their homes, the others be-
lieved that they had been eaten. They thought the same of
the Christians and of the Admiral when some of them first
saw the strangers.

Saturday, 24th of November

They navigated all night, and at 3* they reached the level
island ® at the very same point they had come to the week
before, when they started for the island of Babeque. At first
the Admiral did not dare to approach theshore, because it seemed
that there would be a great surf in that mountain-girded bay.
Finally he reached the sea of Nuestra Sefiora, where there are
many islands, and entered a port near the mouth of the open-
ing to the islands. He says that if he had known of this port
before, he need not have occupied himself in exploring the
islands, and it would not have been necessary to go back. He,
however, considered that the time was well spent in examin-

* See p. 138, note 3.
2 A la hora de tercia, about 9 A.M. See p. 118, note 1.
® Cayo de Moa. (Navarrete.)



154 VOYAGES OF COLUMBUS [1492

ing the islands. On nearing the land he sent in the boat to
sound, finding a good sandy bottom in 6 to 20 fathoms. He
entered the haven, pointing the ship’s head S.W. and then
west, the flat island bearing north. This, with another island
near it, forms a harbor which would hold all the ships of Spain
safe from all winds. This entrance on the S.W. side is passed
by steering S.S.W., the outlet being to the west very deep
and wide. Thus a vessel can pass amidst these islands, and he
who approaches from the north, with a knowledge of them,
can pass along the coast. These islands are at the foot of a
great mountain-chain running east and west, which is longer
and higher than any others on this coast, where there are many.
A reef of rocks outside runs parallel with the said mountains,
like a bench, extending to the entrance. On the side of the
flat island, and also to the S.E., there is another small reef,
but between them there is great width and depth. Within
the port, near the S.E. side of the entrance, they saw a large
and very fine river," with more volume than any they had
yet met with, and fresh water could be taken from it as far as
the sea. At the entrance there is a bar, but within it is very
deep, 19 fathoms. The banks are lined with palms and many
other trees.

Sunday, 25th of November

Beforesunrise the Admiral got into the boat, and went to see
a cape or point of land ? to the S.E. of the flat island, about a
league and a half distant, because there appeared to be a good
riverthere. Presently,near to the S.E.side of the cape, at a dis-
tance of two cross-bow shots, he saw a large stream of beautiful
water falling from the mountains ® above, with a loud noise.
He went to it, and saw some stones shining in its bed like gold.*

! Rio de Moa. (Navarrete.)

? Punta del Mangle or del Guarico. (Navarrete.)

3 Sierras de Moa. (Navarrete.)

* “These must have been margaseta stones which look like gold in streams
and of which there is an abundance in the rivers of these islands.” Las
Casas, 1. 346.
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He remembered that in the river Tagus, near its junction with
the sea, there was gold; so it seemed to him that this should
contain gold, and he ordered some of these stones to be col-
lected, to be brought to the Sovereigns. Just then the sailor
boys called out that they had found large pines. The Admiral
looked up the hill, and saw that they were so wonderfully large
that he could not exaggerate their height and straightness,
like stout yet fine spindles. He perceived that here there was
material for great store of planks and masts for the largest
ships in Spain. He saw oaks and arbutus trees,* with a good
river, and the means of making water-power.? The climate
was temperate, owing to the height of the mountains. On the
beach he saw many other stones of the color of iron, and others
that some said were like silver ore, all brought down by the
river. IHere he obtained a new mast and yard for the mizzen
of the caravel Nifia. He came to the mouth of the river, and
entered a creek which was deep and wide, at the foot of that
S.E. part of the cape, which would accommodate a hundred
ships without any anchor or hawsers. Eyes never beheld a
better harbor. The mountains are very high, whence descend
many limpid streams, and all the hills are covered with pines,
and an infinity of diverse and beautiful trees. Two or three
other rivers were not visited.

The Admiral described all this, in much detail, to the Sov-
ereigns, and declared that he had derived unspeakable joy
and pleasure at seeing it, more especially the pines, because they
enable as many ships as is desired to be built here, bringing
out the rigging, but finding here abundant supplies of wood
and provisions. He affirms that he has not enumerated a
hundredth part of what there is here, and that it pleased our
Lord always to show him one thing better than another, as
well on the ground and among the trees, herbs, fruits, and
flowers, as in the people, and always something different in
each place. It had been the same as regards the havens and

! Madrofios.  Arbutus unedo or the Strawberry tree. The California
Madrofia is the Arbutus Menziesit.
? Rather, “for making sawmills.”
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the waters. Finally, he says that if it caused him who saw
it so much wonder, how much more will it affect those who hear
about it; yet no one can believe until he sees it.

Monday, 26th of November

At sunrise the Admiral weighed the anchors in the haven
of Santa Catalina, where he was behind the flat island, and
steered along the coast in the direction of Cabo del Pico, which
was S.E. - He reached the cape late, because the wind failed,
and then saw another cape, S.E. b. E. 60 miles, which, when
20 miles off, was named Cabo de Campana, but it could not be
reached that day. They made good 32 miles during the day,
which is 8 leagues. During this time the Admiral noted nine
remarkable ports,! which all the sailors thought wonderfully
good, and five large rivers; for they sailed close along the land,
so as to see everything, All along the coast there are very
high and beautiful mountains, not arid or rocky, but all acces-
sible, and very lovely. The valleys, like the mountains, were
full of tall and fine trees, so that it was a glory to look upon
them, and there seemed to be many pines. Also, beyond the
said Cabo de Pico to the S.E. there are two islets, each about
two leagues round, and inside them three excellent havens
and two large rivers. Along the whole coast no inhabited
places were visible from the sea. There may have been some,
and there were indications of them, for, when the men landed,
they found signs of people and numerous remains of fires. The
Admiral conjectured that the land he saw to-day S.E. of the
Cabo de Campana was the island called by the Indians Bohio:?
it looked as if this cape was separated from the mainland.
The Admiral says that all the people he has hitherto met with
have very great fear of those of Caniba or Canima. They affirm
that they live in the island of Bohio, which must be very large,
according to all accounts. The Admiral understood that those
of Caniba come to take people from their homes, they being

! Among these were the Bay of Yamanique, and the ports of Jaragua,

Taco, Cayaganueque, Nava, and Maravi., (Navarrete.)
? See p. 126, note 1.
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very cowardly, and without knowledge of arms. For this
cause it appears that these Indians do not settle on the sea-
coast, owing to being near the land of Caniba. When the na-
tives who were on board saw a course shaped for that land,
they feared to speak, thinking they were going to be eaten;
nor could they rid themselves of their fear. They declared that
the Canibas ! had only one eye and dogs’ faces. The Admiral
thought they lied, and was inclined to believe that it was peo-
ple from the dominions of the Gran Can who took them into
captivity.

Tuesday, 27th of November

Yesterday, at sunset, they arrived near a cape named
Campana by the Admiral; and, as the sky was clear and
the wind light, he did not wish to run in close to the land and
anchor, although he had five or six singularly good havens
under his lee. The Admiral was attracted on the one hand
by the longing and delight he felt to gaze upon the beauty and
freshness of those lands, and on the other by a desire to com-
plete the work he had undertaken. TFor these reasons he re-
mained close hauled, and stood off and on during the night.
But, as the currents had set him more than 5 or 6 leagues to
the S.E. beyond where he had been at nightfall, passing the
land of Campana, he came in sight of a great opening beyond
that cape, which seemed to divide one land from another,
leaving an island between them. He decided to go back,
with the wind S.E., steering to the point where the opening
had appeared, where he found that it was only a large
bay;? and at the end of it, on the S.E. side, there was a point
of land on which was a high and square-cut hill,* which had
looked like an island. A breeze sprang up from the north,
and the Admiral continued on a S.E. course, to explore the
coast and discover all that was there. Presently he saw, at the

1 The original of the words Cannibal and Carib and Caribbean. Cf. also
p. 138, note 3.

2 The port of Baracoa. (Navarrete.)

3 Monte del Yunque. (Navarrete.)
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foot of the Cabo de Campana, a wonderfully good port,' and
a large river, and, a quarter of a league on, another river, and
a third, and a fourth to a seventh at similar distances, from the
furthest one to Cabo de Campana being 20 miles S.E. Most
of these rivers have wide and deep mouths, with excellent
havens for large ships, without sandbanks or sunken rocks.
Proceeding onwards from the last of these rivers, on a S.E.
course, they came to the largest inhabited place they had yet
seen, and a vast concourse of people came down to the beach
with loud shouts, all naked, with their darts in their hands.
The Admiral desired to have speech with them, so he furled
sails and anchored. The boats of the ship and the caravel
were sent on shore, with orders to do no harm whatever to the
Indians, but to give them presents. The Indians made as if
they would resist the landing, but, seeing that the boats of the
Spaniards continued to advance without fear, they retired
from the beach. Thinking that they would not be terrified
if only two or three landed, three Christians were put on shore,
who told them not to be afraid, in their own language, for they
had been able to learn a little from the natives who were on
board. But all ran away, neither great nor small remaining.
The Christians went to the houses, which were of straw, and
built like the others they had seen, but found no one in any of
them. They returned to the ships, and made sail at noon in
the direction of a fine cape® to the eastward, about 8 leagues
distant. Having gone about half a league, the Admiral saw,
on the south side of the same bay, a very remarkable harbor,?
and to the S.I. some wonderfully beautiful country like a
valley among the mountains, whence much smoke arose, in-
dicating a large population, with signs of much cultivation.
So he resolved to stop at this port, and see if he could have
any speech or intercourse with the inhabitants. It was so
that, if the Admiral had praised the other havens, he must
praise this still more for its lands, climate, and people. He

! Port of Maravi. (Navarrete.)
? Punta de Maici. (Id.)
® Puerto de Baracoa. (Id.)
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tells marvels of the beauty of the country and of the trees,
there being palms and pine trees; and also of the great valley
which is not flat, but diversified by hill and dale, the most lovely
scene in the world. Many streams flow from it, which fall
from the mountains.

As soon as the ship was at anchor the Admiral jumped
into the boat, to get soundings in the port, which is the shape
of a hammer. When he was facing the entrance he found the
mouth of a river on the south side of suflicient width for a galley
to enter it, but so concealed that it is not visible until close to.
Entering it for the length of the boat, there was a depth of
from 5 to 8 fathoms. In passing up it the freshness and beauty
of the trees, the clearness of the water, and the birds, made it
all so delightful that he wished never to leave them. He said
to the men who were with him that to give a true relation
to the Sovereigns of the things they had seen, a thousand
tongues would not suffice, nor his hand to write it, for that it
was like a scene of enchantment. He desired that many
other prudent and credible witnesses might see it, and he was
sure that they would be as unable to exaggerate the scene as
he was.

The Admiral also says:— “How great the benefit that is
to be derived from this country would be, I cannot say. It
is certain that where there are such lands there must be an
infinite number of things that would be profitable. But I
did not remain long in one port, because I wished to see as
much of the country as possible, in order to make a report
upon it to your Highnesses; and besides, I do not know the
language, and these people neither understand me nor any other
in my company; while the Indians I have on board often
misunderstand. Moreover, I have not been able to see much
of the natives, because they often take to flight. But now,
if our Lord pleases, I will see as much as possible, and will
proceed by little and little, learning and comprehending; and
I will make some of my followers learn the language. For I
have perceived that there is only one language up to this
point. After they understand the advantages, I shall labor
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to make all these people Christians. They will become so
readily, because they have no religion nor idolatry, and your
Highnesses will send orders to build a city and fortress, and to
convert the people. I assure your Highnesses that it does not
appear to me that there can be a more fertile country nor a
better climate under the sun, with abundant supplies of water.
This is not like the rivers of Guinea, which are all pestilential.
I thank our Lord that, up to this time, there has not been a per-
son of my company who has had so much as a headache, or been
in bed from illness, except an old man who has suffered from
the stone all his life, and he was well again in two days. I
speak of all three vessels. If it will please God that your High-
nesses should send learned men out here, they will see the truth
of all I have said. I have related already how good a place
Rio de Mares would be for a town and fortress, and this is
perfectly true; but it bears no comparison with this place,
nor with the Mar de Nuestra Sefiora. For here there must be .
a large population, and very valuable productions, which I
hope to discover before I return to Castile. I say that if
Christendom will find profit among these people, how much
more will Spain, to whom the whole country should be subject.
Your Highnesses ought not to consent that any stranger
should trade here, or put his foot in the country, except Catho-
lic Christians, for this was the beginning and end of the
undertaking; namely, the increase and glory of the Christian
religion, and that no one should come to these parts who was
not a good Christian.” *

All the above are the Admiral’s words. He ascended the
river for some distance, examined some branches of it, and,
returning to the mouth, he found some pleasant groves of trees,
like a delightful orchard. Here he came upon a boat or

! With these suggestions for a colonial policy ¢f. Columbus’s more de-
tailed programme in his letter to Ferdinand and Isabella, pp. 273-277
below. In the Spanish policy of exclusion of foreigners from the colonies the
religious motive, as here, was quite as influential as the spirit of trade
monopoly. Las Casas, in making the same quotation from the Journal, re-
marks, 1. 351: “All these are his exact words, although some of them are
not perfect Castilian, since that was not the Admiral’s mother tongue.”
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canoa, dug out of one tree, as big as a fusta® of twelve
benches, fastened under a boat-house or bower made of wood,
and thatched with palm-leaves, so that it could be neither
injured by sun nor by the water. He says that here would
be the proper site for a town and fort, by reason of the good
port, good water, good land, and abundance of fuel.

Wednesday, 28th of November

The Admiral remained during this day, in consequence of
the rain and thick weather, though he might have run along
the coast, the wind being S.W., but he did not weigh, because
he was unacquainted with the coast beyond, and did not know
what danger there might be for the vessels. The sailors of
the two vessels went on shore to wash their clothes, and some
of them walked inland for a short distance. They found in-
dications of a large population, but the houses were all empty,
everyone having fled. They returned by the banks of another
river, larger than that which they knew of, at the port.

Thursday, 29th of November

The rain and thick weather continuing, the Admiral did
not get under way. Some of the Christians went to another
village to the N.W., but found no one, and nothing in the
houses. On the road they met an old man who could not run
away, and caught him. They told him they did not wish to
do him any harm, gave him a few presents, and let him go.
The Admiral would have liked to have had speech with him,
for he was exceedingly satisfied with the delights of that land,
and wished that a settlement might be formed there, judging
that it must support a large population. In one house they
found a cake of wax,” which was taken to the Sovereigns, the

! The fuste was a long, low boat propelled by oars or a sail. Tt is
represented in earlier English by “foist ”” and “fuste.”

? Las Casas, 1. 353, remarks, ““This wax was never made in the island
of Cuba, and this cake that was found came from the kingdom and provinces
of Yucatan, where there is an immense amount of very good yellow wax.”
He supposes that it might have come from the wrecks of canoes engaged

in trade along the coast of Yucatan.
M
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Admiral saying that where there was wax there were also a
thousand other good things. The sailors also found, in one
house, the head of a man in a basket, covered with another
basket, and fastened to a post of the house. They found the
same things in another village. The Admiral believed that
they must be the heads of some founder, or principal ancestor
of a lineage, for the houses are built to contain a great num-
ber of people in each; and these should be relations, and de-
scendants of a common ancestor.

Friday, 30th of November

They could not get under way to-day because the wind
was east, and dead against them. The Admiral sent 8 men
well armed, accompanied by two of the Indians he had on
board, to examine the villages inland, and get speech with the
people. They came to many houses, but found no one and
nothing, all having fled. They saw four youths who were
digging in their fields, but, as soon as they saw the Christians,
they ran away, and could not be overtaken. They marched
a long distance, and saw many villages and a most fertile
land, with much cultivation and many streams of water. Near
one river they saw a canoe dug out of a single tree, 95 palmos*
long, and capable of carrying 150 persons.

Saturday, 1st of December

They did not depart, because there was still a foul wind,
with much rain. The Admiral set up a cross at the entrance
of this port, which he called Puerto Santo,” on some bare
rocks. The point is that which is on the S.E. side of the en-
trance; but he who has to enter should make more over to the
N.W.; for at the foot of both, near the rock, there are 12

t About 70 feet. Las Casas adds the words, “it was most beautiful,”
and continues, “it is no wonder for there are in that island very thick and very
long and tall fragrant red cedars and commonly all their canoes are made
from these valuable trees.”

? Puerto de Baracoa. (Navarrete.)
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fathoms and a very clean bottom. At the entrance of the port,
toward the S.E. point, there is a reef of rocks above water,
sufficiently far from the shore to enable one to pass between if
it is necessary, for both on the side of the rock and the shore
there is a depth of 12 to 15 fathoms; and, on entering, a ship’s
head should be turned S.W.

Sunday, 2nd of December

The wind was still contrary, and they could not depart.
Every night the wind blows on the land, but no vessel need
be alarmed at all the gales in the world, for they eannot blow
home by reason of a reef of rocks at the opening to the haven,
etc. A sailor-boy found, at the mouth of the river, some stones
which looked as if they contained gold; so they were taken
to be shown to the Sovereigns. The Admiral says that there
are great rivers at the distance of a lombard shot.?

Monday, 3rd of December

By reason of the continuance of an easterly wind the Ad-
miral did not leave this port. He arranged to visit a very
beautiful headland a quarter of a league to the S.E. of the
anchorage. IHe went with the boats and some armed men.
At the foot of the cape there was the mouth of a fair river,
and on entering it they found the width to be a hundred paces,
with a depth of one fathom. Inside they found 12, 5, 4, and
2 fathoms, so that it would hold all the ships there are in Spain.
Leaving the river, they came to a cove in which were five very

t This reef actually exists on the S.E. side of the entrance to this port,
which is described with great accuracy by Columbus. (Navarrete.)

? Lombarda is the same as bombarda, bombard, the earliest type of
cannon. The name has nothing to do with Lombardy, but is simply the
form which was used in Castile in the fifteenth century while bombarda was
used elsewhere in the peninsula and in Europe. The average-sized bom-
bard was a twenty-five pounder. Diccionario Enciclopedico Hispano-Ameri-
cano, art. lombardo, based on Ardutegui, Apunies Histdricos sobre la Artil-
leria Espafiola en los Siglos XIV y XV,
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large canoes,' so well constructed that it was a pleasure to
look at them. They were under spreading trees, and a path
led from them to a very well-built boat-house, so thatched that
neither sun nor rain could do any harm. Within it there was
another canoe made out of a single tree like the others, like a
fusta with 17 benches. It was a pleasant sight to look upon
such goodly work. The Admiral ascended a mountain, and
afterwards found the country level, and cultivated with many
things of that land, including such calabashes, as it was a glory
to look upon them.? In the middle there was a large village,
and they came upon the people suddenly; but, as soon as they
were seen, men and women took to flight. The Indian from
on board, who waswith the Admiral, cried out to them that they
need not be afraid, as the strangers were good people. The
Admiral made him give them bells, copper ornaments, and glass
beads, green and yellow, with which they were well content.
He saw that they had no gold nor any other precious thing,
and that it would suffice to leave them in peace. The whole
distriet was well peopled, the rest having fled from fear. The
Admiral assures the Sovereigns that ten thousand of these
men would run from ten, so cowardly and timid are they.
No arms are carried by them, except wands,’ on the point of
which a short piece of wood is fixed, hardened by fire, and these
they are very ready to exchange. Returning to where he had
left the boats, he sent back some men up the hill, because he
fancied he had seen a large apiary. Before those he had sent

1 This line should be, ““in which he saw five very large almadias{low, light
boats] which the Indians call canoas, like justas, very beautiful and so well
constructed,” ete. “Canoe’ is one of the few Arawak Indian words to have
become familiar English.

2 Rather, “ He went up a mountain and then he found it all level and
planted with many things of the country and gourds so that it was glorious
to see it.” De Candolle believes the calabash or gourd to have been intro-
duced into America from Africa. CJf. his Origin of Cultivated Plants, pp.
245 ff. Oviedo, however, in his Historia General y Natural de Indias, lib.
VIIL, eap. VIIL, says that the calabagas of the Indies were the same as
those in Spain and were cultivated not to eat but to use the shells as
vessels.

¢ Rather, “rods.”
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could return, they were joined by many Indians, and they
went to the boats, where the Admiral was waiting with all his
people. One of the natives advanced into the river near the
stern of the boat, and made a long speech, which the Admiral
did not understand. At intervals the other Indians raised
their hands to Heaven, and shouted. The Admiral thought
he was assuring him that he was pleased at his arrival; but he
saw the Indian who came from the ship change the color of
his face, and turn as yellow as wax, trembling much, and let-
ting the Admiral know by signs that he should leave the river,
as they were going to kill him. He pointed to a cross-bow
which one of the Spaniards had, and showed it to the Indians,
and the Admiral let it be understood that they would all be
slain, because that cross-bow carried far and killed people.
He also took a sword and drew it out of the sheath, showing
it to them, and saying the same, which, when they had heard,
they all took to flight; while the Indian from the ship still
trembled from cowardice, though he was a tall, strong man.
The Admiral did not want to leave the river, but pulled tow-
ards the place where the natives had assembled in great num-
bers, all painted, and as naked as when their mothers bore
them. Some had tufts of feathers on their heads, and all had
their bundles of darts.

The Admiral says: “I came to them, and gave them some
mouthfuls of bread, asking for the darts, for which I gave in
exchange copper ornaments, bells, and glass beads. This
made them peaceable, so that they came to the boats again,
and gave us what they had. The sailors had killed a turtle,
and the shell was in the boat in pieces. The sailor-boys gave
them some in exchange for a bundle of darts. These are like
the other people we have seen, and with the same belief that
we came from Heaven. They are ready to give whatever
thing they have in exchange for any trifle without saying it
is little; and I believe they would do the same with gold and
spices if they had any. I saw a fine house, not very large,
and with two doors, as all the rest have. On entering, I saw
a marvellous work, there being rooms made in a peculiar way,
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that I scarcely know how to describe it. Shells and other
things were fastened to the ceiling. I thought it was a temple,
and I called them and asked, by signs, whether prayers were
offered up there. They said that they were not, and one of
them climbed up and offered me all the things that were there,
of which I took some.”

Tuesday, 4th of December

The Admiral made sail with little wind, and left that port,
which he called Puerto Santo. After going two leagues, he
saw the great river ! of which he spoke yesterday. Passing
along the land, and beating to windward on S.E. and W.N.W.
courses, they reached Cabo Lindo,” which is E.S.E. 5 leagues
from Cabo del Monte. A league and a half from Cabo del
Monte there is an important but rather narrow river, which
seemed to have a good entrance, and to be deep. Three-
quarters of a league further on, the Admiral saw another very
large river, and he thought it must have its source ata great
distance. It had a hundred paces at its mouth, and no bar,
with a depth of 8 fathoms. The Admiral sent the boat in,
to take soundings, and they found the water fresh until it
enters the sea.

This river had great volume, and must have a large popu-
lation on its banks. Beyond Cabo Lindo there is a great bay,
which would be open for navigation to E.N.E. and S.E.
and S.S.W.

Wednesday, 5th of December

All this night they were beating to windward off Cape
Lindo, to reach the land to the east, and at sunrise the Admiral
sighted another cape,® two and a half leagues to the east.
Having passed it, he saw that the land trended S. and S.W.,

! Rio Boma. (Navarrete.)

? Punta del Fraile. (Id.)
® Punta de los Azules. (/d.)
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and presently saw a fine high cape in that direction, 7 leagues
distant.! He would have wished to go there, but his object
was to reach the island of Babeque, which, according to the
Indians, bore N.E.; so he gave up the intention. He could not
go to Babeque either, because the wind was N.E. Looking
to the S.E., he saw land, which was a very large island, accord-
ing to the information of the Indians, well peopled, and called
by them Bohio.? The Admiral says that the inhabitants of
Cuba, or Juana,® and of all the other islands, are much afraid
of the inhabitants of Bohio, because they say that they eat
people. The Indians relate other things, by signs, which are
very wonderful; but the Admiral did not believe them. He
only inferred that those of Bohio must have more cleverness
and cunning to be able to capture the others, who, however,
are very poor-spirited. The wind veered from N.E. to North,
so the Admiral determined to leave Cuba, or Juana, which, up
to this time, he had supposed to be the mainland, on account
of its size, having coasted along it for 120 leagues.* He shaped
a course S.E. b. E., the land he had sighted bearing S.E. ;
taking this precaution because the wind always veered from
N. to N.E. again, and thence to east and S.E. The wind in-
creased, and he made all sail, the current helping them; so
that they were making 8 miles an hour from the morning until
one in the afternoon (which is barely 6 hours, for they say
that the nights were nearly 15 hours). Afterwards they went
10 miles an hour, making good 88 miles by sunset, equal to
22 leagues, all to the S.E. As night was coming on, the

! Las Casas, I. 359, says, “This high and beautiful cape whither he
would have liked to go I believe was Point Mayci, which is the extreme end
of Cuba toward the east.” According to the modern maps of Cubait must
have been one of the capes to the southwest of Point Maici.

2 Cf. note 57. Las Casas, I. 359, remarks, “Its real name was Hayti,
the last syllable long and accented.” He thinks it possible that the cape
first sighted may have been called Bohio.

3 Columbus gave Cuba the name Juana ‘“in memory of Prince Juan the
heir of Castile.” Historle, p. 83.

4+ “In leaving the cape or eastern point of Cuba he gave it the name
Alpha and Omega, which means beginning and end, for he believed that this
cape was the end of the mainland in the Orient.” Las Casas, 1. 360.
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Admiral ordered the caravel Nifia, being a good sailer, to pro-
ceed ahead, so as to sight a harbor at daylight. Arriving at
the entrance of a port which was like the Bay of Cadiz, while
it was still dark, a boat was sent in to take soundings, which
showed a light from a lantern. Before the Admiral could beat
up to where the caravel was, hoping that the boat would show
a leading-mark for entering the port, the candle in the lantern
went out. The caravel, not seeing the light, showed a light
to the Admiral, and, running down to him, related what had
happened. The boat’s crew then showed another light, and
the caravel made for it; but the Admiral could not do so, and
was standing off and on all night.

Thursday, 6th of December

When daylight arrived the Admiral found himself four
leagues from the port, to which he gave the name of Puerto
Maria," and to a fine cape bearing S.S.W. he gave the name of
Cabo de la Estrella.? It seemed to be the furthest point of the
island towards the south, distant 28 miles. Another point of
land, like an island, appeared about 40 miles to the east. To
another fine point, 54 miles to the east, he gave the name of
Cabo del Elefante,® and he called another, 28 miles to the S.E.,
Cabo de Cinquin. There was a great opening or bay, which
might be the mouth of a river,* distant 20 miles. It seemed
that between Cabo del Elefante and that of Cinquin there was
a great opening,® and some of the sailors said that it formed
an island, to which the name of Isla de la Tortuga ® was given.
The island appeared to be very high land, not closed in with
mountains, but with beautiful valleys, well cultivated, the
crops appearing like the wheat on the plain of Cordova in May.

! The port of St. Nicholas Mole, in Hayti, (Navarrete.)
2 Cape of St. Nicholas. (Id.)

® Punta Palmista. (/d.)

* Puerto Escudo. (Id.)

® The channel between Tortuga Island and the main.

¢ Tortoise.
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That night they saw many fires, and much smoke, as if from
workshops,! in the day time; it appeared to be a signal made
by people who were at war. All the coast of this land trends
to the east.

At the hour of vespers the Admiral reached this port, to
which he gave the name of Puerto de San Nicolas, in honor
of St. Nicholas, whose day it was;? and on entering it he was
astonished at its beauty and excellence. Although he had
given great praise to the ports of Cuba, he had no doubt that
this one not only equalled, but excelled them, and none of
them are like it. At the entrance it is a league and a half wide,
and a vessel’s head should be turned S.8.E., though, owing
to the great width, she may be steered on any bearing that is
convenient ; proceeding on this course for two leagues.® On
the south side of the entrance the coast forms a cape, and
thence the course is almost the same as far as a point where
there is a fine beach, and a plain covered with fruit-bearing
trees of many kinds; so that the Admiral thought there must
be nutmegs and other spices among them, but he did not
know them, and they were not ripe. There is a river falling
into the harbor, near the middle of the beach. The depth of
this port is surprising, for, until reaching the land, for a dis-
tance of . . .* the lead did not reach the bottom at 40 fathoms;
and up to this length there are 15 fathoms with a very clean
bottom. Throughout the port there is a depth of 15 fathoms,
with a clean bottom, at a short distance from the shore; and
all along the coast there are soundings with clean bottom, and
not a single sunken rock. Inside, at the length of a boat’s
oar from the land, there are 5 fathoms. Beyond the limit of
the port to the S.8.E. a thousand carracks could beat up.

t Atalayas,  watchtowers.”

? This method of giving names in honor of the saint on whose day a new
cape or river was discovered was very commonly followed during the period
of discoveries, and sometimes the date of a discovery, or the direction of a
voyage, or other data can be verified by comparing the names given with the
calendar. ‘

3 This clause should be “ It extends in this manner to the south-south-
east two leagues.”

* A gap in the manuscript.
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One branch of the port to the N.E. runs into the land for a
long half league, and always the same width, as if it had been
measured with a cord. Being in this creek, which is 25 paces
wide, the principal entrance to the harbor is not in sight, so
that it appears land-locked." The depth of this creek is 11
fathoms throughout, all with clean bottom; and close to the
land, where one might put the gangboards on the grass, there
are eight fathoms.

The whole port is open to the air, and clear of trees. All
the island appeared to be more rocky than any that had been
discovered. The trees are smaller, and many of them of the
same kinds as are found in Spain, such as the ilex, the arbutus,
and others, and it is the same with the herbs, It isa very high
country, all open and clear, with a very fine air, and no such
cold has been met with elsewhere, though it cannot be called
cold except by comparison. Towards the front of the haven
there is a beautiful valley, watered by a river; and in that dis-
trict there must be many inhabitants, judging from the number
of large canoes, like galleys, with 15 benches. All the natives
fled as soon as they saw the ships. The Indians who wereon
board had such a longing to return to their homes that the
Admiral considered whether he should not take them back
when he should depart from here. They were already suspi-
cious, because he did not shape a course towards their country;
whence he neither believed what they said, nor could he under-
stand them, nor they him, properly. The Indians on board
had the greatest fear in the world of the people of this island.
In order to get speech of the people it would be necessary to
remain some days in harbor; but the Admiral did not do so,
because he had to continue his discoveries, and because he
could not tell how long he might be detained. He trusted in
our Lord that the Indians he brought with him would under-
stand the language of the people of thisisland; and afterwards
he would communicate with them, trusting that it might please
God’s Majesty that he might find trade in gold before he re-
turned.

! This is the “Carenero,” within the port of 8t. Nicholas. (Navarrete.)
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Friday, Tth of December

At daybreak the Admiral got under way, made sail,
and left the port of St. Nicholas. Ie went on with the wind
in the west for two leagues, until he reached the point which
forms the Carenero, when the angle in the coast bore S.E.,
and the Cabo de la Estrella was 24 miles to the SSW. Thence
he steered along the coast eastward to Cabo Cinquin about
48 miles, 20 of them being on an E.N.E. coast. All the coast
is very high, with a deep sea. Close in shore there are 20 to
30 fathoms, and at the distance of a lombard-shot there is no
bottom; all which the Admiral discovered that day, as he
sailed along the coast with the wind S.W., much to his satis-
faction. The cape, which runs out in the port of St. Nicholas
the length of a shot from a lombard, could be made an island
by cutting across it, while to sail round it is a circuit of 3 or 4
miles. All that land is very high, not clothed with very high
trees, but with ilex, arbutus, and others proper to the land of
Castile. Before reaching Cape Cinquin by two leagues, the
Admiral discovered a small roadstead* like an opening in the
mountains, through which he could see a very large valley, cov-
ered with crops like barley, and he therefore judged that it must
sustain a large population. Behind there was a high range of
mountains. On reaching Cabo Cinquin, the Cabo de la Tortuga
bore N.E. 32 miles.? Off Cabo Cinquin, at the distance of a
lombard-shot, there is a high rock, which is a good landmark.
The Admiral being there, he took the bearing of Cabo del Ele-
fante, which was E.S.E. about 70 miles,® the intervening land
being very high. Atadistanceof 6 leagues there was a conspicu-
ous cape,* and he saw many large valleys and plains, and high
mountains inland, all reminding him of Spain. After 8 leagues
he came to a very deep but narrow river, though a carrack

1 Accepting Navarrete’s conjecture of abrezuela or anglezuela for the
reading agrezuela of the text.

2 Tt should be north 11 miles. (Navarrete.)

3 This is an error. It should be 15 miles. (Navarrete.) The direction

al Leste cuarta del Sueste is East by South.
¢ Puerto Escudo. = (Navarrete.)
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might easily enter it, and the mouth without bar or rocks.
After 16 miles there was a wide and deep harbor,! with on bot-
tom at the entrance, nor, at 3 paces from the shore, less than
15 fathoms; and it runs inland a quarter of a league. It
being yet very early, only one o’clock in the afternoon, and the
wind being aft and blowing fresh, yet, as the sky threatened
much rain, and it was very thick, which is dangerous even on a
known coast, how much more in an unknown country, the
Admiral resolved to enter the port, which he called Puerto
de la Concepcion. Ie landed near a small river at the point
of the haven, flowing from valleys and plains, the beauty of
which was a marvel to behold. He took fishing-nets with him ;
and, before he landed, a mullet, like those of Spain, jumped into
the boat, this being the first time they had seen fish resembling
the fish of Castile. The sailors caught and killed others
and soles and other fish like those of Castile. Walking a
short distance inland, the Admiral found much land under
cultivation, and heard the singing of nightingales and other
birds of Castile. Five men were seen, but they would not
stop, running away. The Admiral found myrtles and other
trees and plants, like those of Castile, and so also were the
land and mountains.?

Saturday, 8th of December

In this port there was heavy rain, with a fresh breeze from
the north. ~ The harbor is protected from all winds except the
north; but even this can do no harm whatever, because there
is a great surf outside, which prevents such a sea within the
river as would make a ship work on her cables. After midnight
the wind veered to N.E., and then to east, from which winds
this port is well sheltered by the island of Tortuga, distant
36 miles.®

! Bahia Mosquito. (Navarrete.)

?Cuvier notes that neither the nightingale proper nor the Spanish
myrtle are found in America.

8 It should be 11 miles. = (Navarrete.)
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Sunday, 9th of December

To-day it rained, and the weather was wintry, like October
in Castile. No habitations had been secen except a very beau-
tiful house in the Puerto de 8. Nicolas, which was better built
than any that had been in other parts. ‘‘The island is very
large,” says the Admiral: “it would not be much if it has a
circumference of 200 leagues. All the parts he had seen were
well cultivated. He believed that the villages must be at a
distance from the sea, whither they went when the ships ar-
rived ; for they all took to flight, taking everything with them,
and they made smoke-signals, like a people at war.”” This port
has a width of a thousand paces at its entrance, equal to a quar-
ter of a league. There is neither bank nor reef within, and
there are scarcely soundings close in shore. Its length, run-
ning inland, is 3000 paces, all clean, and with a sandy bottom;
so that any ship may anchor in it without fear, and enter it
without precaution. At the upper end there are the mouths
of two rivers, with the most beautiful champaign country,
almost like the lands of Spain: these even have the advantage ;
for which reasons the Admiral gave the name of the said island
Isla Espafiola.!

Monday, 10th of December

It blew hard from the N.E., which made them drag their
anchors half a cable’s length. This surprised the Admiral,

1 ] .e., Spanish Isle, not “Little Spain,” which is sometimes erroneously
given in explanation of the Latin Hispaniola. This last is a Latinized form
of Espafiola and not a diminutive. Las Casas, I. 367, in the corresponding
passage, has “Seeing the greatness and beauty of this island and its resem-
blance to Spain although much superior and that they had caught fish in it
like the fish of Castile and for other similar reasons he decided on December
9 when in the harbor of Concepcion to name this island Spanish Island.”

At a period some time later than his first voyage Columbus decided that
Espafiola and Cipango were the same and also identical with the Ophir of
the Bible. Cf. his marginal note to Landino’s Italian translation of Pliny’s
Natural History, “la isola de Feyti, vel de Ofir, vel de Cipango, a la quale
habio posto nome Spagnola.” Raccolta Colombiana, pt. 1., vol. IL, p. 472.
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who had seen that the anchors had taken good hold of the
ground. As he saw that the wind was foul for the direction in
which he wanted to steer, he sent six men on shore, well armed,
to go two or three leagues inland, and endeavor to open com-
munications with the natives. They came and returned with-
out having seen either people or houses. But they found some
hovels, wide roads, and some places where many fires had been
made. They saw excellent lands, and many mastic trees,
some specimens of which they took; but this is not the time
for collecting it, as it does not coagulate.

Tuesday, 11th of December

The Admiral did not depart, because the wind was still
east and S.E. In front of this port, as has been said, is the
island of La Tortuga. It appears to be a large island, with the
coast almost like that of Espaiiola, and the distance between
them is about ten leagues.! Tt is well to know that from the
Cabo de Cinquin, opposite Tortuga, the coast trends to the
south. The Admiral had a great desire to see that channel
between these two islands, and to examine the island of Es-
pafiola, which is the most beautiful thing in the world. Ac-
cording to what the Indians said who were on board, he would
have to go to the island of Babeque. They declared that it
was very large, with great mountains, rivers, and valleys; and
that the island of Bohio was larger than Juana, which they call
Cuba, and that it is not surrounded by water. They seem to
imply that there is mainland behind Espafiola, and they call
it Caritaba, and say it is of vast extent. They have reason in
saying that the inhabitants are a clever race, for all the people
of these islands are in great fear of those of Caniba. So the
Admiral repeats, what he has said before, that Caniba is noth-
ing else but the Gran Can, who ought now to be very near.,
He sends ships to capture the islanders; and as they do not
return, their countrymen believe that they have been eaten.

! The distance is 11 miles. (Navarrete.)
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Each day we understand better what the Indians say, and they
us, so that very often we are intelligible to each other. The
Admiral sent people on shore, who found a great deal of mas-
tic, but did not gather it. He says that the rains make it,
and that in Chios they collect it in March. In these lands,
being warmer, they might take it in January. They caught
many fish like those of Castile — dace, salmon, hake, dory,
gilt heads, mullets, corbinas, shrimps,’ and they saw sardines.
They found many aloes.?

Wednesday, 12th of December

The Admiral did not leave the port to-day, for the same
reason: a contrary wind. e set up a great cross on the west
side of the entrance, on a very picturesque height, ‘‘in sign,”
he says, ‘““that your Highnesses hold this land for your own,
but chiefly as a sign of our Lord Jesus Christ.” This being
done, three sailors strolled into the woods to see the trees and
bushes. Suddenly they came upon a crowd of people, all
naked like the rest. They called to them, and went towards
them, but they ran away. At last they caught a woman; for
I had ordered that some should be caught, that they might
be treated well, and made to lose their fear. This would be a
useful event, for it could scarcely be otherwise, considering
the beauty of the country. So they took the woman, who was
very young and beautiful, to the ship, where she talked to the
Indians on board; for they all speak the same language.
The Admiral caused her to be dressed, and gave her glass
beads, hawks’ bells, and brass ornaments; then he sent her
back to the shore very courteously, according to his custom.

1 Camarones.

2 The proper English equivalents for these names in the original are hard
to find. The corbina was a black fish and the name is found in both Spanish
and Portuguese. Pdmpanos is translated “giltheads,” but the name is
taken over into English as “pompano.” Tt must be remembered that in
many cases the names of European species were applied to American species

which resembled them but which were really distinet species of the same
genus.
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He sent three of the crew with her, and three of the Indians he
had on board, that they might open communications with her
people. The sailors in the boat, who took her on shore, told
the Admiral that she did not want to leave the ship, but
would rather remain with the other women he had seized at
the port of Mares, in the island of Juana or Cuba. The In-~
dians who went to put the woman on shore said that the natives
came in a canoe, which is their caravel, in which they navigate
from one place to another; but when they came to the en-
trance of the harbor, and saw the ships, they turned back,
left the canoe, and took the road to the village. The woman
pointed out the position of the village. She had a piece of
gold in her nose, which showed that there was gold in that
island.

Thursday, 13th of December

The three men who had been sent by the Admiral with the
woman returned at 3 o’clock in the morning, not having gone
with her to the village, because the distance appeared to be
long, or because they were afraid. They said that next day
many people would come to the ships, as they would have been
reassured by the news brought them by the woman. The
Admiral, with the desire of ascertaining whether there were
any profitable commodities in that land, being so beautiful
and fertile, and of having some speech with the people,
and being desirous of serving the Sovereigns, determined to
send again to the village, trusting in the news brought by the
woman that the Christians were good people. For this ser-
vice he selected nine men well armed, and suited for such an
enterprise, with whom an Indian went from those who were on
board. They reached the village, which is 44 leagues to the
S.E., and found that it was situated in a very large and open
valley. As soon as the inhabitants saw the Christians coming
they all fled inland, leaving all their goods behind them. The-
village consisted of a thousand houses, with over three thou-
sand inhabitants. The Indian whom the Christians had brought
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with them ran after the fugitives, saying that they should have
no fear, for the Christians did not come from Cariba, but were
from Heaven, and that they gave many beautiful things to all
the people they met. They were so impressed with what he
said, that upwards of two thousand came close up to the Chris-
tians, putting their hands on their heads, which was & sign of
great reverence and friendship; and they were all trembling
until they were reassured. The Christians related that, as
soon as the natives had cast off their fear, they all went to the
houses, and each one brought what he had to eat, consisting
of yams," which are roots like large radishes, which they sow
and cultivate in all their lands, and is their staple food. They
make bread of it, and roast it. The yam has the smell of a
chestnut, and anyone would think he was eating chestnuts.
They gave their guests bread and fish, and all they had. As
the Indians who came in the ship had understood that the
Admiral wanted to have some parrots, one of those who ac-
companied the Spaniards mentioned this, and the natives
brought out parrots, and gave them as many as they wanted,
without asking anything for them. The natives asked the
Spaniards not to go that night, and that they would give them
many other things that they had in the mountains. While
all these people were with the Spaniards, a great multitude
was seen to come, with the husband of the woman whom the
Admiral had honored and sent away. They wore hair over
their shoulders, and came to give thanks to the Christians
for the honor the Admiral had done them, and for the gifts.
The Christians reported to the Admiral that this was a hand-
somer and finer people than any that had hitherto been met
with. But the Admiral says that he does not see how they
can be a finer people than the others, giving to understand that
all those he had found in the other islands were very well
conditioned. As regards beauty, the Christians said there was
no comparison, both men and women, and that their skins
are whiter than the others. They saw two girls whose skins
were as white as any that could be seen in Spain. They also

! Rather, “ bread of niames.” Cf. note, p. 139.
N
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said, with regard to the beauty of the country they saw, that
the best land in Castile could not be compared with it. The
Admiral also, comparing the lands they had seen before with
these, said that there was no comparison between them, nor
did the plain of Cordova come near them, the difference being
as great as between night and day. They said that all these
lands were cultivated, and that a very wide and large river
passed through the centre of the valley, and could irrigate
all the fields. All the trees were green and full of fruit, and
the plants tall and covered with flowers. The roads were
broad and good. The climate was like April in Castile; the
nightingale and other birds sang as they do in Spain during
that month, and it was the most pleasant place in the world.
Some birds sing sweetly at night. The crickets and frogs are
heard a good deal. The fish are like those of Spain. They
saw much aloe and mastic, and cotton-fields. Gold was not
found, and it is not wonderful that it should not have been
found in so short a time.

‘Here the Admiral calculated the number of hours in the
day and night, and from sunrise to sunset. He found that
twenty half-hour glasses passed, though he says that here
there may be a mistake, either because they were not turned
with equal quickness, or because some sand may not have
passed. Ile also observed with a quadrant, and found that
he was 34 degrees from the equinoctial line.!

Friday, 14th of December

The Admiral left the Puerto de la Concepcion with the land-
breeze, but soon afterwards it fell calm (and this is experienced
every day by those who are on this coast). Later an east wind
sprang up, so he steered N.N.E., and arrived at the island of
Tortuga. He sighted a point which he named Punta Pierna,
E.N.E. of the end of the island 12 miles; and from thence

! Las Casas, I. 373, says that at that season the length of the day in
Espafiola is somewhat over eleven hours. The correct latitude is 20°,
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another point was seen and named Punta Lanzada, in the
same N.E. direction 16 miles. Thus from the end of Tortuga,
to Punta Aguda the distance is 44 miles, which is 11 leagues
E.N.E. Along this route there are several long stretches of
beach. The island of Tortuga is very high, but not mountain-
ous, and is very beautiful and populous, like Espafiola, and the
land is cultivated, so that it looked like the plain of Cordova.
Seeing that the wind was foul, and that he could not steer for
the island of Baneque,' he determined to return to the Puerto
de la Concepcion whence he had come; but he could not fetch
a river which is two leagues to the east of that port.

Saturday, 15th of December

Once more the Admiral left the Puerto de la Concepcion,
but, on leaving the port, he was again met by a contrary east
wind. He stood over to Tortuga, and then steered with the
object of exploring the river he had been unable to reach yes-
terday; nor was he able to fetch the river this time, but he
anchored half a league to leeward of it, where there was clean
and good anchoring ground. As soon as the vessels were
secured, he went with the boats to the river, entering an arm
of the sea, which proved not to be the river. Returning, he
found the mouth, there being only one, and the current very
strong. He went in with the boats to find the villagers that
had been seen the day before. He ordered a tow-rope to be
got out and manned by the sailors, who hauled the boats up
for a distance of two lombard-shots. They could not get
further owing to the strength of the current. He saw some
houses, and the large valley where the villages were, and he
said that a more beautiful valley he had never seen, this river
flowing through the centre of it. He also saw people at the
entrance, but they all took to flight. He further says that
these people must be much hunted, for they live in such a
state of fear, When the ships arrived at any port, they pres-

! Elsewhere called Babeque. (Navarrete.)
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ently made signals by fires on heights throughout the country;
and this is done more in this island of Espafiola and in Tor-
tuga, which is also a large island, than in the others that were
visited before. He called this valley Valle del Paraiso,’ and
the river Guadalquivir; because he says that it is the size of
the Guadalquivir at Cordova. The banks consist of shingle,
suitable for walking.?

Sunday, 16th of December

At midnight the Admiral made sail with the land-breeze
to get clear of that gulf. Passing along the coast of Espaiola
on a bowline, for the wind had veered to the east, he met a
canoe in the middle of the gulf, with a single Indian in it. The
Admiral was surprised how he could have kept afloat with such
a gale blowing. Both the Indian and his canoe were taken on
board, and he was given glass beads, bells, and brass trinkets,
and taken in the ship, until she was off a village 17 miles from
the former anchorage, where the Admiral came to again. The
village appeared to have been lately built, for all the houses
were new. The Indian then went on shore in his canoe,
bringing the news that the Admiral and his companions were
good people; although the intelligence had already been con-
veyed to the village from the place where the natives had their
interview with the six Spaniards. Presently more than five
hundred natives with their king came to the shore opposite
the ships, which were anchored very close to the land, Pres-
ently one by one, then many by many, came to the ship with-
out bringing anything with them, except that some had a few
grains of very fine gold in their ears and noses, which they
readily gave away. The Admiral ordered them all to be well
‘treated; and he says: ‘‘for they are the best people in the
world, and the gentlest; and above all T entertain the hope
inour Lord that your Highnesseswill make them all Christians,

! Paradise Valley.

? Rather, “There are on the edges or banks of the shore many beautiful

stones and it is all suitable for walking.” The Spanish text seems to be
defective.
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and that they will be all your subjects, for as yours I hold
them.” He also saw that they all treated the king with
respect, who was on the sea-shore. The Admiral sent him a
present, which he received in great state. e was a youth of
about 21 years of age, and he had with him an aged tutor,
and other councillors who advised and answered him, but he
uttered very few words. One of the Indians who had come in
the Admiral’s ship spoke to him, telling him how the Christians
had come from Heaven, and how they came in search of gold,
and wished to find the island of Bareque. He said that it was
well, and that there was much gold in the said island. He
explained to the alguazil of the Admiral * that the way they
were going was the right way, and that in two days they would
be there; adding, that if they wanted anything from the
shore he would give it them with great pleasure. This king,
and all the others, go naked as their mothers bore them, as
do the women without any covering, and these were the most
beautiful men and women that had yet been met with. They
are fairly white, and if they were clothed and protected from
the sun and air, they would be almost as fair as people in
Spain. This land is cool, and the best that words can describe.
It is very high, yet the top of the highest mountain could be
ploughed with bullocks; and all is diversified with plains and
valleys. In all Castile there is no land that can be compared
with this for beauty and fertility. All this island, as well as
the island of Tortuga, is cultivated like the plain of Cordova.
They raise on these lands crops of yams,® which are small
branches, at the foot of which grow roots like carrots, which
serve as bread. They powder and knead them, and make them
irito bread; then they plant the same branch in another part,
which again sends out four or five of the same roots, which
are very nutritious, with the taste of chestnuts. Here they
have the largest the Admiral had seen in any part of the world.

! Diego de Arana of Cordova, a near relation of Beatriz Henriquez, the
mother of the Admiral’s son Fernando. (Markham.) Alguazil means con-
stable.

* Ajes. The same as mames. Cf. note, p. 139.
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for he says that they have the same plant in Guinea. At this
place they were as thick as a man’s leg. All the people were
stout and lusty, not thin, like the natives that had been seen
before, and of a very pleasant manner, without religious be-
lief. The trees were so luxuriant that the leaves left off being
green, and were dark colored with verdure. It was a wonder-
ful thing to see those valleys, and rivers of sweet water, and
the cultivated fields, and land fit for cattle, though they have
none, for orchards, and for anything in the world that a man
could seek for.

In the afternoon the king came on board the ship, where
the Admiral received him in due form, and caused him to be
told that the ships belonged to the Sovereigns of Castile, who
were the greatest princes in the world. But neither the In-
dians who were on board, who acted as interpreters, nor the
king, believed a word of it. They maintained that the Span-
iards came from Heaven, and that the Sovereigns of Castile
must be in Heaven, and not in this world. They placed
Spanish food before the king to eat, and he ate a mouthful,
and gave the rest to his councillors and tutor, and to the rest
who came with him.

“Your Highnesses may believe that these lands are so good
and fertile, especially these of the island of Espafiola, that there
is no one who would know how to describe them, and no one
who could believe if he had not seen them. And your High-
nesses may believe that this island, and all the others, are as
much yours as Castile. Here there is only wanting a settle-
ment and the order to the people to do what is required. For
I, with the force I have under me, which is not large, could
march over all these islands without opposition. I have seen
only three sailors land, without wishing to do harm, and a mul-
titude of Indians fled before them. They have no arms, and
are without warlike instincts; they all go naked, and are so
timid that a thousand would not stand before three of our men.
So that they are good to be ordered about, to work and sow,
and do all that may be necessary, and to build towns, and they
should be taught to go about clothed and to adopt our customs.”
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Monday, 17th of December

Tt blew very hard during the night from E.N.E., but there
was not much sea, as this part of the coast is enclosed and
sheltered by the island of Tortuga. The sailors were sent
away to fish with nets. They had much intercourse with the
natives, who brought them certain arrows of the Caniba or
Canibales. They are made of reeds, pointed with sharp bits
of wood hardened by fire, and are very long. They pointed
out two men who wanted certain pieces of flesh on their bodies,
giving to understand that the Canibales had eaten them by
mouthfuls. The Admiral did not believe it. Some Christians
were again sent to the village, and, in exchange for glass beads,
obtained some pieces of gold beaten out into fine leaf. They
saw one man, whom the Admiral supposed to be Governor of
that province, called by them Cacique,’ with a piece of gold
leaf as large as a hand, and it appears that he wanted to barter
withit. He went into his house, and the other remained in the
open space outside. He cut the leaf into small pieces, and each
time he came out he brought a piece and exchanged it. When
he had no more left, he said by signs that he had sent for more,
and that he would bring it another day. The Admiral says
that all these things, and the manner of doing them, with their
gentleness and the information they gave, showed these people
to be more lively and intelligent than any that bad hitherto
been met with. In the afternoon a canoe arrived from the
island of Tortuga with a crew of forty men; and when they
arrived on the beach, all the people of the village sat down in
sign of peace, and nearly all the crew came on shore. The
cacique rose by himself, and, with words that appeared to be
of & menacing character, made them go back to the canoe and
shove off. He took up stones from the beach and threw
them into the water, all having obediently gone back into the
canoe. He also took a stone and put it in the hands of my
Alguazil,? that he might throw it. He had been sent on shore

1 This Indian word survives in modern Spanish with the meaning politi-
cal boss.
2 Diego de Arana.
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with the Secretary * to see if the canoe had brought anything
of value. The alguazil did not wish to throw the stone.
That cacique showed that he was well disposed to the Admiral.
Presently the canoe departed, and afterwards they said to the
Admiral that there was more gold in Tortuga than in Espafiola,
because it is nearer to Baneque. The Admiral did not think
that there were gold mines either in Espafiola or Tortuga, but
that the gold was brought from Baneque in small quantities,
there being nothing to give in return. That land is so rich
that there is no necessity to work much to sustain life, nor to
clothe themselves, as they go naked. He believed that they
“were very near the source, and that our Lord would point out
where the gold has its origin. He had information that from
here to Baneque was four days’ journey, about 34 leagues,
which might be traversed with a fair wind in a single day.

Tuesday, 18th of December

The Admiral remained at the same anchorage, because
there was no wind, and also because the cacique had said that
he had sent for gold. The Admiral did not expect much from
what might be brought, but he wanted to understand better
whence it came. Presently he ordered the ship and caravel
to be adorned with arms and dressed with flags, in honor of the
feast of Santa Maria de la O,” or commemoration of the Annun-
ciation, which was on that day, and many rounds were fired
from the lombards. The king of that island of Espafiola had
got up very early and left his house, which is about five leagues
away, reaching the village at three in the morning. There

! Rodrigo de Escobedo.

? In Spain in earlier times the Annunciation was celebrated on December
18 to avoid having it come in Lent. When the Roman usage in regard to
Annunciation was adopted in Spain they instituted the Feast of our Lady’s
Expectation on December 18. Tt was called “The Feast of O because the
first of the greater antiphons is said in the vespers of its vigil.” Addis and
Arnold, Catholic Dictionary, under ““ Mary.” The series of anthems all begin
with “0.” '
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were several men from the ship in the village, who had been sent
by the Admiral to see if any gold had arrived. They said that
the king came with two hundred men ; that he was carried in a
litter by four men; and that he was a youth, as has already
been said. To-day, when the Admiral was dining under the
poop, the king came on board with all his people.

The Admiral says to the Sovereigns: “Without doubt,
his state, and the reverence with which he is treated by all
his people, would appear good to your Highnesses, though they
all go naked. When he came on board, he found that I was
dining at a table under the poop, and, at a quick walk, he came
to sit down by me, and did not wish that I should give place by
coming to receive him or rising from the table, but that I should
go on with my dinner. I thought that he would like to eat
of our viands, and ordered them to be brought for him to eat.
When he came under the poop, he made signs with his hand that
all the rest should remain outside, and so they did, with the
greatest possible promptitude and reverence. They all sat on
the deck, except the men of mature age, whom I believe to be
his councillors and tutor, who came and sat at his feet. Of
the viands which I put before him, he took of each as much as
would serve to taste it, sending the rest to his people, who all
partook of the dishes. The same thing in drinking: he just
touched with his lips, giving the rest to his followers. They
were all of fine presence and very few words. What they did
say, so far as I could make out, was very clear and intelligent.
The two at his feet watched his mouth, speaking to him and
for him, and with much reverence. After dinner, an atten-
dant brought a girdle, made like those of Castile, but of differ-
ent material, which he took and gave to me, with pieces of
worked gold, very thin. I believe they get very little here,
but they say that they are very near the place where it is found,
and where there is plenty. I saw that he was pleased with some
drapery I had over my bed, so I gave it him, with some very
good amber beads I wore on my neck, some colored shoes, and
a bottle of orange-flower water. He was marvellously well
content, and both he and his tutor and councillors were very
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sorry that they could not understand me, nor I them. How-
ever, I knew that they said that, if I wanted anything, the
whole island was at my disposal. I sent for some beads of
mine, with which, as a charm, I had a gold excelente,! on which
your Highnesses were stamped. I showed it to him, and said,
as I had done yesterday, that your Highnesses ruled the best
part of the world, and that there were no princes so great. I
also showed him the royal standards, and the others with a
cross, of which he thought much. He said to his councillors
what great lords your Highnesses must be to have sent me
from so far, even from Heaven to this country, without fear.
Many other things passed between them which I did not
understand, except that it was easy to see that they held
everything to be very wonderful.”

When it got late, and the king wanted to go, the Admiral
sent him on shore in his boat very honorably, and saluted him
with many guns. Having landed, he got into his litter, and
departed with his 200 men, his son being carried behind on
the shoulders of an Indian, a man highly respected. All the
sailors and people from the ships were given to eat, and treated
with much honor wherever they liked to stop. One sailor
said that he had stopped in the road and seen all the things
given by the Admiral. A man carried each one before the
king, and these men appeared to be among those who were
most respected. His son came a good distance behind the
king, with a similar number of attendants, and the same with
a brother of the king, except that the brother went on foot,
supported under the arms by two honored attendants. This
brother came to the ship after the king, and the Admiral
presented him with some of the things used for barter. It
was then that the Admiral learnt, that a king was called Cacique
in their language. This d&y Tittle gold was got by barter, but
the Admiral heard from an old man that there were many
neighboring islands, at a distance of a hundred leagues or
more, as he understood, in which much gold is found; and
there is even one island that was all gold. In the others there

! The excelente was worth two castellanos or about $6 in coin value.
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was so much that it was said they gather it with sieves, and
they fuse it and make bars, and work it in a thousand ways.
They explained the work by signs. This old man pointed out
to the Admiral the direction and position, and he determined
to go there, saying that if the old man had not been a principal
councillor of the king he would detain him, and make him go,
too; or if he knew the language he would ask him, and he
believed, as the old man was friendly with him and the other
Christians, that he would go of his own accord. But as these
people were now subjects of the King of Castile, and it would
not be right to injure them, he decided upon leaving him. The
Admiral set up a very large eross in the centre of the square
of that village, the Indians giving much help; they made
prayers and worshipped it, and, from the feeling they show,
the Admiral trusted in our Lord that all the people of those
islands would become Christians.

Wednesday, 19th of December

This night the Admiral got under way to leave the gulf
formed between the islands of Tortuga and Espafiola, but at
dawn of day a breeze sprang up from the east, against which
he was unable to get clear of the strait between the two islands
during the whole day. At night he was unable to reach a port
which was in sight.! He made out four points of land, and a
great bay with a river, and beyond he saw a large bay,” where
there was a village, with a valley behind it among high moun-
tains covered with trees, which appeared to be pines. Over
the Two Brothers there is a very high mountain-range running
N.E. and S.W., and E.S.E. from the Cabo de Torres is a small
island to which the Admiral gave the name of Santo Tomas,
because to-morrow was his vigil. The whole circuit of this
island alternates with capes and excellent harbors, so far as
could be judged from the sea. Before coming to the island on

t El Puerto de la Granja. (Navarrete.)
? The bay of Puerto Margot. (Id.)
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the west side, there is a cape which runs far into the sea, in
part high, the rest low; and for this reason the Admiral named
it Cabo Alto y Bajo.! From the road * of Torres East by South
60 miles, there is a mountain higher than any that reaches
the sea,® and from a distance it looks like an island, owing to
a depression on the land side. It was named Monte Caribata,
because that province was called Caribata. It is very beau-
tiful, and covered with green trees, without snow or clouds.
The weather was then, as regards the air and temperature,
like March in Castile, and as regards vegetation, like May.
The nights lasted 14 hours.*

Thursday, 20th of December

At sunrise they entered a port between the island of Santo
Tomas and the Cabo de Carabata,” and anchored. This port
is very beautiful, and would hold all the ships in Christendom.
The entrance appears impossible from the sea to those who have
never entered, owing to some reefs of rocks which run from the
mountainous cape almost to the island. They are not placed
in a row, but one here, another there, some towards the sea,
others near the land. It is therefore necessary to keep a good
look-out for the entrances, which are wide and with a depth of
7 fathoms, so that they can be used without fear. Inside the
reefs there is a depth of 12 fathoms. A ship can lie with a
cable made fast, against any wind that blows. At the entrance
of this port there is a channel on the west side of a sandy islet
with 7 fathoms, and many trees on its shore. But there are
many sunken rocks in that direction, and a look-out should be
kept up until the port is reached. Afterwards there is no need
to fear the greatest storm in the world. From this port a very
beautiful cultivated valley is in sight, descending from the S.E.,

! Point and Island of Margot. (Navarrete.)
? Camino for Cabo (?). (Markham.)
® Mountain over Guarico. (Navarrete.)

* Cf. p. 178, note.
* Bahia de Actil, (Navarrete.)
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surrounded by such lofty mountains that they appear to reach
the sky, and covered with green trees. Without doubt there
are mountains here which are higher than the island of Tenerife,
in the Canaries, which is held to be the highest yet known.! On
this side of the island of Santo Tomas, at a distance of a league,
there is another islet, and beyond it another, forming wonder-
ful harbors; though a good look-out must be kept for sunken
rocks. The Admiral also saw villages, and smoke made by
them.

Friday, 21st of December

To-day the Admiral went with the ship’s boats to examine
this port, which he found to be such that it could not be
equalled by any he had yet seen ; but, having praised the others
so much, he knew not how to express himself, fearing that he
will be looked upon as one who goes beyond the truth. He
therefore contents himself with saying that he had old sailors
with him who say the same. All the praises he has bestowed
on the other ports are true, and that this is better than any
of them is equally true. He further says: ‘I have traversed
the sea for 23 years,”> without leaving it for any time worth
counting, and I saw all the east and the west, going on the
route of the north, which is England, and I have been to
Guinea, but in all those parts there will not be found the per-
fection of harbors . . .* always found .. .* better than
another, that I, with good care, saw written; and I again
affirm it was well written, that this-one is better than all
others, and will hold all the ships of the world, secured with the

! This conjecture proved tobe wrong. The Peak of Teneriffe is over 12,000
ft. high, while 10,300 ft. (Mt. Tina) is the highest elevation in Santo Do-
mingo.

? This is one of the passages used to determine the date of Columbus’s
birth. By combining his statement quoted in the Historte of Ferdinand, ch.
1v., that he went to sea at 14, and this assertion that he followed the sea
steadily for 23 years, we find that he was 37 years old in 1484 or 1485, when
he left Portugal and ceased sea-faring till 1492.

3 A gap of a line and a half in the manuscript.

* Another gap in the manuscript.
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oldest cables.”* From the entrance to the end is a distance of
five leagues.? The Admiral saw some very well cultivated
lands, although they are all so, and he sent two of the boat’s
crew to the top of a hill to see if any village was near, for none
could be seen from the sea. At about ten o’clock that night,
certain Indians came in a canoe to see the Admiral and the
Christians, and they were given presents, with which they were
much pleased. The two men returned, and reported that they
had seen a very large village at a short distance from the sea.?
The Admiral ordered the boat to row towards the place where
the village was until they came near the land, when he saw two
Indians, who came to the shore apparently in a state of fear.
So he ordered the boats to stop, and the Indians that were
with the Admiral were told to assure the two natives that no
harm whatever was intended to them. Then they came nearer
the sea, and the Admiral nearer the land. As soon as the
natives had got rid of their fear, so many came that they
covered the ground, with women and children, giving a thou-
sand thanks. They ran hither and thither to bring us bread
made of niames, which they call ajes, which is very white and
good, and water in calabashes, and in earthen jars made like
those of Spain, and everything else they had and that they
thought the Admiral could want, and all so willingly and
cheerfully that it was wonderful. ‘It cannot be said that,
because what they gave was worth little, therefore they gave
liberally, because those who had pieces of gold gave as freely
as those who had a calabash of water; and it is easy to know
when a thing is given with a hearty desire to give.” These
are the Admiral’s words. ‘These people have no spears nor
any other arms, nor have any of the inhabitants of the whole

t The mutilation of the text makes this passage difficult. The third line
literally is, “and I saw all the east [or perhaps better the Levant, el Levante]
and the west which means the way to England,” etc. After the second gap
read: “better than the other which I with proper caution tried to describe.”
After “world,” read : “and [is] enclosed so that the oldest cable of the ship
would hold it fast.”

2 The distance is six miles. (Navarrete.)

8 Actl. (Id)
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island, which I believe to be very large. They go naked as
when their mothers bore them, both men and women. In
Juana and the other islands the women wear a small clout of
cotton in front, with which to cover their private parts, as large
as the flap of a man’s breeches, especially after they have passed
the age of twelve years, but here neither old nor young do so.
Also, the men in the other islands jealously hide their women
from the Christians, but here they do not.” The women -
have very beautiful bodies, and they were the first to come
and give thanks to Heaven, and to bring what they had,
especially things to eat, such as bread of ajes, nuts,
and four or five kinds of fruits, some of which the Admiral
ordered to be preserved, to be taken to the Sovereigns. He
says that the women did not do less in other ports before they
were hidden; and he always gave orders that none of his
people should annoy them; that nothing should be taken
against their wills, and that everything that was taken should
be paid for. Tinally, he says that no one could believe that
there could be such good-hearted people, so free to give,
anxious to let the Christians have all they wanted, and, when
visitors arrived, running to bring everything to them.
Afterwards the Admiral sent six Christians to the village
to see what it was like, and the natives showed them all the
honor they could devise, and gave them all they had; for no
doubt was any longer entertained that the Admiral and all his
people had come from Heaven ; and the same was believed by
the Indiang who were brought from the other islands, although
- they had now been told what they ought to think. When the
six Christians had gone, some canoas came with people to ask
the Admiral to come to their village when he left the place
where he was. Canoa is a boat in which they navigate, some
large and others small. Seeing that this village of the chief
was on the road, and that many people were waiting there
for him, the Admiral went there; but, before he could depart,
an enormous crowd came to the shore, men, women, and chil-

t Gonze avellanada. The interpretation of the French translators is
followed. The word gonze is not given in the dictionaries,
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dren, crying out to him not to go, but to stay with them. The
messengers from the other chief, who had come to invite him,
were waiting with their canoes, that he might not go away,
but come to see their chief, and so he did. On arriving where
the chief was waiting for him with many things to eat, he or-
dered that all the people should sit down, and that the food
should be taken to the boats, where the Admiral was, on the
sea-shore. When he saw that the Admiral had received what
he sent, all or most of the Indians ran to the village, which
was near, to bring more food, parrots, and other things they
had, with such frankness of heart that it was marvellous. The
Admiral gave them glass beads, brass trinkets, and bells: not
because they asked for anything in return, but because it
seemed right, and, above all, because he now looked upon them
as future Christians, and subjects of the Sovereigns, as much
as the people of Castile. He further says that they want
nothing except to know the language and be under governance;
for all they may be told to do will be done without any contra-
diction. The Admiral left this place to go to the ships, and
the people, men, women, and children, cried out to him not
to go, but remain with them. After the boats departed,
several canoes full of people followed after them to the ship,
who were received with much honor, and given to eat. There
had also come before another chief from the west, and many
people even came swimming, the ship being over a good half-
league from the shore. I sent certain persons to the chief,
who had gone back, to ask him about these islands. He
received them very well, and took them to his village, to give
them some large pieces of gold. They arrived at a large river,
which the Indians crossed by swimming. The Christians
were unable, so they turned back. In all this district there
are very high mountains which seem to reach the sky, so that
the mountain in the island of Tenerife appears as nothing
in height and beauty, and they are all green with trees. Be-
tween them there are very delicious valleys, and at the end
of this port, to the south, there is a valley so large that the end
of it is not visible, though no mountains intervene, so that it



1492] JOURNAL OF THE FIRST VOYAGE 193

seems to be 15 or 20 leagues long. A river flows through it,
and it is all inhabited and cultivated, and as green as Castile
in May or June; but the night contains 14 hours, the land
being so far north. ' This port is very good for all the winds
that can blow, being enclosed and deep, and the shores peopled
by a good and gentle race without arms or evil designs. Any
ship may lie within it without fear that other ships will enter
at night to attack her, because, although the entrance is over
two leagues wide, it is protected by reefs of rocks which are
barely awash; and there is only a very narrow channel through
the reef, which looks as if it had been artificially made, leav-
ing an open door by which ships may enter. In the entrance
there are 7 fathoms of depth up to the shore of a small flat
island, which has a beach fringed with trees. The entrance
is on the west side, and a ship can come without fear until
she is close to the rock. On the N.W. side there are three
islands, and a great river a league from the cape on one side
of the port. It is the best harbor in the world, and the Ad-
miral gave it the name of Puerto de la Mar de Santo Tomas,
because to-day it was that Saint’s day. The Admiral called
it a sea, owing to its size.

Saturday, 22nd of December

At dawn the Admiral made sail to shape a course in search
of the islands which the Indians had told him contained much
gold, some of them having more gold than earth. But the
weather was not favorable, so he anchored again, and sent away
the boat to fish with a net. The lord of that land,' who had
a place near there, sent a large canoe full of people, including
one of his principal attendants, to invite the Admiral to come
with the ships to his land, where he would give him all he
wanted. The chief sent, by this servant, a girdle which, in-

! “This king was the great lord and king Guacanagari, one of the five
great kings and lordships of this island.” Las Casas, I. 389,
o
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stead of a purse," had attached to it a mask with two large ears
made of beaten gold, the tongue, and the nose. These people
are very open-hearted, and whatever they are asked for they
give most willingly; while, when they themselves ask for
anything, they do so as if receiving a great favor. So says
the Admiral. They brought the canoe alongside the boat,
and gave the girdle to a boy; then they came on board with
their mission. It took a good part of the day before they could
be understood. Not even the Indians who were on board
understood them well, because they have some differences of
words for the names of things. At last their invitation was
understood by signs. The Admiral determined to start to-
morrow, although he did not usually sail on a Sunday, owing to
a devout feeling, and not on account of any superstition what-
ever. But in the hope that these people would become
Christians through the willingness they show, and that they
will be subjects of the Sovereigns of Castile, and because he
now holds them to be so, and that they may serve with love,
he wished and endeavored to please them. Before leaving,
to-day, the Admiral sent six men to a large village three leagues
to the westward, because the chief had come the day before
and said that he had some pieces of gold. When the Chris-
tians arrived, the secretary of the Admiral, who was one of
them, took the chief by the hand. The Admiral had sent
him, to prevent the others from imposing upon the Indians.
As the Indians are so simple, and the Spaniards so avaricious
and grasping, it does not suffice that the Indians should give
them all they want in exchange for a bead or a bit of glass,
-but the Spaniards would take everything without any return at
all. The Admiral always prohibits this, although, with the
exception of gold, the things given by the Indians are of little
value. But the Admiral, seeing the simplicity of the Indians,

1 ““This girdle was of fine jewellery work, like misshapen pearls, made of
fish-bones white and colored interspersed, like embroidery, so sewed with a
thread of cotton and by such delicate skill that on the reverse side it looked
like delicate embroidery, although all white, which it was a pleasure to see.”

Las Casas, 1. 389. From this we learn that wampum belts were in use
among the Indians of Espafiola.
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and that they will give a piece of gold in exchange for six
beads, gave the order that nothing should be received from
them unless something had been given in exchange. Thus
the chief took the secretary by the hand and led him to his
house, followed by the whole village, which was very large.
He made his guests eat, and the Indians brought them
many cotton fabrics, and spun-cotton in skeins. In the
afternoon the chief gave them three very fat geese and some
small pieces of gold. A great number of people went back
with them, carrying all the things they had got by barter,
and they also carried the Spaniards themselves across streams
and muddy places. The Admiral ordered some things to be
given to the chief, and both he and his people were very well
satisfied, truly believing that the Christians had come from
Heaven, so that they considered themselves fortunate in be-
holding them. On this day more than 120 canoes came to
the ships, all full of people, and all bringing something, es-
pecially their bread and fish, and fresh water in earthen jars.
They also brought seeds of good kinds, and there was a grain
which they put into a porringer of water and drank it. The
Indians who were on board said that this was very whole-
some.,

Sunday, 23rd of December

The Admiral could not go with the ships to that land
whither he had been invited by the chief, because there wasno
wind. But he sent, with the three messengers who were
waiting for the boats, some people, including the secretary.
While they were gone, hesent two of the Indians he had on board
with him to the villages which were near the anchorage. They
returned to the ship with a chief, who brought the news that
there was a great quantity of gold in that island of Espafiola,
and that people from other parts came to buy it. They said
that here the Admiral would find as much as he wanted.
Others came, who confirmed the statement that there was
much gold in the island, and explained the way it was collected.
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The Admiral understood all this with much difficulty; never-
theless, he concluded that there was a very great quantity in
those parts, and that, if he could find the place whence it was
got, there would be abundance; and, if not, there would be
nothing. He believed there must be a great deal, because,
during the three days that he had been in that port, he had
got several pieces of gold, and he could not believe that it
was brought from another land. ‘‘Our Lord, who holds all
things in his hands, look upon me, and grant what shall be
for his service.”” These are the Admiral’s words. He says
that, according to his reckoning, a thousand people had visited
the ship, all of them bringing something. Before they come
alongside, at a distance of a crossbow-shot, they stand up in
the canoe with what they bring in their hands, crying out,
“Take it! take it!” He also reckoned that 500 came to
the ship swimming, because they had no canoes, the ship
being near a league from the shore. Among the visitors,
five chiefs had come, sons of chiefs, with all their families of
wives and children, to see the Christians. The Admiral
ordered something to be given to all, because such gifts were
all well employed. ‘‘May our Lord favor me by his clemency,
that I may find this gold, I mean the mine of gold, which I
hold to be here, many saying that they know it.” These are
his words. The boats arrived at night, and said that there was
a grand road as far as they went, and they found many canoes,
with people who went to see the Admiral and the Christians,
at the mountain of Caribatan. They held it for certain that, if
the Christmas festival was kept in that port,' all the people of
the island would come, which they calculated to be larger
than England.? All the people went with them to the village,’
which they said was the largest, and the best laid out with
streets, of any they had seen. The Admiral says it is part of
the Punta Santa,* almost three leagues S.E. The canoes go

! Port of Guarico. (Navarrete.)

? This estimate was far too great. The island is about one-third the
size of Great Britain and one-half the size of England.
3 Guarico.

4 It is now called San Honorato. (Navarrete.)
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very fast with paddles; so they went ahead to apprise the
Cacique, as they call the chief. Up to that time the Admiral
had not been able to understand whether Cacique meant
king or governor. They also have another name for a great
man — Nitayno; * but it was not clear whether they used it
for lord, or governor, or judge. At last the cacique came to
them, and joined them in the square, which was clean-swept,
as was all the village. The population numbered over 2,000
men. This king did great honor to the people from the ship,
and every inhabitant brought them something to eat and
drink. Afterwards the king gave each of them cotton cloths
such as women wear, with parrots for the Admiral, and some
pieces of gold. The people also gave cloths and other things
from their houses to the sailors; and as for the trifles they
got in return, they seemed to look upon them as relics. When
they wanted to return in the afternoon, he asked them to stay
until the next day, and all the people did the same. When
they saw that the Spaniards were determined to go, they ac-
companied them most of the way, carrying the gifts of the
cacique on their backs as far as the boats, which had been left
at the mouth of the river.

Monday, 24th of December

Before sunrise the Admiral got under way with the land-
breeze. Among the numerous Indians who had come to the
ship yesterday, and had made signs that there was gold in
the island, naming the places whence it was collected, the
Admiral noticed one who seemed more fully informed, or who
spoke with more willingness, so he asked him to come with the
Christians and show them the position of the gold mines. This
Indian has a companion or relation with him, and among other
places they mentioned where gold was found, they named
Cipango, which they called Civao.? Here they said that there

! ““The fact is that Cacique was the word for king, and Nitayno for knight
and principal lord.” Las Casas, . 394.

? The similarity between the names and the report of gold made Colum-
bus particularly confident of the idertification.
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was a great quantity of gold, and that the cacique carried
banners of beaten gold. But they added that it was very far
off to the eastward.

Here the Admiral addresses the following words to the
Sovereigns: ‘“Your Highnesses may believe that there is no
better nor gentler people in the world. Your Highnesses ought
to rejoice that they will soon become Christians, and that they
will be taught the good customs of your kingdom. A better
race there cannot be, and both the people and the lands are in
such quantity that I know not how to write it. I have spoken -
in the superlative degree of the country and people of Juana,
which they call Cuba, but there is as much difference between
them and this island and people as between day and night. T
believe that no one who should see them could say less than I
have said, and I repeat that the things and the great villages
of this island of Espafiola, which they call Bohio, are wonder-
ful. All here have a loving manner and gentle speech, unlike
the others, who seem to be menacing when they speak. Both
men and women are of good stature, and not black. It is
true that they all paint, some with black, others with other
colors, but most with red. I know that they are tanned by
the sun, but this does not affect them much. Their houses
and villages are pretty, each with a chief, who acts as their
judge, and who is obeyed by them. All these lords use few
words, and have excellent manners. Most of their orders are
given by a sign with the hand, which is understood with sur-
prising quickness.” All these are the words of the Admiral.

He who would enter the sea of Santo Tomé * ought to stand -
for a good league across the mouth to a flat island in the middle,
which was named La Amiga,? pointing her head towards it.
When the ship is within a stone’s-throw of it the course should be
altered to make for the eastern shore, leaving the west side,
and this shore, and not the other, should be kept on board,
because a great reef runs out from the west, and even beyond
that there are three sunken rocks. This reef comes within a

! Entrance of the Bay of Actil. (Navarrete.)
% Isla de Ratos. (Id.)
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Jombard-shot of the Amiga island. Between them there are
seven fathoms at least, with a gravelly bottom. Within, a
harbor will be found large enough for all the ships in the world,
which would be there without need of cables. There is another
reef, with sunken rocks, on the east side of the island of Amiga,
which are extensive and run out to sea, reaching within two
leagues of the cape. But it appeared that between them there
was an entrance, within two lombard-shots of Amiga, on’ the
west side of Monte Caribatan, where there was a good and very
large port.!

Tuesday, 25th of December. Christmas

Navigating yesterday, with little wind, from Santo Tomé
to Punta Santa, and being a league from it, at about eleven
o’clock at night the Admiral went down to get some sleep,
for he had not had any rest for two days and a night. As
it was calm, the sailor who steered the ship thought he would go
to sleep, leaving the tiller in charge of a boy.? The Admiral
had forbidden this throughout the voyage, whether it was
blowing or whether it was calm. The boys were never to be
entrusted with the helm. The Admiral had no anxiety
respecting sand-banks and rocks, because, when he sent the
boats to that king on Sunday, they had passed to the east of
Punta Santa at least three leagues and a half, and the sailors
had seen all the coast, and the rocks there are from Punta
Santa, for a distance of three leagues to the E.S.E. They
saw the course that should be taken, which had not been the
case before, during this voyage. It pleased our Lord that, at
twelve o’clock at night, when the Admiral had retired to rest,
and when all had fallen asleep, seeing that it was a dead calm
and the sea like glass, the tiller being in the hands of a boy, the
current carried the ship on one of the sand-banks. If it had
not been night the bank could have been seen, and the surf
on it could be heard for a good league. But the ship ran upon

* Puerto Frances. (Navarrete.)
? Perhaps better “a young common sailor.”
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it so gently that it could scarcely be felt. The boy, who felt
the helm and heard the rush of the sea, cried out. The Ad-
miral at once came up, and so quickly that no one had felt that
the ship was aground. Presently the master of the ship,
whose watch it was, came on deck. The Admiral ordered him
and others to launch the boat, which was on the poop, and lay
out an anchor astern. The master, with several others, got
into the boat, and the Admiral thought that they did so with
the object of obeying his orders. But they did so in order to
take refuge with the caravel, which was half a league to lee-
ward. The caravel would not allow them to come on board,
acting judiciously, and they therefore returned to the ship;
but the caravel’s boat arrived first. When the Admiral saw
that his own people fled in this way, the water rising and the
ship being across the sea, seeing no other course, he ordered
the masts to be cut away and the ship to be lightened as much
as possible, to see if she would come off. But, as the water
continued to rise, nothing more could be done. Her side fell
over across the sea, but it was nearly calm. Then the timbers
opened, and the ship was lost.>  The Admiral went to the cara-
vel to arrange about the reception of the ship’s crew, and as a
light breeze was blowing from the land, and continued during
the greater part of the night, while it was unknown how far
the bank extended, he hove her to until daylight. He then
went back to the ship, inside the reef; first having sent a boat
on shore with Diego de Arana of Cordova, alguazil of the fleet,
and Pedro Gutierrez, gentleman of the king’s bedchamber,
to inform the king, who had invited the ships to come on the
previous Saturday. His town was about a league and a half
from the sand-bank. They reported that he wept when he

! The master, who was also the owner, of the Admiral’s ship was Juan
de la Cosa of Santofia, afterwards well known as a draughtsman and pilot.
(Markham.)

* Rather, “Then the seams opened but not the ship.” That is, the ship
wasnot stove. The word translated “seams” is conventos, which Las Casas,
1. 398, defines as los vagos que hay entre costillas y costillas. In this passage
he is using costillas not in the technical sense of costillas de nao, “ribs,” but
in the sense of “planks,” as in costillas de cuba, “ barrel staves.”
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heard the news, and he sent all his people with large canoes
to unload the ship. This was done, and they landed all there
was between decks in a very short time. Such was the great
promptitude and diligence shown by that king. He himself,
with brothers and relations, was actively assisting as well in
the ship as in the care of the property when it was landed, that
all might be properly guarded. Now and then he sent one of
his relations weeping to the Admiral, to console him, saying
that he must not feel sorrow or annoyance, for he would supply
all that was needed. The Admiral assured the Sovereigns
that there could not have been such good watch kept in any
part of Castile, for that there was not even a needle missing.
He ordered that all the property should be placed by some
houses which the king placed at his disposal, until they were
emptied, when everything would be stowed and guarded in
them. Armed men were placed round the stores to watch
all night. ““The king and all his people wept [says the Ad-
miral]. They are a loving people, without covetousness, and
fit for anything; and I assure your Highnesses that there is
no better land nor people. They love theirneighbors asthem-
selves, and their speech is the sweetest and gentlest in the
world, and always with a smile. Men and women go as naked
as when their mothers bore them. Your Highnesses should
believe that they have very good customs among themselves.
The king is a man of remarkable presence, and with a certain
self-contained manner that is a pleasure to see. They have
good memories, wish to see everything, and ask the use of
what they see.” All this is written by the Admiral.

Wednesday, 26th of December

To-day, at sunrise, the king of that land came to the cara-
vel Nina, where the Admiral was, and said to him, almost weep-
ing, that he need not be sorry, for that he would give him
all he had ; that he had placed two large houses at the disposal
of the Christians who were on shore, and that he would give
more if they were required, and as many canoes as could load
from the ship and discharge on shore, with as many people as
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were wanted. This had all been done yesterday, without so
much as a needle being missed. ‘“So honest are they,” says the
Admiral, “without any covetousness for the goods of others,
and so above all was that virtuous king.” While the Admiral
was talking to him, another canoe arrived from a different place,
bringing some pieces of gold, which the people in the canoe
wanted to exchange for a hawk’s bell; for there was nothing
they desired more than these bells. They had scarcely come
alongside when they called and held up the gold, saying Chug
chug for the bells, for they are quite mad about them. After
the king had seen this, and when the canoes which came from
other places had departed, he called the Admiral and asked him
to give orders that one of the bells was to be kept for another
day, when he would bring four pieces of gold the size of a man’s
hand. The Admiral rejoiced to hear this, and afterwards a
sailor, who came from the shore, told him that it was wonder-
ful what pieces of gold the men on shore were getting in ex-
change for next to nothing. For a needle they got a piece of
gold worth two castellanos, and that this was nothing to what
1t would be within a month. The king rejoiced much when he
saw that the Admiral was pleased. He understood that his
friend wanted much gold, and he said, by signs, that he knew
where there was, in the vicinity, a very large quantity; so
that hemust bein good heart, for he should have as much as he
wanted. He gave some account of it, especially saying that in
Cipango, which they call Cibao," it is so abundant that it is of
no value, and that they will bring it, although there is also
much more in the island of Espafiola, which they call Bohio,
and in the province of Caritaba. The king dined on board the
caravel with the Admiral and afterwards went on shore, where
he received the Admiral with much honor. He gave him a
collation consisting of three or four kinds of ajes, with shrimps
and game, and other viands they have, besides the bread
they call cazavi.” He then took the Admiral to see some groves

* In reality Cibao was a part of Espafiola.
? Made from the manioc roots or ajes. Cassava biscuit can be got to-day
at fancy grocery stores. It is rather insipid.
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of trees near the houses, and they were accompanied by at least
a thousand people, all naked. The lord had on a shirt and a
pair of gloves, given to him by the Admiral, and he was more
delighted with the gloves than with anything else. In his
manner of eating, both as regards the high-bred air and the
peculiar cleanliness he clearly showed his nobility. After he
had eaten, he remained some time at table, and they brought
him certain herbs, with which he rubbed his hands. The Ad-
miral thought that this was done to make them soft, and they
also gave him water for his hands. After the meal he took the
Admiral to the beach. The Admiral then sent for a Turkish
bow and a quiver of arrows, and took a shot at a man of his
company, who had been warned. The chief, who knew noth-
ing about arms, as they neither have them nor use them,
thought this a wonderful thing. He, however, began to talk
of those of Caniba, whom they call Caribes. They come to
capture the natives, and have bows and arrows without iron,
of which there is no memory in any of these lands, nor of steel,
nor any other metal except gold and copper. Of copper the
Admiral had only seen very little. The Admiral said, by signs,
that the Sovereigns of Castile would order the Caribs to be
destroyed, and that all should be taken with their hands tied
together. He ordered a lombard and a hand-gun to be fired
off, and seeing the effect caused by its force and what the shots
penetrated, the king was astonished. When his people heard
the explosion they all fell on the ground. They brought the
Admiral a large mask, which had pieces of gold for the eyes and
ears and in other parts, and this they gave, with.other trinkets
of gold that the same king had put on the head and round the
neck of the Admiral, and of other Christians, to whom they
also gave many pieces. The Admiral received much pleasure
and consolation from these things, which tempered the anxiety
and sorrow he felt at the loss of the ship. He knew our Lord
had caused the ship to stop here, that a settlement might be
formed. ‘‘From this,” he says, ‘“‘originated so many things
that, in truth, the disaster was really a piece of good fortune.
For it is certain that, if I had not lost the ship, I should have



204 VOYAGES OF COLUMBUS [1492

gone on without anchoring in this place, which is within a great
bay, having two or three reefs of rock. I should not have
left people in the country during this voyage, nor even, if
I had desired to leave them, should I have been able to obtain
so much information, nor such supplies and provisions for a
fortress. And true it is that many people had asked me to
give them leave to remain. Now I have given orders for a
tower and a fort, both well built, and a large cellar, not because
I believe that such defences will be necessary. 1 believe that
with the force I have with me I could subjugate the whole
island, which I believe to be larger than Portugal, and the
population double.! But they are naked and without arms,
and hopelessly timid. Still, it is advisable to build this tower,
being so far from your Highnesses. The people may thus
know the skill of the subjects of your Highnesses, and what they
can do; and will obey them with love and fear. So they make
preparations to build the fortress, with provision of bread and
wine for more than a year, with seeds for sowing, the ship’s
boat, a caulker and carpenter, a gunner and cooper. Many
among these men have a great desire to serve your Highnesses
and to please me, by finding out where the mine is whence the
gold is brought. Thus everything is got in readiness to begin
the work. Above all, it was so calm that there was scarcely
wind or wave when the ship ran aground.” This is what the
Admiral says; and he adds more to show that it was great
good luck, and the settled design of God, that the ship should
be lost in order that people might be left behind. If it had not
been for the treachery of the master and his boat’s erew, who
were all or mostly his countrymen,? in neglecting to lay out the
anchor so as to haul the ship off in obedience to the Admiral’s
orders, she would have been saved. In that case, the same
knowledge of the land as has been gained in these days would
not have been secured, for the Admiral always proceeded with

! In reality, three-quarters the size of Portugal.

? Juan de la Cosa, the master, was a native of Santofia, on the north coast
of Spain. There were two other Santofia men on board, and several from
the north coast. (Markham.)
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the object of discovering, and never intended to stop more
than a day at any one place, unless he was detained by the wind.
Still, the ship was very heavy and unsuited for discovery. It
was the people of Palos who obliged him to take such a ship,
by not complying ‘“with what they had promised to the King
and Queen, namely, to supply suitable vessels for this expe-
dition. This they did not do. Of all that there was on board
the ship, not a needle, nor a board, nor a nail was lost, for she
remained as whole as when she sailed, except that it was neces-
sary to cut away and level down in order to get out the jars
and merchandise, which were landed and carefully guarded.”
He trusted in God that, when he returned from Spain, accord-
ing to his intention, he would find a tun of gold collected by
barter by those he was to leave behind, and that they would
have found the mine, and spices in such quantities that the
Sovereigns would, in three years, be able to undertake and fit
out an expedition to go and conquer the Holy Sepulchre.
“With this in view,” he says, “I protested to your High-
nesses that all the profits of this my enterprise should be
spent in the conquest of Jerusalem, and your Highnesses
laughed and said that it pleased them, and that, without this,
they entertained that desire.” These are the Admiral’s words.

Thursday, 27th of December

The king of that land came alongside the caravel at sunrise,
and said that he had sent for gold, and that he would collect
all he could before the Admiral departed; but he begged him
not to go. The king and one of his brothers, with another
very intimate relation, dined with the Admiral, and the two
latter said they wished to go to Castile with him. At this
time the news came that the caravel Pinta was in a river at
the end of this island. Presently the cacique sent a canoe
there, and the Admiral sent a sailor in it. For it was wonder-
ful how devoted the cacique was to the Admiral. The ne-
cessity was now evident of hurrying on preparations for the
return to Castile.
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Friday, 28th of December

The Admiral went on shore to give orders and hurry on the
work of building the fort, and to settle what men should re-
main behind.' The king, it would seem, had watched him
getting into the boat, and quickly went into his house, dis-
simulating, sending one of his brothers to receive the Admiral,
and conduct him to one of the houses that had been set aside
for the Spaniards, which was the largest and best in the town.
In it there was a couch made of palm matting, where they sat
down. Afterward the brother sent an attendant to say that
the Admiral was there, as if the king did not know that he had
come. The Admiral, however, believed that this was a feint
in order to do him honor more. The attendant gave the mes-
sage, and the cacique came in great haste, and put a large soft
piece of gold he had in his hand round the Admiral’s neck.
They remained together until the evening, arranging what
had to be done.

Saturday, 29th of December

A very youthful nephew of the king came to the caravel
at sunrise, who showed a good understanding and disposition.
As the Admiral was always working to find out the origin of
- the gold, he asked everyone, for he could now understand some-
what by signs. This youth told him that, at a distance of
four days’ journey, there was an island to the eastward called
Guarionex, and others called Macorix, Mayonic, Fuma, Cibao,
and Coroay,”in which there was plenty of gold. The Admiral

' “He ordered then all his people to make great haste and the king
ordered his vassals to help him and as an immense number joined with the
Christians they managed so well and with such diligence that in a matter of
ten days our stronghold was well made and as far as could be then constructed.
He named it the City of Christmas (Villa de la Navidad) because he had
arrived there on that day, and so to-day that harbor is called Navidad,
although there is no memory that there even has been a fort or any building
there, since it is overgrown with trees as large and tall as if fifty years had
passed, and I have seen them.” Las Casas, I. 408.

? These were not islands, but districts whose chiefs were called by the
same names. Cf. Las Casas, 1. 410,
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wrote these names down, and now understood what had been
sald by a brother of the king, who was annoyed with him, as
the Admiral understood. At other times the Admiral had
suspected that the king had worked against his knowing
where the gold had its origin and was collected, that he might
not go away to barter in another part of the island. For there
are such a number of places in this same island that it is wonder-
ful.  After nightfall the king sent a large mask of gold, and
asked for a washhand basin and jug. The Admiral thought
he wanted them for patterns to copy from, and therefore sent
them.

Sunday, 30th of December

The Admiral went on shore to dinner, and came at a time
when five kings had arrived, all with their crowns, who were
subject to this king, named Guacanagari. They represented
a very good state of affairs, and the Admiral says to the Sov-
ereigns that it would have given them pleasure to see the man-
ner of their arrival. On landing, the Admiral was received
by the king, who led him by the arms to the same house where
he was yesterday, where there were chairs, and a couch on
which the Admiral sat. Presently the king took the crown
off his head and put it on the Admiral’s head, and the Admiral
took from his neck a collar of beautiful beads of several differ-
ent colors, which looked very well in all its parts, and put it
on the king. He also took off a cloak of fine material, in which
he had dressed himself that day, and dressed the king in
it, and sent for some colored boots, which he put on his feet,
and he put a large silver ring on his finger, because he had heard
that he had admired greatly a silver ornament worn by one
of the sailors. The king was highly delighted and well satis-
fied, and two of those kings who were with him came with him
to where the Admiral was, and each gave him a piece of gold.
At this time an Indian came and reported that it was two days
since he left the caravel Pinta in a port to the eastward. The
Admiral returned to the caravel, and Vicente Anes,* the cap-

* For Yaflez. Vicente Yafiez Pinzon,
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tain, said that he had seen the rhubarb plant, and that they
had it on the island Amiga, which is at the entrance of the sea
of Santo Tomé, six leagues off, and that he had recognized the
branches and roots. They say that rhubarb forms small
branches above ground, and fruit like green mulberries, al-
most dry, and the stalk, near the root, is as yellow and delicate
as the best color for painting, and underground the root grows
like a large pear.

Monday, 31st of December

To-day the Admiral was occupied in seeing that water and
fuel were taken on board for the voyage to Spain, to give early
notice to the Sovereigns, that they might despatch ships to
complete the discoveries. For now the business appeared to
be so great and important that the Admiral was astonished.!
He did not wish to go until he had examined all the land to the
eastward, and explored the coast, so as to know the route to
Castile, with a view to sending sheep and cattle.> But as he
had been left with only a single vessel, it did not appear prudent
to encounter the dangers that are inevitable in making dis-
coveries. He complained that all this inconvenience had been
caused by the caravel Pinta having parted company.

Tuesday, 1st of January, 1493

At midnight the Admiral sent a boat to the island Amiga
to bring the rhubarb. It returned at vespers with a bundle of
it. They did not bring more because they had no spade to
dig it up with; it was taken to be shown to the Sovereigns.
The king of that land said that he had sent many canoes for
gold. The canoe returned that had been sent for tidings of
the Pinta, without having found her. The sailor who went in

! Rather, “For now the business appeared to be so great and important
that it was wonderful (said the Admiral) and he said he did not wish,” ete.
% The first suggestion of systematic colonization in the New World.
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the canoe said that twenty leagues from there he had seen a
king who wore two large plates of gold on his head, but when
the Indians in the canoe spoke to him he took them off. He
also saw much gold on other people. The Admiral considered
that the King Guacanagari ought to have prohibited his people
from selling gold to the Christians, in order that it might all
pass through his hands. But the king knew the places, as
before stated, where there was such a quantity that it was not
valued. The supply of spices also is extensive, and is worth
more than pepper or manegueta.! He left instructions to those
who wished to remain that they were to collect as much as
they could.

Wednesday, 2nd of January

In the morning the Admiral went on shore to take leave of
the King Guacanagari, and to depart from him in the name
of the Lord. He gave him one of his shirts. In order to show
him the force of the lombards, and what effect they had, he
ordered one to be loaded and fired into the side of the ship
that was on shore, for this was apposite to the conversation
respecting the Caribs, with whom Guacanagari was at war.
The king saw whence the lombard-shot came, and how it
passed through the side of the ship and went far away over the
sea. The Admiral also ordered a skirmish of the crews of the
ships, fully armed, saying to the cacique that he need have
no fear of the Caribs even if they should come. All this was
done that the king might look upon the men who were left
behind as friends, and that he might also have a proper fear
of them. The king took the Admiral to dinner at the house
where he was established, and the others who came with him.
The Admiral strongly recommended to his friendship Diego
de Arana, Pedro Gutierrez, and Rodrigo Escovedo, whom he
left jointly as his lieutenants over the people who remained
behind, that all might be well regulated and governed for
the service of their Highnesses. The cacique showed much

1 See note 2 under Jan. 9, p. 218,
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love for the Admiral, and great sorrow at his departure, espe-
cially when he saw him go on board. A relation of that king
said to the Admiral that he had ordered a statue of pure gold
to be made, as big as the Admiral, and that it would be brought
within ten days. The Admiral embarked with the intention
of sailing presently, but there was no wind.

He left on that island of Espaiiola, which the Indians called
Bohio, 39 men ' with the fortress, and he says that they were
great friends of Guacanagari. The lieutenants placed over
them were Diego de Arana of Cordova, Pedro Gutierrez,
keeper of the king’s drawing-room, and servant of the chief
butler, and Rodrigo de Escovedo, a native of Segovia, nephew
of Fray Rodrigo Perez, with all the powers he himself received
from the Sovereigns. He left behind all the merchandise
which had been provided for bartering, which was much, that
they might trade for gold. He also left the ship’s boat, that
they, most of them being sailors, might go, when the time
seemed convenient, to discover the gold mine, in order that
the Admiral, on his return, might find much gold. They were
also to find a good site for a town, for this was not altogether
a desirable port; especially as the gold the natives brought
came from the east; also, the farther to the east the nearer
to Spain. He also left seeds for sowing, and his officers, the
alguazil and secretary, as well as a ship’s carpenter, a caulker,
a good gunner familiar with engineering (que sabe bien de in-
genios), a cooper, a physician, and a tailor, all being seamen
as well.”

Thursday, 3rd of January

The Admiral did not go to-day, because three of the Indians
whom he had brought from the islands, and who had staid
behind, arrived, and said that the others with their women

* The actual number was 44, according to the official list given in a
document printed by Navarrete, which is a notice to the next of kin to apply
for wages due, dated Burgos, December 20, 1507. Markham reproduces this
list in his edition of Columbus’s Journal.

? Las Casas gives the farewell speech of the Admiral to those who were
left behind at Navidad, I. 415. It is translated in Thacher’s Columbus,
I. 632.
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would be there at sunrise.' The sea also was rather rough,
so that they could not land from the boat. He determined
to depart to-morrow, with the grace of God. The Admiral
said that if he had the caravel Pinta with him he could make
sure of shipping a tun of gold, because he could then follow
the coasts of these islands, which he would not do alone, for
fear some accident might impede his return to Castile, and
prevent him from reporting all he had discovered to the Sov-
ereigns. If it was certain that the caravel Pinta would arrive
safely in Spain with Martin Alonso Pinzon, he would not hesi-
tate to act as he desired; but as he had no certain tidings of
him, and as he might return and tell lies to the Sovereigns, that
he might not receive the punishment he deserved for having
done so much harm in having parted company without per-
mission, and impeded the good service that might have been
done, the Admiral could only trust in our Lord that he would
grant favorable weather, and remedy all things.

Friday, 4th of January

At sunrise the Admiral weighed the anchor, with little wind,
and turned her head N.W. to get clear of the reef, by another
channel wider than the one by which he entered, which, with
others, is very good for coming in front of the Villa de la Navi-
dad, in all which the least depth is from 3 to 9 fathoms. These
two channels run N.W. and S.E., and the reefs are long,
extending from the Cabo Santo to the Cabo de Sierpe for more
than six leagues, and then a good three leagues out to sea.
At a league outside Cabo Santo there are not more than 8
fathoms of depth, and inside that cape, on the east side, there
are many sunken rocks, and channels to enter between them.
All this coast trends N.W. and S.E., and it is all beach, with
the land very level for about a quarter of a league inland.

1 “Tt is not known how many he took from this island but I believe he
took some, and altogether he carried ten or twelve Indians to Castile accord-
ing to the Portuguese History [Barros] and I saw them in Seville yet I did
not notice nor do I recollect that I counted them.” Lag Casas, I. 419.
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After that distance there are very high mountains, and the
whole is peopled with a very good race, as they showed them-
selves to the Christians. Thus the Admiral navigated to the
east, shaping a course for a very high mountain, which looked
like an island, but is not one, being joined to the mainland by
a very low neck. The mountain has the shape of a very beau-
tiful tent. Ile gave it the name of Monte Cristi. It is due east
of Cabo Santo, at a distance of 18 leagues." That day, owing
to the light wind, they could not reach within six leagues of
Monte Cristi. He discovered four very low and sandy islets,?
with a reef extending N.W. and S.E. Inside, there is a large
gulf,® which extends from this mountain to the S.E. at least
twenty leagues,* which must all be shallow, with many sand-
banks, and inside numerous rivers which are not navigable.
At the same time the sailor who was sent in the canoe to get
tidings of the Pinia reported that he saw a river ® into which
ships might enter. The Admiral anchored at a distance of 6
leagues ® from Monte Cristi, in 19 fathoms, and so kept clear
of many rocks and reefs. Here he remained for the night.
The Admiral gives notice to those who would go to the Villa
de la Navidad that, to make Monte Cristi, he should stand off
the land two leagues, ete. (But as the coast is now known
it is not given here.) The Admiral concluded that Cipango
was in that island, and that it contained much gold, spices,
mastic, and rhubarb.

Saturday, 5th of January

At sunrise the Admiral made sail with the land-breeze,
and saw that to the S.8.E.” of Monte Cristi, between it and an

t Tt is N. 80° E. 70 leagues. (Navarrete.)

% Los siete Hermanos. (Id.)

3 Bahia de Manzanillo. (/d.)

% Should be S.W. three leagues.

5 Rio Tapion, in the Bahia de Manzanillo. (Id.)
¢ A mistake for three leagues. (Id.)

7 Should be W.S.W. (Id.)
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island, there seemed to be a good port to anchor in that night.
He shaped an E.S.E. course, afterward S.S.E., for six leagues
round the high land, and found a depth of 17 fathoms, with a
very clean bottom, going on for three leagues with the same
soundings. Afterwards it shallowed to 12 fathoms up to the
promontory of the mountain, and off the promontory, at one
league, the depth of 9 fathoms was found, the bottom clean,
and all fine sand. The Admiral followed the same course until
he came between the mountain and the island," where he found
31 fathomsat low water, a very good port, and here he anchored.?
He went in the boat to the islet, where he found remains of
fire and footmarks, showing that fishermen had been there.
Here they saw many stones painted in colors, or a quarry of
such stones, very beautifully worked by nature, suited for
the building of a church or other public work, like those he
found on the island of San Salvador. On this islet he also
found many plants of mastic. He says that this Monte
Cristi is very fine and high, but accessible, and of a very beau-
tiful shape, all the land round it being low, a very fine plain,
from which the height rises, looking at a distance like an island
disunited from other land. Beyond the mountain, to the east,
he saw a cape at a distance of 24 miles, which he named Cabo
del Becerro,® whence to the mountain for two leagues there are
reefs of rocks, though it appeared as if there were navigable
channels between them. It would, however, be advisable to
approach in daylight, and to send a boat ahead to sound.
From the mountain eastward to Cabo del Becerro, for four
leagues, there is a beach, and the land is low, but the rest is
very high, with beautiful mountains and some cultivation.
Inland, a chain of mountains runs N.E. and S.W., the most
beautiful he had seen, appearing like the hills of Cordova.
Some other very lofty mountains appear in the distance toward
the south and S.E., and very extensive green valleys with
large rivers: all this in such quantity that he did not believe

! Isla Cabra. (Navarrete.)
2 Anchorage of Monte Cristi. (/d.)
3 Punta Rucia. (Id.)
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be had exaggerated a thousandth part. Afterwards he saw,
to the eastward of the mountain, a land which appeared like
that of Monte Cristi in size and beauty. TFurther to the east
and N.E. there is land which is not so high, extending for some
hundred miles or near it.

Sunday, 6th of January

That port is sheltered from all winds, except north and
N.W,, and these winds seldom blow in this region. Even
when the wind is from those quarters, shelter may be found
near the islet in 3 or 4 fathoms. At sunrise the Admiral made
sail to proceed along the coast, the course being east, except
that it is necessary to look out for several reefs of stone and
sand, within which there are good anchorages, with channels
leading to them. After noon it blew fresh from the east.
- The Admiral ordered a sailor to go to the mast-head to look
out for reefs, and he saw the caravel Pinta coming, with the
wind aft, and she joined the Admiral." As there was no place
to anchor, owing to the rocky bottom, the Admiral returned
for ten leagues to Monte Cristi, with the Pinia in company.
Martin Alonso Pinzon came on board the caravel Nina, where
the Admiral was, and excused himself by saying that he had
parted company against his will, giving reasons for it. But
the Admiral says that they were all false; and that on the
night when Pinzon parted company he was influenced by pride
and covetousness. He could not understand whence had
come the insolence and disloyalty with which Pinzon had
treated him during the voyage. The Admiral had taken no
notice, because he did not wish to give place to the evil works
of Satan, who desired to impede the voyage. It appeared that
one of the Indians, who had been put on board the caravel by
the Admiral with others, had said that there was much gold
in an island called Baneque, and, as Pinzon’s vessel was light
and swift, he determined to go there, parting company with

* Martin Alonso Pinzon had slipped away during the night of November 21.
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the Admiral, who wished to remain and explore the coasts of
Juana and Ispafiola, with an easterly course. When Martin
Alonso arrived at the island of Baneque' he found no gold.
He then went to the coast of Espaiiola, on information from
the Indians that there was a great quantity of gold and many
mines in that island of Espaiiola, which the Indians call Bohio.
He thus arrived near the Villa de Navidad, about 15 leagues
from it, having then been absent more than twenty days, so
that the news brought by the Indians was correct, on account
of which the King Guacanagari sent a canoe, and the Admiral
put a sailor on board; but the Pinta must have gone before
the canoe arrived. The Admiral says that the Pinfa obtained
much gold by barter, receiving large pieces the size of two
fingers in exchange for a needle. Martin Alonso took half,
dividing the other half among the crew. The Admiral then
says: “Thus I am convinced that our Lord miraculously
caused that vessel to remain here, this being the best place in
the whole island to form a settlement, and the nearest to the
gold mines.” He also says that he knew of another great
island, to the south of the island of Juana, in which there is
more gold than in this island, so that they collect it in bits the
size of beans, while in Espafiola they find the pieces the size
of grains of wheat. They call that island Yamaye.? The
Admiral also heard of an island further east, in which there were
only women, having been told this by many people.® He was
also informed that Yamaye and the island of Espafiola were
ten days’ journey in a canoe from the mainland, which would
be about 70 or 80 leagues, and that there the people wore
clothes.*

! Here probably the island of Iguana Grande.

? Jamaica.

3 On this myth see below under January 15.

¢ Tt is remarkable that this report, which refers probably to Yucatan and
to the relatively high state of culture of the Mayas, drew no further comment
from Columbus. From our point of view it ought to have made a much
greater impression than we have evidence that it did; from his point of view
that he was off Asia it was just what was to be expected and so is recorded
without comment.
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Monday, Tth of January

This day the Admiral took the opportunity of calking the
caravel, and the sailors were sent to cut wood. They found
mastic and aloes in abundance.

Tuesday, 8th of January

As the wind was blowing fresh from the east and S.E.,
the Admiral did not get under way this morning. He or-
dered the caravel to be filled up with wood and water and with
all other necessaries for the voyage. He wished to explore
all the coast of Espafiola in this direction. But those he
appointed to the caravels as captains were brothers, namely,
Martin Alonso Pinzon and Vicente Anes. They also had fol-
lowers who were filled with pride and avarice, considering
that all now belonged to them, and unmindful of the honor
the Admiral had done them. They had not and did not obey
his orders, but did and said many unworthy things against him ;
while Martin Alonso had deserted him from the 21st of Novem-
ber until the 6th of January without cause or reason, but
from disaffection. All these things had been endured in si-
lence by the Admiral in order to secure a good end to the voy-
age. He determined to return as quickly as possible, to get
rid of such an evil company, with whom he thought it neces-
sary to dissimulate, although they were a mutinous set, and
though he also had with him many good men; for it was not
a fitting time for dealing out punishment.

The Admiral got into the boat and went up the river!?
which is near, toward the S.S.W. of Monte Cristi, a good
league. This is where the sailors went to get fresh water for
the ships. He found that the sand at the mouth of the river,
which is very large and deep, was full of very fine gold, and in
astonishing quantity. The Admiral thought that it was pul-

! This is the large river Yaqui,which contains much gold in its sand. It
was afterwards called the Santiago. (Navarrete.)
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verized in the drift down the river, but in a short time he found
many grains as large as lentils, while there was a great deal of
the fine powder.

As the fresh water mixed with the salt when it entered the
sea, he ordered the boat to go up for the distance of a stone’s-
throw. They filled the casks from the boat, and when they
went back to the caravel they found small bits of gold stick-
ing to the hoops of the casks and of the barrel. The Admiral
gave the name of Rio del Oro to the river.! Inside the bar it
is very deep, though the mouth is shallow and very wide.
The distance to the Villa de la Navidad is 17 leagues,” and there
are several large rivers on the intervening coast, especially
three which probably contain much more gold than this one,
because they are larger. This river is nearly the size of the

-Guadalquivir at Cordova, and from it to the gold mines the

distance is not more than 20 leagues.® The Admiral further
says that he did not care to take the sand containing gold,
because their Highnesses would have it all as their property
at their town of Navidad; and because his first object was now
to bring the news and to get rid of the evil company that was
with him, whom he had always said were a mutinous set.

Wednesday, 9th of January

The Admiral made sail at midnight, with the wind S.E.,
and shaped an E.N.E. course, arriving at a point named
Punta Roja,* which is 60 miles® east of Monte Cristi, and an-
chored under its lee three hours before nightfall. He did not
venture to go out at night, because there are many reefs, until
they are known. Afterwards, if, as will probably be the case,
channels are found between them, the anchorage, which is

! Afterwards called the Rio de Santiago. (Navarrete.)

2 This should be 8 leagues. (/d.)

# Las Casas, 1. 429, says the distance to the mines was not 4 leagues.

* Punta Isabelica. ([d.)

8 The distance is 10} leagues, or 42 of the Italian miles used by Columbus.
{d.)
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good and well sheltered, will be profitable. The country be-
tween Monte Cristi and this point where the Admiral anchored
is very high land, with beautiful plains, the range running east
and west, all green and cultivated, with numerous streams of
water, so that it is wonderful to see such beauty. In all this
country there are many turtles, and the sailors took several
when they came on shore to lay their eggs at Monte Cristi,
as large as a great wooden buckler.

On the previous day, when the Admiral went to the Rio
del Oro, he saw three mermaids, which rose well out of the sea ;
but they are not so beautiful as they are painted, though to
some extent they have the form of a human face. The Ad-
miral says that he had seen some, at other times, in Guinea,
on the coast of the Manequeta.?

The Admiral says that this night, in the name of our Lord,
- he would set out on his homeward voyage without any further
delay whatever, for he had found what he sought, and he did
not wish to have further cause of offence with Martin Alonso
until their Highnesses should know the news of the voyage
and what had been done. Afterwards he says, “I will not
suffer the deeds of evil-disposed persons, with little worth,
who, without respect for him to whom they owe their posi-
tions, presume to set up their own wills with little ceremony.”’

* The mermaids [Spanish, “sirens”] of Columbus are the manatis, or
sea~cows, of the Caribbean Sea and great South American rivers. They are
now scarcely ever seen out at sea. Their resemblance to human beings,
when rising in the water, must have been very striking. They have small
rounded heads, and cervical vertebrae which form a neck, enabling the
animal to turn its head about. The fore limbs also, instead of being pectoral
fins, have the character of the arm and hand of the higher mammalia. These
peculiarities, and their very human way of suckling their young, holding
it by the forearm, which is movable at the elbow-joint, suggested the idea
of mermaids. The congener of the manati, which had been seen by Colum-
bus on the coast of Guinea, is the dugong. (Markham.)

? Las Casas has “on the coast of Guinea where manequeta is gathered ”’
(1. 430). Amomum Melequeta, an herbaceous, reedlike plant, three to
five feet high, is found along the coast of Africa, from Sierra Leone to the
Congo. Its seeds were called “Grains of Paradise,” or maniguetta, and the
coast alluded to by Columbus, between Liberia and Cape Palmas, washence

called the Grain Coast. The grains were used as a condiment, like pepper,
and in making the spiced wine called hippocras. (Markham.)
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Thursday, 10th of January

He departed from the place where he had anchored, and
at sunset he reached a river, to which he gave the name of
Rio de Gracia, three leagues to the S.E. He came to at the
mouth,' where there is good anchorage on the east side. There
is a bar with no more than two fathoms of water, and very
narrow across the entrance. It is a good and well-sheltered
port, except that there are many shipworms,” owing to which
the caravel Pinta, under Martin Alonso, received a good deal
of damage. He had been here bartering for 16 days, and got
much gold, which was what Martin Alonso wanted. As soon
as he heard from the Indians that the Admiral was on the
coast of the same island of Espafiola, and that he could not
avoid him, Pinzon came to him. He wanted all the people
of the ship to swear that he had not been there more than six
days. But his treachery was so public that it could not be
concealed. He had made a law that half of all the gold that
was collected was his. When he left this port he took four
men and two girls by force. But the Admiral ordered that
they should be clothed and put on shore to return to their
homes. ‘“This,”” the Admiral says, ‘‘is a service of your
Highnesses. For all the men and women are subjects of your
Highnesses, as well in this island as in the others. Here,
where your Highnesses already have a settlement, the people
ought to be tredted with honor and favor, seeing that this
island has so much gold and such good spice-yielding lands.”

Friday, 11th of January

At midnight the Admiral left the Rio de Gracia with the
land-breeze, and steered eastward until he came to a cape

! Rio Chuzona chica. (Navarrete.)

? Reading broma (*‘shipworm”) for brumae (“mist””) in the sentence :
stno que tiene mucha bruma. De la Roquette in the French translation
gives bruma the meaning of “ shipworm,” supposing it to be a variant
form of broma. The Italian translator of the letter on the fourth voyage
took droma to be bruma, translated it pruina e bruma, and consequently
had Columbus’s ship injured by frost near Panama in April ! Cf. Thacher,
Christopher Columbus, I1. 625, 790.
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named Belprado, at a distance of four leagues. To the S.E.
is the mountain to which he gave the name of Monte de Plata,’
eight leagues distant. Thence from the cape Belprado to
E.S.E. is the point named Angel, eighteen leagues distant;
and from this point to the Monte de Plata there is a gulf,
with the most beautiful lands in the world, all high and fine
lands which extend far inland. Beyond there is a range of
high mountains running east and west, very grand and beauti-
ful. At the foot of this mountain there is a very good port,?
with 14 fathoms in the entrance. The mountain is very
high and beautiful, and all the country is well peopled. The
Admiral believed there must be fine rivers and much gold.
At a distance of 4 leagues E.S.E. of Cabo del Angel there is a
cape named Punta del Hierro,®> and on the same course, 4
more leagues, a point is reached named Punta Seca.* Thence,
6 leagues further on, is Cabo Redondo,” and further on Cabo
Frances, where a large bay ® is formed, but there did not
appear to be anchorage in it. A league further on is Cabo del
Buen Tiempo, and thence, a good league S.S.E., is Cabo
Tajado.” Thence, to the south, another cape was sighted at a
distance of about 15 leagues. To-day great progress was made,
as wind and tide were favorable. The Admiral did not venture
to anchor for fear of the rocks, so he was hove-to all night.

Saturday, 12th of January

Towards dawn the Admiral filled and shaped a course to
the east with a fresh wind, running 20 miles before daylight,

! Bo called because the summit is always covered with white or silver
clouds. Las Casas, I. 432. A monastery of Dominicans was afterwards
built on Monte de Plata, in which Las Casas began to write his history of the
Indies in the year 1527. Las Casas, IV. 254. (Markham.)

? Puerto de Plata, where a flourishing seaport town was afterwards
established ; founded by Ovando in 1502. It had fallen to decay in 1606.
(Markham.)

 Punta Macuris. The distance is 3, not 4 leagues. (Navarrete.)

¢ Punta Sesua. The distance is only one league. (Id.)

® Cabo de la Roca. It should be 5, not 6 leagues. (Id.)

® Bahia Escocesa. (Id.)

" Las Casas says that none of these names remained even in his time.
1. 432.
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and in two hours afterwards 24 miles. Thence he saw land
to the south,' and steered towards it, distant 48 miles. During
the night he must have run 28 miles N.N.E., to keep the vessels
out of danger. When he saw the land, he named one cape
that he saw Cabo de Padre y Hijo, because at the east point
Jthere are two rocks, one larger than the other.” Afterwards,
at two leagues to the eastward, he saw a very fine bay between
two grand mountains. He saw that it was a very large port
with a very good approach; but, as it was very early in the
morning, and as the greater part of the time it was blowing
from the east, and then they had a N.N.W. breeze, he did not
wish to delay any more. IHe continued his course to the
east as far as a very high and beautiful cape, all of scarped
rock, to which he gave the name of Cabo del Enamorado,®
which was 32 miles to the east of the port named Puerto Sacro.*
On rounding the cape, another finer and loftier point came in
sight,” like Cape St. Vincent in Portugal, 12 miles east of Cabo
del Enamorado. As soon as he was abreast of the Cabo del
Enamorado, the Admiral saw that there was a great bay®
between this and the next point, three leagues across, and in
the middle of it a small island.” The depth is great at the
entrance close to the land. He anchored here in twelve fath-
oms, and sent the boat on shore for water, and to see if inter-
course could be opened with the natives, but they all fled.
He also anchored to ascertain whether this was all one land
with the island of Espafiola, and to make sure that this was a
gulf and not a channel, forming another island. He remained
astonished at the great size of Espaiiola.

* This was the Peninsula of Samana. (Navarrete.)

? Isla Yazual. (Id.)

3 Cabo Cabron, or Lover’s Cape; the extreme N.E. point of the island,
rising nearly 2000 feet above the sea. (Markham.)

* Puerto Yaqueron. (Navarrete.)

% Cabo Samana; called Cabo de San Theramo afterwards by Columbus.
(Markham.)

8 The Bay of Samana. (Navarrete.)
" Cayo de Levantados. (Id.)
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Sunday, 13th of January

The Admiral did not leave the port, because there was no
land-breeze with which to go out. He wished to shift to
another better port, because this was rather exposed. He
also wanted to wait, in that haven, the conjunction of the sun
and moon, which would take place on the 17th of this month,
and the opposition of the moon with Jupiter and conjunection
with Mercury, the sun being in opposition to Jupiter, which is
the cause of high winds. He sent the boat on shore to a beau-
tiful beach to obtain yams for food. They found some men
with bows and arrows, with whom they stopped to speak,
buying two bows and many arrows from them. They asked
one of them to come on board the caravel and see the Admiral ;
who says that he was very wanting in reverence, more so than
any native he had yet seen.! His face was all stained with
charcoal,” but in all parts there is the custom of painting the
body different colors. He wore his hair very long, brought
together and fastened behind, and put into a small net of
parrots’ feathers. Ile was naked, like all the others. The
Admiral supposed that he belonged to the Caribs, who eat
men,” and that the gulf he had seen yesterday formed this part
of the land into an island by itself. The Admiral asked about
the Caribs, and he pointed to the east, near at hand, which
means that he saw the Admiral yesterday before he entered
the bay. The Indian said there was much gold to the ecast,
pointing to the poop of the caravel, which was a good size,
meaning that there were pieces as large. He called gold tuob,
and did not understand caona, as they call it in the first part
of the island that was visited, nor nozay, the name in San
Salvador and the other islands. Copper or a base gold is

* This should be, “who says that he was very ugly of countenance,
more so than the others that he had seen.”

? Las Casas says, I. 433, “Not charcoal but a certain dye they make
from a certain fruit.”

® Las Casas, I. 434, says there never were any cannibals in Espafiola.
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called fuob in Espahola.! Of the island of Matinino this
Indian said that it was peopled by women without men,?and
that in it there was much tuob, which is gold or copper, and
that it is more to the east of Carib.* He also spoke of the
island of Goanin,* where there was much tuob. The Admiral
says that he had received notices of these islands from many
persons; that in the other islands the natives were in great
fear of the Caribs, called by some of them Caniba, but in Js-
pafiola Carib. He thought they must be an audacious race,
for they go to all these islands and eat the people they can
capture. He understood a few words, and the Indians who
were on board comprehended more, there being a difference
in the languages owing to the great distance between the
various islands. The Admiral ordered that the Indian should
be fed, and given pieces of green and red cloth, and glass beads,
which they like very much, and then sent on shore. He was
told to bring gold if he had any, and it was believed that he
had, from some small things he brought with him. When the
boat reached the shore there were fifty-five men behind the
trees, naked, and with very long hair, as the women wear it
in Castile. Behind the head they wore plumes of feathers
of parrots and other birds, and each man carried a bow. The
Indian landed, and signed to the others to put down their
bows and arrows, and a piece of a staff, which is like . . .}

*Las Casas, I. 434, says that a section in the northeastern part
of Tspafiola ““was inhabited by a tribe which called themselves Mazariges
and others Ciguayos and that they spoke different languages from the
rest of the island. I do not remember if they differed from each other
in speech since so many years have passed, and to-day there is no one
to inquire of, although I have talked many times with both genera-
tions; but more than fifty years have gone by.” The Ciguayos, he adds,
were called so because they wore their hair long as women do in Cas-
tile. This passage shows that Las Casas was writing this part of his
history a half-century after he went first to Espafiola, which was in 1502,
with Ovando.

? See p. 226, note 4, under Jan. 15.

# Porto Rico. (Navarrete.)

* Las Casas, I. 434, says that Guanin was not the name of an island, but
the word for a kind of base gold.

5 A gap in the original manuseript.
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very heavy, carried instead of a sword." As soon as they came
to the boat the crew landed, and began to buy the bows and
arrows and other arms, in accordance with an order of the
Admiral. Having sold two bows, they did not want to give
more, but began to attack the Spaniards, and to take hold of
them. They were running back to pick up their bows and
arrows where they had laid them aside, and took cords in
their hands to bind the boat’s crew. Seeing them rushing
down, and being prepared — for the Admiral always warned
them to be on their guard — the Spaniards attacked the
Indians, and gave one a slash with a knife in the buttocks,
wounding another in the breast with an arrow. Seeing that
they could gain little, although the Christians were only seven
and they numbered over fifty, they fled, so that none were
left, throwing bows and arrows away.”> The Christians
would have killed many, if the pilot, who was in command,
had not prevented them. The Spaniards presently returned
to the caravel with the boat. The Admiral regretted the affair
for one reason, and was pleased for another. They would
have fear of the Christians, and they were no doubt an ill-
conditioned people, probably Caribs, who eat men. But the
Admiral felt alarm lest they should do some harm to the 39
men left in the fortress and town of Navidad, in the event
of their coming here in their boat. Even if they are not
Caribs, they are a neighboring people, with similar habits,
and fearless, unlike the other inhabitants of the island, who are
timid, and without arms. The Admiral says all this, and adds
that he would have liked to have captured some of them.
He says that they lighted many smoke signals, as is the custom
in this island of Espaiiola.

! Las Casas, I. 435, has, “and as word of a palm-tree board which is very
hard and very heavy, not sharp but blunt, about two fingers thick every-
where, with which as it is hard and heavy like iron, although a man has a
helmet on his head they will crush his skull to the brain with one blow.”

? “This was the first fight that there was in all the Indies and when
the blood of the Indians was shed.” Las Casas, 1. 436.
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Monday, 14th of January

This evening the Admiral wished to find the houses of the
Indians and to capture some of them, believing them to be
Caribs. For, owing to the strong east and north-east winds
and the heavy sea, he had remained during the day. Many
Indians were seen on shore. The Admiral, therefore, ordered
the boat to be sent on shore, with the crew well armed. Pres-
ently the Indians came to the stern of the boat, including the
man who had been on board the day before, and had received
presents from the Admiral. With him there came a king,
who had given to the said Indian some beads in token of safety
and peace for the boat’s crew. This king, with three of his
followers, went on board the boat and came to the caravel.
The Admiral ordered them to be given biscuit and treacle
to eat, and gave the chief a red cap, some beads, and a piece
of red cloth. The others were also given pieces of cloth. The
chief said that next day he would bring a mask made of gold,
affirming that there was much here, and in Carib® and Mati-
nino.? They afterwards went on shore well satisfied.

The Admiral here says that the caravels were making much
water, which entered by the keel; and he complains of the
caulkers at Palos, who caulked the vessels very badly, and ran
away when they saw that the Admiral had detected the bad-
ness of their work, and intended to oblige them to repair the
defect. But, notwithstanding that the caravels were making
much water, he trusted in the favor and mercy of our Lord,
for his high Majesty well knew how much controversy there
was before the expedition could be despatched from Castile,
that no one was in the Admiral’s favor save Him alone who
knew his heart, and after God came your Highnesses, while
all others were against him without any reason. He further
says: ‘“And this has been the cause that the royal crown of
your Highnesses has not a hundred millions of revenue more

! Porto Rico. Navarrete says it is certain that the Indians called
Porto Rico Isla de Carib.
? Probably Martinique or Guadeloupe. (Navarrete.)

Q
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than after 1 entered your service, which is seven years ago in
this very month, the 20th of January." The increase will take
place from now onwards. For the almighty God will remedy
all things.” ? These are his words.

Tuesday, 15th of January

The Admiral now wished to depart, for there was nothing
to be gained by further delay, after these occurrences and the
tumult with the Indians. To-day he had heard that all the
gold was in the district of the town of Navidad, belonging to
their Highnesses; and that in the island of Carib ® there was
much copper, as well as in Matinino. The intercourse at Carib
would, however, be difficult, because the natives are said to
eat human flesh. Their island would be in sight from thence,
and the Admiral determined to go there, as it was on the route,
and thence to Matinino, which was said to be entirely peopled
by women, without men.* He would thus see both islands, and

1 By this calculation the Admiral entered the service of the Catholic
Sovereigns on January 20, 1486. (Navarrete.)

2 “What would he have said if he had seen the millions and millions
(cuentos y millones) that the sovereigns have received from his labors since
his death?” Las Casas, 1. 437.

3 Porto Rico.

4 Columbus had read in Marco Poloof the islands of Mascuria and FruI-
NINA in the Indian Seas and noted the passage in his copy. See ch. xxxmI.
of pt. 11, of Marco Polo. On the other hand there is evidence for an in-
digenous Amazon myth in the New World. The earliest sketch of Ameri-
can folk-lore ever made, that of the Friar Ramon Pane in 1497, preserved
in Ferdinand Columbus’s Historie and in a condensed form in Peter
Martyr’s De Rebus Oceanicis (Dec. 1, lib. 1x.), tells the story of the culture-
hero Guagugiona, who set forth from the cave, up to that time the home of
mankind, “with all the women in search of other lands and he came to
Matinino, where at once he left the women and went away to another coun~
try,” etc., Historie (London ed., 1867), p. 188. Ramon’s name is errone-
ously given as Roman in the Historie. On the Amazons in Venezuela, see
Oviedo, lib. xxv., cap. x1v. It may be accepted that the Amazon myth
as given by Oviedo, from which the great river derived its name, River of
the Amazons, is a composite of an Arawak folk-tale like that preserved by
Ramon Pane overlaid with the details of the Marco Polo myth, which in
turn derives from the classical myth.
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might take some of the natives. The Admiral sent the boat
on shore, but the king of that district had not come, for his
village was distant. He, however, sent his crown of gold, as
he had promised; and many other natives came with cotton,
and bread made from yams, all with their bows and arrows.
After the bartering was finished, four youths came to the cara-
vel. They appeared to the Admiral to give such a clear ac-
count of the islands to the eastward, on the same route as
the Admiral would have to take, that he determined to take
them to Castile with him. He says that they had no iron nor
other metals; at least none was seen, but it was impossible to
know much of the land in so short a time, owing to the diffi-
culty with the language, which the Admiral could not under-
stand except by guessing, nor could they know what was said to
them, in such a few days. The bows of these people are as
large as those of France or England. The arrows are similar
to the darts of the natives who have been met with previously,
which are made of young canes, which grow very straight, and
a yard and a half or two yards in length. They point them
with a piece of sharp wood, a span and a half long, and at the
end some of them fix a fish’s tooth, but most of them anoint
it with an herb.! They do not shoot as in other parts, but in a
certain way which cannot do much harm. Here they have a
great deal of fine and long cotton, and plenty of mastic.
The bows appeared to be of yew, and there is gold and copper.
There is also plenty of aji,> which is their pepper, which is
more valuable than pepper, and all the people eat nothing
else, it being very wholesome. Fifty caravels might be an-
nually loaded with it from Espafiola. The Admiral says that
he found a great deal of weed in this bay, the same as was met
with at sea when he came on this discovery. He therefore

1Y los mas le ponen ollf yerba, * and the most of them put on poi-
son.”  The description of these arrows corresponds exactly with that
given by Sir E. im Thurn of the poisoned arrows of the Indians of Guiana,
which still have ‘‘ adjustable wooden tips smeared with poison, which are
inserted in the socket at the end of a reed shaft.” Among the Indians of
Guiana, p. 242.

? Capsicum. (Markham.)
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supposed that there were islands to the eastward, in the direc-
tion of the position where he began to meet with it; for he
considers it certain that this weed has its origin in shallow
water near the land, and, if this is the case, these Indies must
be very near the Canary Islands. For this reason he thought
the distance must be less than 400 leagues.

Wednesday, 16th of January

They got under way three hours before daylight, and
left the gulf, which was named Golfo de las Flechas,' with the
land-breeze. Afterwards there was a west wind, which was
fair to go to the island of Carib on an E.N.E. course. This
was where the people live of whom all the natives of the other
islands are so frightened, because they roam over the sea in
canoes without number, and eat the men they can capture.
The Admiral steered the course indicated by one of the four
Indians he took yesterday in the Puerto de las Flechas. After
having sailed about 64 miles, the Indians made signs that the
island was to the S.E.?> The Admiral ordered the sails to be
trimmed for that course, but, after having proceeded on it
for two leagues, the wind freshened from a quarter which was
very favorable for the voyage to Spain. The Admiral had
noticed that the crew were downhearted when he deviated
from the direct route home, reflecting that both caravels were
leaking badly, and that there was no help but in God. He
therefore gave up the course leading to the islands, and shaped
a direct course for Spain E.N.E. Ie sailed on this course,
making 48 miles, which is 12 leagues, by sunset. The Indians
said that by that route they would fall in with the island of
Matinino, peopled entirely by women without men, and the
Admiral wanted very much to take five or six of them to the
Sovereigns. But he doubted whether the Indians understood

! Gulf of the Arrows. This was the Bay of Samana, into which the river
Yuna flows. (Navarrete.)

? Porto Rico. It would have been distant about 30 leagues.
(Navarrete.)
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the route well, and he could not afford to delay, by reason of
the leaky condition of the caravels. He,however, believed the
story, and that, at certain seasons, men came to them from
the island of Carib, distant ten or twelve leagues. If males
were born, they were sent to the island of the men; and if
females, they remained with their mothers.! The Admiral
says that these two islands cannot have been more than 15
or 20 leagues to the S.E. from where he altered course, the
Indians not understanding how to point out the direction.
After losing sight of the cape, which was named San Theramo,?
which was left 16 leagues to the west, they went for 12 leagues
EN.E. The weather was very fine.

Thursday, 17th of January

The wind went down at sunset yesterday, the caravels
having sailed 14 glasses, each a little less than half-an-hour,
at 4 miles an hour, making 28 miles. Afterwards the wind
freshened, and they ran all that watch, which was 10 glasses.
Then another six until sunrise at 8 miles an hour, thus making
altogether 84 miles, equal to 21 leagues, to the EN.E., and
until sunset 44 miles, or 11 leagues, to the east. Here a
booby * came to the caravel, and afterwards another. The
Admiral saw a great deal of gulf-weed.

Friday, 18th of January

During the night they steered E.S.E., with little wind, for
40 miles, equal to 10 leagues, and then 30 miles, or 71 leagues,
until sunrise. All day they proceeded with little wind to
E.N.E. and N.E. by E., more or less, her head being sometimes

! “The sons remain with their mothers till the age of fourteen when they
go to join their fathers in their separate abode.” Marco Polo, pt. .,
ch. xxxm. Cj. p. 226, note 4.

? Now called Cabod el Engafio, the extreme eastern point of Espafiola.
It bad the same name when Las Casas wrote. (Markham.)

3 Alcatraz. :
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north and at others N.N.E., and, counting one with the other,
they made 60 miles, or 15 leagues. There was little weed,
but yesterday and to-day the sea appeared to be full of tunnies.
The Admiral believed that from there they must go to the
tunny-fisheries of the Duke, of Conil and Cadiz.! He also
thought they were near some islands, because a frigate-bird 2
flew round the caravel, and afterwards went away to the S.S.E.
He said that to the S.E. of the island of Espafiola were the
islands of Carib, Matinino, and many others.

Saturday, 19th of January

During the night they made good 56 miles N.N.E., and
64 N.E. by N. After sunrise they steered N.E. with the wind
fresh from S.W., and afterwards W.S.W. 84 miles, equal to
21 leagues. The sea was again full of small tunnies. There
were boobies, frigate-birds, and terns.?

Sunday, 20th of January

It was calm during the night, with occasional slants of
wind, and they only made 20 miles to the N.E. After sunrise
they went 11 miles S.E., and then 36 miles N.N.E., equal to
9 leagues. They saw an immense quantity of small tunnies,
the air very soft and pleasant, like Seville in April or May,

! The almadrabas, or tunny fisheries of Rota, near Cadiz, were inherited
by the Duke, as well as those of Conil, a little fishing town 6 leagues east
of Cadiz. (Markham.)

? Un pescado (a fish), called the rabiforcado. For un pescado, we
should probably read una ave pescadora, and translate: a fishing bird, called
rabiforcado. See entry for September 29 and note.

8 Alcatraces, rabos de juncos, and rabiforcados : boobies, boatswain-
birds, and frigate-birds. The translator has not been consistent in
selecting English equivalents for these names. In the entry of January 18
rabiforcado is frigate-bird; in that of January 19 rabo de junco is frigate-
bird; in that of January 21 rabo de junco is boatswain-bird. September
14 garjao is the tern, while on January 19 the rabiforcado is the tern. On
these birds, see notes 11, 12,13, and 20. See also Oviedo, Historia General
y natural de las Indias, lib. x1v., cap. 1., for descriptions of these birds.
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and the sea, for which God be given many thanks, always very
smooth.  Frigate-birds, sandpipers," and other birds were
seen.

Monday, 21st of January

Yesterday, before sunset, they steered N.E. b. E., with the
wind east, at the rate of 8 miles an hour until midnight, equal
to 56 miles. Afterwards they steered N.N.E. 8 miles an hour,
so that they made 104 miles, or 26 leagues, during the night
N.E. by N. After sunrise they steered N.N.E. with the same
wind, which at times veered to N.E., and they made good 88
miles in the eleven hours of daylight, or 21 leagues: except
one that was lost by delay caused by closing with the Pinia
to communicate. The air was colder, and it seemed to get
colder as they went further north, and also that the nights
grew longer owing to the narrowing of the sphere. Many
boatswain-birds and terns ? were seen, as well as other birds
but not so many fish, perhaps owing to the water being colder.
Much weed was seen.

Tuesday, 29nd of January

Yesterday, after sunset, they steered N.N.E. with an east
wind. They made 8 miles an hour during five glasses, and
three before the watch began, making eight glasses, equal to
72 miles, or 18 leagues. Afterwards they went N.E. by N.
for six glasses, which would be another 18 miles. Then, during
four glasses of the second watch N.E. at six miles an hour, or
three leagues. TFrom that time to sunset, for eleven glasses,
E.N.E. at 6 leagues an hour,® equal to seven leagues. Then

* Rabiforcados y pardelas. Las Casas, I 440, has aves pardelas. Tal-
hausen, Neues Spanisch-deutsches Worterbuch, defines pardelas as Peters-vogel,
1.e., petrel.

* Rabos de juncos y pardelas. The translator vacillates between sand-
pipers and terns in rendering pardelas. Cjf. January 28 and 31, but as has just
been noted “petrels” is the proper word.

3 An error of the transcriber for miles. Each glass being half-an-hour,
going six miles an hour, they would have made 33 miles or 8} leagues in five
hours and a half. (Navarrete.)
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E.N.E. until 11 o’clock, 32 miles. Then the wind fell, and
they made no more during that day. The Indians swam about.
They saw boatswain-birds and much weed.

Wednesday, 23rd of January

To-night the wind was very changeable, but, making the
allowances applied by good sailors, they made 84 miles, or
21 leagues, N.E. by N. Many times the caravel Nifig had to
wait for the Pinta, because she sailed badly when on a bowline,
the mizzen being of little use owing to the weakness of the
mast. He says that if her captain, that is, Martin Alonso
Pinzon, had taken the precaution to provide her with a good
mast in the Indies, where there are so many and such excellent
spars, instead of deserting his commander from motives of
avarice, he would have done better. They saw many boat-
swain-birds and much weed. The heavens have been clouded
over during these last days, but there has been no rain. The
sea has been as smooth as a river, for which many thanks be
given to God. After sunrise they went free, and made 30 miles,
or 7 leagues N.E. During the rest of the day E.N.E. another
30 miles.

Thursday, 24th of January

They made 44 miles, or 11 leagues, during the night,
allowing for many changes in the wind, which was generally
N.E. After sunrise until sunset E.N.E. 14 leagues.

Friday, 25th of January

They steered during part of the night E.N.E. for 13 glasses,
making 9% leagues. Then N.N.E. 6 miles. The wind fell,
and during the day they only made 28 miles E.N.E., or 7
leagues. The sailors killed a tunny and a very large shark,
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which was very welcome, as they now had nothing but bread
and wine, and some yams from the Indies.

Saturday, 26th of January

This night they made 56 miles, or 14 leagues, E.S.E. After
sunrise they steered E.S.E., and sometimes S.E., making 40
miles up to 11 o’clock. Afterwards they went on another
tack, and then on a bowline, 24 miles, or 6 leagues, to the north,
until night.

Sunday, 27th of January

Yesterday, after sunset, they steered N.E. and N.E. by N.
at the rate of five miles an hour, which in thirteen hours would
be 65 miles, or 164 leagues. After sunrise they steered N.E.
24 miles, or 6 leagues, until noon, and from that time until
sunset 3 leagues E.N.E.

Monday, 28th of January

All night they steered E.N.E. 36 miles, or 9 leagues. After
sunrise until sunset E.N.E. 20 miles, or 5 leagues. The
weather was temperate and pleasant. They saw boatswain-
birds, sandpipers,’ and much weed.

Tuesday, 29th of January

They steered E.N.E. 39 miles, or 9% leagues, and during
the whole day 8 leagues. The air was very pleasant, like
April in Castile, the sea smooth, and fish they call dorados?
came on board.

1 Petrels.
? The English equivalent is dory, or gilthead.
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Wednesday, 30th of January

All this night they made 6 leagues E.N.E., and in the day
S.E. by S. 13% leagues. Boatswain-birds, much weed, and
many tunnies.

Thursday, 31st of January

This night they steered N.E. by N. 30 miles, and after-
wards N.E. 35 miles, or 16 leagues. From sunrise to night
E.N.E. 13} leagues. They saw boatswain-birds and terns.!

Friday, 1st of February

They made 16% leagues E.N.E. during the night, and went
on the same course during the day 291 leagues. The sea very
smooth, thanks be to God.

Saturday, 2nd of February

They made 40 miles, or 10 leagues, E.N.E. this night. In
the daytime, with the same wind aft, they went 7 miles an
hour, so that in eleven hours they had gone 77 miles, or 9%
leagues. The sea was very smooth, thanks be to God, and the
air very soft. They saw the sea so covered with weed that,
if they had not known about it before, they would have been
fearful of sunken rocks. They saw terns.!

Sunday, 3rd of February

This night, the wind being aft and the sea very smooth,
thanks be to God, they made 29 leagues. The North Star
appeared very high, as it does off Cape St. Vincent. The

! Petrels.
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Admiral was unable to take the altitude, either with the
astrolabe or with the quadrant, because the rolling caused
by the waves prevented it. That day he steered his course
E.N.E., going 10 miles an hour, so that in eleven hours he made
27 leagues.

Monday, 4th of February

During the night the course was N.E. by E., going twelve
miles an hour part of the time, and the rest ten miles. Thus
they made 130 miles, or 32 leagues and a half. The sky was
very threatening and rainy, and it was rather cold, by which
they knew that they had not yet reached the Azores. After
sunrise the course was altered to east. During the whole
day they made 77 miles, or 19 leagues.

Tuesday, 5th of February

This night they steered east, and made 55 miles, or 13}
leagues. In the day they were going ten miles an hour, and
in eleven hours made 110 miles, or 274 leagues. They saw
sandpipers, and some small sticks, a sign that they were near
land.

Wednesday, 6th of February

They steered east during the night, going at the rate of
eleven miles an hour, so that in the thirteen hours of the night
they made 143 miles, or 35% leagues. They saw many birds.
In the day they went 14 miles an hour, and made 154 miles,
or 38% leagues; so that, including night and day, they made
74 leagues, more or less. Vicente Anes' said that they had
left the island of Flores to the north and Madeira to the east.
Roldan ? said that the island of Fayal, or San Gregorio, was

! Vicente Yafiez Pinzon.
? Later a rich citizen of the city of Santo Domingo, Espafiola, where he
was known as Roldan the pilot. Las Casas, 1. 443,
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to the N.N.E. and Puerto Santo to east. There was much
weed.

Thursday, 7th of February

This night they steered east, going ten miles an hour, so
that in thirteen hours they made 130 miles, or 32} leagues. In
the daytime the rate was eight miles an hour, in eleven hours
88 miles, or 22 leagues. This morning the Admiral found
himself 65 leagues south of the island of Flores, and the pilot
Pedro Alonso,’ being further north, according to his reckoning,
passed between Terceira and Santa Maria to the east, passing
to windward of the island of Madeira, twelve leagues further
north. The sailors saw a new kind of weed, of which there is
plenty in the islands of the Azores.

Friday, 8th of February

They went three miles an hour to the eastward for some
time during the night, and afterwards E.S.E., going twelve
miles an hour. From sunrise to noon they made 27 miles,

and the same distance from noon till sunset, equal to 13 leagues
S.S8.E.

Saturday, 9th of February
For part of this night they went 3 leagues S.S.E., and

afterwards S. by E., then N.E. 5 leagues until ten o’clock in
the forenoon, then 9 leagues east until dark.

Sunday, 10th of February

From sunset they steered east all night, making 130 miles,
or 32} leagues. During the day they went at the rate of nine
* The name is also written Peralonso Nifio. He made one of the first voy-

ages to the mainland of South America after the third voyage of Columbus.
See Irving, Companions of Columbus. Bourne, Spain in America, p. 69.
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miles an hour, making 99 miles, or 24} leagues, in eleven
hours.

In the caravel of the Admiral, Vicente Yaiiez and the two
pilots, Sancho Ruiz and Pedro Alonso Nifio, and Roldan,
charted or plotted the route. They all made the posi-
tion a good deal beyond the islands of the Azores to the east,
and, navigating to the north, none of them touched Santa
Maria, which is the last of all the Azores. They made the
position five leagues beyond it, and were in the vicinity of
the islands of Madeira and Puerto Santo. But the Admiral
was very different from them in his reckoning, finding the posi-
tion very much in rear of theirs. This night he found the island
of Flores to the north, and to the east he made the direction
to be towards Nafe in Africa, passing to leeward of the island
of Madeira to the north . . . leagues.! So that the pilots
were nearer to Castile than the Admiral by 150 leagues. The
Admiral says that, with the grace of God, when they reach the
land they will find out whose reckoning was most correct. He
also says that he went 263 leagues from the island of Hierro
to the place where he first saw the gulf-weed.

Monday, 11th of February

This night they went twelve miles an hour on their course,
and during the day they ran 16} leagues. They saw many
birds, from which they judged that land was near.

Tuesday, 12th of February

They went six miles an hour on an east course during the
night, altogether 73 miles, or 18% leagues. At this time they
began to encounter bad weather with a heavy sea; and, if
the caravel had not been very well managed, she must have
been lost. During the day they made 11 or 12 leagues with
much difficulty and danger.

1 A gap in the original manuscript.
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Wednesday, 13th of February

From sunset until daylight there was great trouble with the
wind, and the high and tempestuous sea. There was light-
ning three times to the N.N.E. —a sign of a great storm
coming either from that quarter or its opposite. They were
lying-to most of the night, afterwards showing a little sail,
and made 52 miles, which is 13 leagues. In the day the wind
moderated a little, but it soon increased again. The sea was
terrific, the waves crossing each other, and straining the
vessels. They made 55 miles more, equal to 13} leagues.

Thursday, 14th of February

This night the wind increased, and the waves were terrible,
rising against each other, and so shaking and straining the ves-
sel that she could make no headway, and was in danger of
being stove in. They carried the mainsail very closely reefed,
so as just to give her steerage-way, and proceeded thus for
three hours, making 20 miles. Meanwhile, the wind and sea
increased, and, seeing the great danger, the Admiral began to
run before it, there being nothing else to be done. The cara-
vel Pinta began to run before the wind at the same time, and
Martin Alonso ran her out of sight,' although the Admiral
kept showing lanterns all night, and the other answered.
It would seem that she could do no more, owing to the force
of the tempest, and she was taken far from the route of the
Admiral. He steered that night E.N.E., and made 54 miles,
equal to 13 leagues. At sunrise the wind blew still harder,
and the cross sea was terrific. They continued to show the
closely-reefed mainsail, to enable her to rise from between the

! Martin Alonso Pinzon succeeded in bringing the caravel Pinta into
port at Bayona in Galicia. He went thence to Palos, arriving in the even-
ing of the same day as the Nifia with the Admiral. Pinzon died very soon
afterwards. Oviedo [ I. 27] says: “He went to Palos to his own house
and died after a few days since he went there very ill.” (Markham.)
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waves, or she would otherwise have been swamped. An E.N.E.
course was steered, and afterwards N.E. by E. for six hours,
making 7% leagues. The Admiral ordered that a pilgrimage
should be made to Our Lady of Guadalupe,* carrying a candle
of 6 Ibs. of weight in wax, and that all the crew should take an
oath that the pilgrimage should be made by the man on whom
the lot fell. As many chick-peas were got as there were per-
sons on board, and on one a cross was cut with a knife. They
were then put into a cap and shaken up. The first who put
in his hand was the Admiral, and he drew out the chick-pea with
a cross, so the lot fell on him; and he was bound to go on the
pilgrimage and fulfil the vow. Another lot was drawn, to go
on pilgrimage to Our Lady of Loreto, which is in the march
of Ancona, in the Papal territory, a house where Our Lady
works many and great miracles.> The lot fell on a sailor of
the port of Santa Maria, named Pedro de Villa, and the Ad-
miral promised to pay his travelling expenses. Another pil-
grimage was agreed upon, to watch for one night in Santa
Clara at Moguer,® and have a mass said, for which they again
used the chick-peas, including the one with a cross. The lot
again fell on the Admiral. After this the Admiral and all the
crew made a vow that, on arriving at the first land, they
would all go in procession, in their shirts, to say their prayers
in a church dedicated to Our Lady.

Besides these general vows made in common, each sailor
made a special vow; for no one expected to escape, holding
themselves for lost, owing to the fearful weather from which
they were suffering. The want of ballast increased the danger
of the ship, which had become light, owing to the consumption
of the provisions and water. On account of the favorable

1 The Virgin of Guadalupe was the patroness of Estremadura. As many
of the early colonists went from Estremadura there came to be a good
number of her shrines in Mexico. Cf. R. Ford, Handbook for Spain,
index under “Guadalupe.”

2 A full account of the shrine at Loreto may be found in Addis and
Arnold, Catholic Dictionary, under “Loreto.”

$ “This is the house where the sailors of the country particularly have
their devotions.” Las Casas, 1. 446, Moguer was a village near Palos.
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weather enjoyed among the islands, the Admiral had omitted
to make provision for this need, thinking that ballast might
be taken on board at the island inhabited by women, which
he had intended to visit. The only thing to do was to fill the
barrels that had contained wine or fresh water with water
from the sea, and this supplied a remedy.

Here the Admiral writes of the causes which made him
fear that he would perish, and of others that gave him hope
that God would work his salvation, in order that such news
as he was bringing to the Sovereigns might not be lost. It
seemed to him that the strong desire he felt to bring such great
news, and to show that all he had said and offered to discover
had turned out true, suggested the fear that he would not be
able to do so, and that each stinging insect would be able to
thwart and impede the work. He attributes this fear to his
little faith, and to his want of confidence in Divine Provi-
dence.

He was comforted, on the other hand, by the mercies of God
in having vouchsafed him such a victory, in the discoveries he
had made, and in that God had complied with all his desires
in Castile, after much adversity and many misfortunes. As
he had before put all his trust in God, who had heard him and
granted all he sought, he ought now to believe that God would
permit the completion of what had been begun, and ordain that he
should be saved. Especially as he had freed him on the voyage
out, when he had still greater reason to fear, from the trouble
caused by the sailors and people of his company, who all with
one voice declared their intention to return, and protested
that they would rise against him." But the eternal God gave
him force and valor to withstand them all, and in many other
marvellous ways had God shown his will in this voyage besides
those known to their Highnesses. Thus he ought not to fear
the present tempest, though his weakness and anxiety prevent
him from giving tranquillity to his mind. He says further
that it gave him great sorrow to think of the two sons he had
left at their studies in Cordova, who would be left orphans,

! See page 108, note 1, and entry for October 10.
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without father or mother,' in a strange land; while the Sover-
eigns would not know of the services he had performed in
this voyage, nor would they receive the prosperous news
which would move them to help the orphans. To remedy
this, and that their Highnesses might know how our Lord
had granted a victory in all that could be desired respecting
the Indies,” and that they might understand that there were
no storms in those parts, which may be known by the herbs
and trees which grow even within the sea;® also that the
Sovereigns might still have information, even if he perished
in the storm, he took a parchment and wrote on it as good an
account as he could of all he had discovered, entreating any
one who might pick it up to deliver it to the Sovereigns. He
rolled this parchment up in waxed cloth, fastened it very
securely, ordered a large wooden barrel to be brought, and put
it inside, so that no one else knew what it was. They thought
that it was some act of devotion, and so he ordered the barrel
to be thrown into the sea. Afterwards, in the showers and
squalls, the wind veered to the west, and they went before it,
only with the foresail, in a very confused sea, for five hours.
They made 23 leagues N.E. They had taken in the reefed
mainsail, for fear some wave of the sea should carry all away.*

! As Beatriz Enriquez, the mother of Ferdinand, was still living, this pas-
sage has occasioned much perplexity. A glance at the corresponding passage,
quoted in direct discourse from this entry in the Journal, in the Historie of
Ferdinand, shows that the words “orphans without father or mother’’ were
not in the original Journal, if we ean trust this transcript. On the other
hand, Las Casas, inhis Histor{a, I. 447, where he used the original Journal and
not the abridgment that Has come down to us, has the words “ huerfanos de
padre y madre en fierra estrafie.” It may be that Ferdinand noted the error
of the original Journal and quietly corrected it.

? In Ferdinand’s text nothing is said explicitly about the Indies.

* There is nothing corresponding to this in Ferdinand’s extract from the
Journal. Was this omission also a case of pious revision ?

The Admiral thought that there could be no great storms in the countries
he had discovered, because trees (mangroves) actually grew with their roots
in the sea. The herbage on the beach nearly reached the waves, which does
not happen when the sea is rough. (Markham.)

* Ferdinand Columbus has preserved in his life of his father the exact
words of the Journal for the last two pages of the entry for February 14.
The extraet is given here to illustrate the character of the work of the epito-

R
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Friday, 15th of February

Last night, after sunset, the sky began to clear towards
the west, showing that the wind was inclined to come from

mizer who prepared the text of the Journal as it has come down to us.
T should have borne this fortune with less distress if my life alone had been
in peril, since I am aware that I am in debt to the Most High Creator for my
life and because at other times I havefound myself so near to death that al-
most nothing remained but to suffer it. But what caused me boundless
grief and trouble was the reflection that, now that Our Lord had been pleased
to enlighten me with the faith and with the certainty of this undertaking
in which he had already given me the victory, that just now, when our
gainsayers were to be convinced and your Highnesses were to receive from me
glory and enlargement of your high estate, the Divine Majesty should will
to block it with my death. This last would have been more endurable if
it did not involve that of the people I brought with me with the promise
of a very prosperous issue. They sceing themselves in such a plight not only
cursed their coming but even the fear or the restraint which after my per-
suasions prevented them from turning back from the way as many times they
were resolved to do. And above all this my grief was redoubled at the vision
before my eyes and at the recollection of two little sons that I had left at
their studies in Cordova without succor in a strange land and without my
having rendered (or at least without its being made manifest) the service for
which one might trust that your Highnesses would remember them.

¢ And although on theone hand I was comforted by the faith that T had
that Our Lord would never suffer a work which would bighly exalt his Church,
which at length after so much opposition and such labors I had brought to
the last stage, to remain unaccomplished and that I should be broken; on
the other hand, I thought that, either on account of my demerits or to
prevent my enjoying so much glory in this world, it was his pleasure to take
it away from me, and so while thus in perplexity I bethought myself of the
venture of your Highnesses who even if I should die and the ship be lost,
might find means of not losing a victory already achieved and that it might
be possible in some way for the news of the success of my voyage to come
to your ears; wherefore I wrote on a parchment with the brevity that the
time demanded how I had discovered the lands that I had promised to, and
in how many days; and the route I had followed; and the goodness of the
countries, and the quality of their inhabitants and how they were the vassals
of your Highnesses who had possession of all that had been found by me.
This writing folded and sealed I directed to your Highnesses with the super-
scription or promise of a thousand ducats to him who should deliver it thus
unopened, in order that, if some foreigners should find it, the truth of this
superscription might prevent them from disposing of the information which
was inside. And I straightway had a large cask brought and having wrapped
the writing in a waxed cloth and put it into a kind of tart or cake of wax I
placed it in the barrel which, stoutly hooped, I then threw into the sea. All
believed that it was some act of devotion. Then because I thought it might
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that quarter. The admiral added the bonnet ! to the mainsail.
The sea was still very high, although it had gone down slightly.
They steered E.N.E., and went four miles an hour, which made
13 leagues during the eleven hours of the night. After sunrise
they sighted land. It appeared from the bows to bear E.N.E.
Some said it was the island of Madeira, others that it was the
rock of Cintra, in Portugal, near Lisbon. Presently the wind
headed to E.N.I., and a heavy sea came from the west, the
caravel being 5 leagues from the land. The Admiral found by
his reckoning that he was close to the Azores, and believed
that this was one of them. The pilots and sailors thought
it was the land of Castile.? -

Saturday, 16th of February

All that night the Admiral was standing off and on to keep
clear of the land, which they now knew to be an island, some-
times standing N.E., at others N.N.E., until sunrise, when they
tacked to the south to reach the island, which was now con-
cealed by a great mist. Another island was in sight from
the poop, at a distance of eight leagues. Afterwards, from
sunrise until dark, they were tacking to reach the land
against a strong wind and head-sea. At the time of repeat-
ing the Salve, which is just before dark, some of the men
saw a light to leeward, and it seemed that it must be on the
island they first saw yesterday. All night they were beating
to windward, and going as near as they could, so as to see some
way to the island atsunrise. That night the Admiral got a little
rest, for he had not slept nor been able to sleep since Wed-
nesday, and he had lost the use of his legs from long exposure

not arrive safely and the ships were all the while approaching Castile I made
another package like that and placed it on the upper part of the poop in
order that if the ship should sink the barrel might float at the will of fate.”

! The bonnet was a small sail usually cut to a third the size of the mizzen,
or a fourth of the mainsail. It was secured through eyelet-holes to the leech
of the mainsail, in the manner of a studding sail. (Navarrete.)

? On this day the Admiral dated the letter to Santangel, the escribano de
racion, which is given below on pp. 263-272.
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to the wet and cold. At sunrise® he steered S.8.W., and
reached the island at night, but could not make out what
island it was, owing to the thick weather.

Monday, 18th of February

Yesterday, after sunset, the Admiral was sailing round the
island, to see where he could anchor and open communications.
He let go one anchor, which he presently lost, and then stood
off and on all night. After sunrise he again reached the north
side of the island, where he anchored, and sent the boat on
shore. They had speech with the people, and found that it was
the island of Santa Maria, one of the Azores. They pointed
out the port 2 to which the caravel should go. They said that
they had never seen such stormy weather as there had been
for the last fifteen days, and they wondered how the caravel
could have escaped. They gave many thanks to God, and
showed great joy at the news that the Admiral had discovered
the Indies. The Admiral says that his navigation had been
very certain, and that he had laid his route down on
the chart. Many thanks were due to our Lord, although there
had been some delay. But he was sure that he was in the
region of the Azores, and that this was one of them. He pre-
tended to have gone over more ground, to mislead the pilots
and mariners who pricked off the charts, in order that he might
remain master of that route to the Indies, as, in fact, he did.
For none of the others kept an accurate reckoning, so that no
one but himself could be sure of the route to the Indies. -

Tuesday, 19th of February

After sunset three natives of the island came to the beach
and hailed. The Admiral sent the boat, which returned with
fowls and fresh bread. It was carnival time, and they brought

t This was on Sunday, 17th of February. (Navarrete.)
? The port of San Lorenzo, ([d.)
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other things which were sent by the captain of the island,
named Juan de Castalleda, saying that he knew the Admiral
very well, and that he did not come to see him because it was
night, but that at dawn he would come with more refreshments,
bringing with him three men of the boat’s ecrew, whom he did
not send back owing to the great pleasure he derived from
hearing their account of the voyage. The Admiral ordered
much respect to be shown to the messengers, and that
they should be given beds to sleep in that night, because it
was late, and the town was far off. As on the previous Thurs-
day, when they were in the midst of the storm, they had made
a vow to go in procession to a church of Our Lady as soon as
they came to land, the Admiral arranged that half the crew
should go to comply with their obligation to a small chapel,
like a hermitage, near the shore; and that he would himself
go afterwards with the rest. Believing that it was a peaceful
land, and confiding in the offers of the captain of the island,
and in the peace that existed between Spain and Portugal,
he asked the three men to go to the town and arrange for a
priest to come and say mass. The half of the crew then went
in their shirts, in compliance with their vow. While they were
at their prayers, all the people of the town, horse and foot,
with the captain at their head, came and took them all pris-
oners. The Admiral, suspecting nothing, was waiting for
the boat to take him and the rest to accomplish the vow.
At 11 o’clock, seeing that they did not come back, he feared
that they had been detained, or that the boat had been
swamped, all the island being surrounded by high rocks. He
could not see what had taken place, because the hermitage
was round a point. He got up the anchor, and made sail
until he was in full view of the hermitage, and he saw many
of the horsemen dismount and get into the boat with arms.
They came to the caravel to seize the Admiral. The captain
stood up in the boat, and asked for an assurance of safety
from the Admiral, who replied that he granted it; but, what
outrage was this, that he saw none of his people in the boat?
The Admiral added that they might come on board, and that
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he would do all that might be proper. The Admiral tried,
with fair words, to get hold of this captain, that he might
recover his own people, not considering that he broke faith
by giving him security, because he had offered peace and se-
curity, and had then broken his word. The captain, as he
came with an evil intention, would not come on board. See-
ing that he did not come alongside, the Admiral asked that
he might be told the reason for the detention of his men, an
act which would displease the King of Portugal, because the
Portuguese received much honor in the territories of the King
of Castile, and were as safe as if they were in Lisbon. He
further said that the Sovereigns had given him letters of recom-
mendation to all the Lords and Princes of the world, which he
would show the captain if he would come on board; that he
was the Admiral of the Ocean Sea, and Viceroy of the Indies,
which belonged to their Highnesses,' and that he would show
the commissions signed with their signatures, and attested
by their seals, which he held up from a distance. He added
that his Sovereigns were in friendship and amity with the
King of Portugal, and had ordered that all honor should be
shown to ships that came from Portugal. Further, that if the
captain did not surrender his people, he would still go on to
Castile, as he had quite sufficient to navigate as far as Seville,
in which case the captain and his followers would be severely
punished for their offence. Then the captain and those with
him replied that they did not know the King and Queen of
Castile there, nor their letters, nor were they afraid of them,
and they would give the Admiral to understand that this was
Portugal, almost menacing him. On hearing this the Admiral
was much moved, thinking that some cause of disagreement
might have arisen between the two kingdoms during his
absence, yet he could not endure that they should not be
answered reasonably. Afterwards he turned to the captain,

! The incredulity of the Portuguese governor as to these assertions was
natural. The title Admiral of the Ocean Sea was novel and this was the first
time it was announced that Spain or any other European power had posses-
sions in the Indies.
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and said that he should go to the port with the caravel, and
that all that had been done would be reported to the King
his Lord. The Admiral made those who were in the caravel
bear witness to what he said, calling to the captain and all
the others, and promising that he would not leave the caravel
until a hundred Portuguese had been taken to Castile, and all
that island had been laid waste. He then returned to anchor
in the port where he was first, the wind being very unfavor-
able for doing anything else.

Wednesday, 20th of February

The Admiral ordered the ship to be repaired, and the casks
to be filled alongside for ballast. This was a very bad port,
and he feared he might have to cut the cables. This was so,
and he made sail for the island of San Miguel; but there is no
good port in any of the Azores for the weather they then ex-
perienced, and there was no other remedy but to go to sea.

Thursday, 21st of February

Yesterday the Admiral left that island of Santa Maria for
that of San Miguel, to see if a port could be found to shelter
his vessel from the bad weather. There was much wind and a
high sea, and he was sailing until night without being able to
see either one land or the other, owing to the thick weather
caused by wind and sea. The Admiral says he was in much
anxiety, because he only had three sailors who knew their
business, the rest knowing nothing of seamanship.® He was
lying-to all that night, in great danger and trouble. Our
Lord showed him merey in that the waves came in one direc-
tion, for if there had been a cross sea they would have suffered
much more. After sunrise the island of San Miguel was not
in sight, so the Admiral determined to return to Santa Maria,
to see if he could recover his people and boat, and the anchors
and cables he had left there.

1 Half the crew were still detained on shore.
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The Admiral says that he was astonished at the bad
weather he encountered in the region of these islands. In
the Indies he had navigated throughout the winter without
the necessity for anchoring, and always had fine weather,
never having seen the sea for a single hour in such a state
that it could not be navigated easily. But among these islands
he had suffered from such terrible storms. The same had
happened in going out as far as the Canary Islands, but as
soon as they were passed there was always fine weather, both
in sea and air. In concluding these remarks, he observes
that the sacred theologians and wise men* said well when they
placed the terrestrial paradise in the Far East, because it is
a most temperate region. Hence these lands that he had now
discovered must, he says, be in the extreme East.

Friday, 22nd of February

Yesterday the Admiral anchored off Santa Maria, in the
place or port where he had first anchored. Presently a man
came down to some rocks at the edge of the beach, signalling
that they were not to go away. Soon afterwards the boat
came with five sailors, two priests, and a secrivener. They
asked for safety, and when it was granted by the Admiral,
they came on board, and as it was night they slept on board,
the Admiral showing them all the civility he could. In the
morning they asked to be shown the authority of the Sover-
eigns of Castile, by which the voyage had been made. The
Admiral felt that they did this to give some color of right to
what they had done, and to show that they had right on their
side. As they were unable to secure the person of the Admiral,
whom they intended to get into their power when they
came with the boat armed, they now feared that their game
might not turn out so well, thinking, with some fear, of what
the Admiral had threatened, and which he proposed to put into

! That the site of the Garden of Eden was to be found in the Orient
was a common belief in the Middle Ages and later. Cf. the Book of Sir
John Mandeville, ch. xxX.
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execution. In order to get his people released, the Admiral
displayed the general letter of the Sovereigns to all Princes
and Lords, and other documents, and having given them of
what he had, the Portuguese went on shore satisfied, and
presently released all the crew and the boat. The Admiral
heard from them that if he had been captured also, they never
would have been released, for the captain said that those were
the orders of the King his Lord.

Saturday, 23rd of February

Yesterday the weather began to improve, and the Admiral
got under way to seek a better anchorage, where he could
take in wood and stones for ballast; but he did not find one
until the hour of compline.!

Sunday, 24th of February

He anchored yesterday in the afternoon, to take in wood
and stones, but the sea was so rough that they could not land
from the boat, and during the first watch it came on to blow
from the west and S.W. e ordered sail to be made; owing
to the great danger there is off these islands in being at anchor
with a southerly gale, and as the wind was S.W. it would go
round to south. As it was a good wind for Castile, he gave
up his intention of taking in wood and stones, and shaped
an easterly course until sunset, going seven miles an hour for
six hours and a half, equal to 454 miles. After sunset he made
six miles an hour, or 66 miles in eleven hours, altogether 111
miles, equal to 28 leagues.

Monday, 25th of February

Yesterday, after sunset, the caravel went at the rate of
five miles an hour on an easterly course, and in the eleven

! The last of the canonical hours of prayer, about nine in the evening,
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hours of the night she made 65 miles, equal to 161 leagues.
From sunrise to sunset they made another 164 leagues with
a smooth sea, thanks be to God.. A very large bird, like an
eagle, came to the caravel.

Tuesday, 26th of February

Yesterday night the caravel steered her course in a smooth
sea, thanks be to God. Most of the time she was going eight
miles an hour, and made a hundred miles, equal to 25 leagues.
After sunrise there was little wind and some rain-showers.
They made about 8 leagues E.N.E.

Wednesday, 27th of February

During the night and day she was off her course, owing to
contrary winds and a heavy sea. She was found to be 125
leagues from Cape St. Vincent, and 80 from the island of
Madeira, 106 from Santa Maria. It was very troublesome to
have such bad weather just when they were at the very door
of their home.

Thursday, 28th of February
The same weather during the night, with the wind from
south and S.E., sometimes shifting to N.E. and E.N.E., and
it was the same all day.
Friday, 1st of March
To-night the course was E.N.E., and they made twelve
leagues. During the day, 234 leagues on the same course.

Saturday, 2nd of March

The course was E.N.E., and distance made good 28 leagues
during the night, and 20 in the day.
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Sunday, 3rd of March

After sunset the course was east; but a squall came down,
split all the sails, and the vessel was in great danger; but
God was pleased to deliver them. They drew lots for send-
ing a pilgrim in a shirt to Santa Maria de la Cinta at Huelva,
and the lot fell on the Admiral. The whole crew also made a
vow to fast on bread and water during the first Saturday after
their arrival in port. They had made 60 miles before the sails
were split. Afterwards they ran under bare poles, owing to
the force of the gale and the heavy sea. They saw signs of
the neighborhood of land, finding themselves near Lisbon.

Monday, 4th of March

During the night they were exposed to a terrible storm,
expecting to be overwhelmed by the cross-seas, while the wind
seemed to raise the caravel into the air, and there was rain and
lightning in several directions. The Admiral prayed to our
Lord to preserve them, and in the first watch it pleased our
Lord to show land, which was reported by the sailors. As
it was advisable not to reach it before it was known whether
there was any port to which he could run for shelter, the
Admiral set the mainsail, as there was no other course but to
proceed, though in great danger. Thus God preserved them
until daylight, though all the time they were in infinite fear
and trouble. When it was light, the Admiral knew the land,
which was the rock of Cintra, near the river of Lisbon, and he
resolved to run in because there was nothing else to be done.
So terrible was the storm, that in the village of Cascaes, at
the mouth of the river, the people were praying for the little
vessel all that morning. After they were inside, the people
came off, looking upon their escape as a miracle. At the third
hour they passed Rastelo, within the river of Lisbon, where
they were told that such a winter, with so many storms, had
never before been known, and that 25 ships had been lost in
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Flanders, while others had been wind-bound in the river for
four months. Presently the Admiral wrote to the king of
Portugal, who was then at a distance of nine leagues, to state
that the Sovereigns of Castile had ordered him to enter the
ports of his Highness, and ask for what he required for pay-
ment, and requesting that the king would give permission
for the caravel to come to Lisbon, because some ruffians,
hearing that he had much gold on board, might attempt a
robbery in an unfrequented port, knowing that they did not
come from Guinea, but from the Indies.!

Tuesday, 5th of March

To-day the great ship of the King of Portugal was also at
anchor off Rastelo, with the best provision of artillery and
arms that the Admiral had ever seen. The master of her,
named Bartolomé Diaz, of Lisbon, came in an armed boat to
the caravel, and ordered the Admiral to get into the boat,
to go and give an account of himself to the agents of the king
and to the captain of that ship. The Admiral replied that he
was the Admiral of the Sovereigns of Castile, and that he would
not give an account to any such persons, nor would he leave
the ship except by force, as he had not the power to resist.
The master replied that he must then send the master of the
caravel. The Admiral answered that neither the master nor
any other person should go except by force, for if he allowed
anyone to go, it would be as if he went himself; and that such
was the custom of the Admirals of the Sovereigns of Castile,
rather to die than to submit, or to let any of their people sub-
mit. The master then moderated his tone, and told the Ad-
miral that if that was his determination he might do as he
pleased. He, however, requested that he might be shown the
letters of the Kings of Castile, if they were on board. The
Admiral readily showed them, and the master returned to the

! On this day the Admiral probably wrote the postscript to his letter to
Santangel written at sea on February 15,
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ship and reported what had happened to the captain, named
Alvaro Dama. That officer, making great festival with
trumpets and drums, came to the caravel to visit the Admiral,
and offered to do all that he might require.

Wednesday, 6th of March

As soon as it was known that the Admiral came from the
Indies, it was wonderful how many people came from Lisbon
to see him and the Indians, giving thanks to our Lord, and
saying that the heavenly Majesty had given all this to the
Sovereigns of Castile as a reward for their faith and their
great desire to serve God.

Thursday, 7th of March

To-day an immense number of people came to the caravel,
including many knights, and amongst them the agents of the
king, and all gave infinite thanks to our Lord for so wide an
increase of Christianity granted by our Lord to the Sover-
eigns of Castile; and they said that they received it because
their Highnesses had worked and labored for the increase of
the religion of Christ.

Friday, 8th of March

To-day the Admiral received a letter from the king of
Portugal,” brought by Don Martin de Norofia, asking him to

1 Modern scholars have too hastily identified this Bartolomé Diaz with
the discoverer of the Cape of Good Hope. There is no evidence for this except
the identity of the name. Against the supposition are the facts that neither
Columbus, Las Casas, nor Ferdinand remark upon this meeting with the
most eminent Portuguese navigator of the time, and that this Diaz is a subor-
dinate officer on this ship who is sent to summon Columbus to report to the
captain. That the great admiral of 1486-1487 would in 1493 be a simple
Patron on a single ship is incredible.

? Jodo II.
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visit him where he was, as the weather was not suitable for
the departure of the caravel. He complied, to prevent sus-
picion, although he did not wish to go, and went to pass the
night at Sacanben. The king had given orders to his officers
that all that the Admiral, his crew, and the caravel were in
need of should be given without payment, and that all the
Admiral wanted should be complied with.

Saturday, 9th of March

To-day the Admiral left Sacanben, to go where the king was
residing, which was at Valparaiso, nine leagues from Lisbon.
Owing to the rain, he did not arrive until night. The king
caused him to be received very honorably by the principal
officers of his household; and the king himself received the
Admiral with great favor, making him sit down, and talking
very pleasantly. He offered to give orders that everything
should be done for the service of the Sovereigns of Castile,
and said that the successful termination of the voyage had given
him great pleasure. He said further that he understood that,
in the capitulation between the Sovereigns and himself, that
conquest belonged to him.! The Admiral replied that he
had not seen the capitulation, nor knew more than that the
Sovereigns had ordered him not to go either to La Mina? or
to any other port of Guinea, and that this had been ordered
to be proclaimed in all the ports of Andalusia before he sailed.
The king graciously replied that he held it for certain that
there would be no necessity for any arbitrators. The Admiral
was assigned as a guest to the Prior of Clato, who was the

! The treaty of Alcagovas signed by Portugal September 8, 1479, and by
Spain March 6, 1480. In it Ferdinand and Isabella relinquished all rights
'to make discoveries along the coast of Africa and retained of the African
islands only the Canaries. The Spanish text is printed in Alguns Documentos
da Torre do Tombo (Lisbon, 1892), pp. 45-46. See also Vignaud, Toscanelli
and Columbus, pp. 61-64.

? “The Mine,” more commonly El Mina, a station established on the Gold
Coast by Diogo de Azambuja in 1482. The full name in Portuguese was S.
Jorge da Mina, St. George of the Mine,
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principal person in that place, and from whom he received
many favors and civilities.

Sunday, 10th of March

To-day, after mass, the king repeated that if the Admiral
wanted anything he should have it. He conversed much with
the Admiral respecting his voyage, always ordering him to
sit down, and treating him with great favor.

Monday, 11th of March

To-day the Admiral took leave of the king, who entrusted
him with some messages to the Sovereigns, and always treating
him with much friendliness.' He departed after dinner, Don

! The Portuguese historian Ruide Pina, in his Cronica D’El Rey Jogo,
gives an account of Columbus’s meeting with the king which is contemporary.
From his official position as chief chronicler and head of the national archives
and from the details which he mentions it is safe to conclude that he was an
eye-witness.

“In the following year, 1493, while the king was in the place of the Val
do Paraiso which is above the Monastery of Sancta Maria das Vertudes,
on account of the great pestilences which prevailed in the principal places in
this district, on the sixth of March there arrived at Restello in Lisbon Chris-
tovam Colombo, an Italian who came from the discovery of the islands of
Cipango and Antilia which he had accomplished by the command of the
sovereigns of Castile from which land he brought with him the first speci-
mens of the people, gold and some other things that they have; and he was
entitled Admiral of them. And the king being informed of this, commanded
him to come before him and he showed that he felt disgusted and grieved
because he believed that this discovery was made within the seas and bounds
of his lordship of Guinea which was prohibited and likewise because the said
Admiral was somewhat raised from his condition and in the account of his
affairs always went beyond the bounds of the truth and made this thing in
gold, silver, and riches much greater than it was. The king was accused of
negligence in withdrawing from him for not giving him credit and authority
in regard to this discovery for which he had first come to make request of him.
And although the king was urged to consent to have him slain there, since
with his death the prosecution of this enterprise so far as the sovereigns of
Castile were concerned would cease on account of the decease of the dis-
coverer ; and that this could be done without suspicion if he consented and
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Martin de Noroila being sent with him, and all the knights set
out with him, and went with him some distance, to do him
honor. Afterwards he came to a monastery of San Antonio,
near a place called Villafranca, where the Queen was residing.
The Admiral went to do her reverence and to kiss her hand,
because she had sent to say that he was not to go without
seeing her. The Duke ! and the Marquis were with her, and
the Admiral was received with much honor. He departed at
night, and went to sleep at Llandra.

Tuesday, 12th of March

To-day, as he was leaving Llandra to return to the caravel,
an esquire of the king arrived, with an offer that if he desired
to go to Castile by land, that he should be supplied with
lodgings, and beasts, and all that was necessary. When the
Admiral took leave of him, he ordered a mule to be supplied
to him, and another for his pilot, who was with him, and he
says that the pilot received a present of twenty espadines.?
He said this that the Sovereigns might know all that was done.
He arrived on board the caravel that night.

ordered it, since as he was discourteous and greatly elated they could get
involved with him in such a way that each one of these his faults would
seem to be the true cause of his death; yet the king like a most God-fearing
prince not only forbade this but on the eontrary did him honor and showed
him kindness and therewith sent him away.” Collecgad de Livros Ineditos de
Historia Portugueza, 11. 178-179. It will be noted that according to this
account Columbus said he had discovered Cipango and Antilia, a mythical
island which is represented on the maps of the fifteenth century, and that
Columbus is called Colombo his Italian name, and not Colom or Colon.

* This may have been her brother, the Duke of Bejar, afterwards King
Manoel.

* Espadim : a Portuguese gold piece coined by Jodo II. Las Casas,
1. 466, says: ““ 20 Espadinos, a matter of 20 ducats.” The Espadim con-
tained 58 to 65 grains of gold. W. C. Haalitt, Coinage of European Nations,
sub voce. King Jodo II. gave Columbus’s pilot almost exactly the sum
which Henry VII. gave to John Cabot, which was £10. In the French
translation and the translation in J. B. Thacher’s Christopher Columbus
the word espadines is erroneously taken to be Spanish and rendered
“ Epées,” and ““ small short swords.”
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Wédnesday, 13th of March

To-day, at 8 o’clock, with the flood tide, and the wind
N.N.W., the Admiral got under way and made sail for Se-
ville.

Thursday, 14th of March

Yesterday, after sunset, a southerly course was steered,
and before sunrise they were off Cape St. Vincent, which is
in Portugal. Afterwards he shaped a course to the east for
Saltes, and went on all day with little wind, ‘‘until now that
the ship is off Furon.”

Friday, 15th of March

Yesterday, after sunset, she went on her course with little
wind, and at sunrise she was off Saltes. At noon, with the tide
rising, they crossed the bar of Saltes, and reached the port
which they had left on the 3rd of August of the year before.!
The Admiral says that so ends this journal, unless it becomes
necessary to go to Barcelona by sea, having received news that
their Highnesses are in that city, to give an account of all his
voyage which our Lord had permitted him to make, and saw
fit to set forth in him. For, assuredly, he held with a firm
and strong knowledge that His High Majesty made all things
good, and that all is good except sin. Nor can he value or
think of anything being done without His consent. ‘I know
respecting this voyage,” says the Admiral, ‘“‘that he has
miraculously shown his will, as may be seen from this journal,
setting forth the numerous miracles that have been displayed
in the voyage, and in me who was so long at the court of your
Highnesses, working in opposition to and against the opinions
of so many chief persons of your household, who were all

! Having been absent 225 days.
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against me, looking upon this enterprise as folly. But I hope,
in our Lord, that it will be a great benefit to Christianity, for
so it has ever appeared.” These are the final words of the
Admiral Don Cristoval Colon respecting his first voyage to the
Indies and their discovery.



